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"Pokémon" is a species found in the Japanese role-playing game series "Pokémon" and its derivative

works. These creatures inhabit the Pokémon world, where they are both mysterious and fascinating.
The ecology of Pokémon still holds many enigmas that have yet to be unravelled by humans.
Originating from the game franchise, "Pokémon" has swept across the world and become one
of the most well-known brands among people of all ages for over 26 years.
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"Bluey" is an Australian children's animated series that premiered on ABC Kids on October 1, 2018.
The show is set in the city of Brisbane, Queensland, Australia and follows the adventures of Bluey,
a lively, imaginative, and curious 6-year-old blue Australian Cattle Dog. Bluey lives with her parents
and younger sister, and the series depicts the charming and relatable stories of this four-dog family.
It has been acclaimed as one of the best television programs of 2020 by The New York Times.
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AEROSPACE CULTURAL INDUSTRY INSTITUTE

fi R SZAIACCC(Aerospace cultural creativity copyrights) #ERAFREIRT A ST {L Al
BEXHE  RERZFRBMREERNEEEE - MR AKX @52
REXEZ  S|ETEMATIENCAIZEXRRE  RERREERE - 8F
RBEFMBLEEFR - R2022F MR X RIE XM R ©

The Aerospace Cultural Creativity Copyrights (ACCC) originated from the China Aerospace

Cultural Creative Industry Alliance and is the earliest professional institution engaged in the
aerospace cultural industry in China. Leveraging the aerospace brand and industrial
advantages, ACCC leads the development of China's aerospace-themed cultural and creative
industry. It provides strong support to domestic brands, digital economy, and manufacturing
industry upgrades. The Aerospace Cultural Industry Institute was established in 2022.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

RESULTS

For the year ended 31st March, 2024, the Group’s revenue
decreased by 9.6% to approximately HK$835 million. A profit
of approximately HK$17 million was recorded, compared to a

profit of approximately HK$5 million last year.

Given that inflationary pressures gradually eased which led to a
decline in prices of major raw materials, coupled with the
effective implementation of various cost optimization measures
and the exchange gains from the depreciation of Renminbi, the

Group maintained its core profit level during the period.

During the reporting period, under the combined influence of
international geopolitical divergences, rising unilateral trade
protectionism, and high capital market costs, the global
economic development was fraught with uncertainties. The risks
of stagflation and global economic recession still existed.
Further, the recovery of the mainland Chinese market was
slower than expected and the inflation in developed economies
had not reached control targets, hindering the global economic
recovery process. The unfavourable macro conditions affected
the purchasing power and consumption desire of end
consumers, which in turn affected the demand for various
consumer goods. In the face of abnormal fluctuations from the
demand side, our customers have adopted a more conservative
business model. In addition to tightening order and inventory
policies, they also delayed the development of certain potential
projects, which had a short-term impact on the Group’s
business growth. Despite the sharp fluctuations in the business
environment, the performance of the three plants in China was
better than expected during the period. The Guangzhou plant
continued to record profit, while the Shaoguan plant saw a
turnaround from loss. The operation of the Suzhou plant
experienced a slight decline but still recorded a profit. On the
other hand, sales in the ASEAN region declined but also saw a

turnaround from loss.
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THE 34TH HONG KONG PRINT,AWARDS

BIPR BRI SBHBREN B 5 - §988 - TN EE

2
Idealliance Printing Award - SILVER - Dinosar 3D Jigsaw Puzzle Idealliance Printing Award - BRONZE - America Steam Train

BAM SRS EMERENSUA R - $782 - SR DR ERININTAE ETIENR) - #9252 - S4B, Voyage Anime ESTIENR - $052 - SIZAIHESR
Idealliance Printing - BRONZE - CNY Chocolate Box Book Printing - BRONZE - Paris, Voyage Anime Book Printing - BRONZE - The Lost World

EXARBRBIUHEHE EIRILHTE AT HE

CELEBRATING STARLITE’S 20TH ANNIVERSARY IN SHAOGUAN AND THE OPENING
CEREMONY OF THE PRINTING CULTURAL AND EDUCATIONAL CENTER

EXRORIEHEESREXEEMESERMLN
SAEBBMEN AT - BESARED

e - "4
Starlite Printing Cultural and Educational Center is a
cultural endeavor initiated by Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, the
Chairman of Starlite Group, as a way to give back to
society and to promote printing culture. Its aim is to
introduce more people to the world of printing.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Facing the complex and ever-changing domestic and
international environment and various risks and challenges, the
Group adhered to the concept of seeking progress while
maintaining stability, actively optimised the allocation of
strategic resources, continuously invested in the future and was
committed to creating value for our investors. It always adhered
to the innovation path of green, energy conservation, low-
carbon emission reduction and environmental protection, and
strengthened the development of new markets and new
businesses. The Group focused on the improvement of customer
service quality, strengthened lean management and intelligent
manufacturing to build unique core competitiveness, and
actively assumed social responsibilities. All of these allowed the
Group to make prompt responses when the market fully
recovered. Details are set out in the section headed “Business

Review and Prospects”.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors recommend a final dividend of HK1.5 cents (2023:
Nil) per share for the year ended 31st March, 2024 payable on
Friday, 18th October, 2024 to shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Members on Thursday, 5th September
2024. Together with the interim dividend of HK1 cent (2023:
HK1 cent) paid, the aggregate dividend for the financial year
would be HK 2.5 cents per share (2023: HK1 cent).
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Our Team Green specialty store at The Peak has been relocated,
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS
Hong Kong/Mainland China Operations

Overview

During the period under review, the supply chain disruptions
following the outbreak of the pandemic and the global energy
and food crisis triggered by the Russia-Ukraine war, followed
by the sharp rise in inflation and the subsequent the
synchronised tightening of monetary policies worldwide, have
all contributed to a general slowdown in global economic
growth, impacting overall market consumer sentiment and
import demand. If the current geopolitical conflicts in regions
such as Israel and Gaza intensify, causing Red Sea shipping
prices to further soar, it may lead to stubbornly high core
inflation. Meanwhile, the geoeconomic fragmentation between
the East and the West along with the de-coupling strategy of
some Western nations will exacerbate the barriers to the flow of
goods, capital, and personnel. This implies that global supply-
side growth will also slowdown in the short term. Under the
influence of multiple factors and increasingly intense market
competition, it is expected that the market demand for printing
services will remain weak in the coming year, posing great
challenges to the operation of enterprises. Despite the difficult
situation, the Group has gained excellent reputation and brand
image in the industry and has won the recognition and trust of
many domestic and foreign strategic partners for its solid
business foundation, first-class customer resources and global
layout, laying a solid foundation for the long-term, stable, and
healthy development of the Group.

Meanwhile, in order to enhance operational efficiency and risk
management capability, the Group is actively promoting the
development of an artificial intelligent operation network and
the full integration of value chain. The Group is the first to
apply artificial intelligence software in creative design and
general document translation. Meanwhile, it promotes projects
such as smart typesetting, automated logistics and smart
production scheduling. With the development goals of reducing
cost, improving efficiency, and increasing add-on value, the
Group has achieved interim results amidst hardships. The plant
in Guangzhou of the Group remained profitable. The Shaoguan
plant realised good efficiency with optimised and lean system.
With the depreciation of Renminbi and the receipt of certain
support and policy incentives from the local government during
the period, add-on value was contributed. In general, revenue
from the operations of plants in southern China declined but
profit was still recorded through effective measures to broaden
sources of income and reduce expenditures as well as the

promotion of intelligent measures.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Affected by the slowdown in economic growth and shrinking
consumption in the mainland, the eastern China operation
recorded a slight decrease. Increasingly intense industry
competition has dragged down the marginal profit of the eastern
China operation. On the other hand, the Southeast Asia
operation declined, but with outstanding material control
measures, operating cost was lowered and thus profit was

recorded for the Southeast Asia operation.

In response to the volatility and uncertainty of the macro
business environment, the Group remained highly vigilant and
paid close attention to the operation of macro-economic
indicators. By adopting diversified investment strategies and
formulating flexible financial plans, it keenly observed market
trends to break through in a highly competitive environment.
Meanwhile, the construction of a green production system has
been accelerated. In various fields of environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”), the Group firmly practiced sustainable
development strategies, and continuously promoted ESG work in
areas such as climate change management, application of
environmentally friendly raw materials, employee health and
talent echelon development, carbon and plastic reduction,
energy saving and consumption reduction, and increase in the
proportion of green electricity, so as to reach our destination on
the road to carbon neutrality. Furthermore, the Group has been
fulfilling its social responsibilities by actively engaging in public
welfare and charity undertakings, pledging to donate 4% of its
profits beyond the 8% profit range and related capital market
return factors for charitable purposes to achieve greater ESG
development. On the other hand, the Group’s frontline business
team has participated in domestic and international exhibitions,
actively reached out to partners in Europe, the United States,
Southeast Asia, and the mainland to jointly explore business
opportunities for long-term business expansion. During the
period, the Group was conferred the “Greater Bay Area Power
Brand Award 2022-2023” by the Hong Kong Institute of
Marketing, as well as the “Most Promising Enterprise Award” by
Link Future Foundation at the 2023 Global Economic Influence
Awards Ceremony cum the Belt and Road Hong Kong-Macao

Region Launching Ceremony.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

Southern China Operation

Although the raw material and energy costs have stabilised and
shipment costs have declined, the overall consumer sentiment
has been dampened by various uncertainties such as the conflict
in the Middle East which disrupted shipping in the Red Sea and
the high inflation rate and high interest rate in Europe and the
United States economies, which will result in the decline in
global market demand for books. It is expected that the global
market sentiment for books and greeting cards will remain weak
in the coming year, which will affect the development of the

Southern China operation.

Nevertheless, the Group continued to make precise resources
investment to establish a more sound and comprehensive
operation system so that efficient and professional services
could be delivered in a flexible and timely manner by assigning
dedicated workshops and production lines according to different
order requirements of customers. Apart from the acquisition of a
new Heidelberg eight-colour UV printing machine to provide
customers with higher quality and more innovative printing
solutions, the Shaoguan plant also built a new food safe
packaging workshop for the expansion to customers in food
industry, thereby fostering diversified business development. In
addition, the Shaoguan plant has newly established a fully
automated intelligent production line for children’s books with
functions such as automatic intelligent connections and editions
merge, book cutting, rounding corners and adding covers,
which reduced the manual and labour intensity between
different production processes. Automated projects such as
intelligent glue dispensers, robotic windowing machines,
automatic sealing machines, robotic feeders, and robotic
automatic book spine rounding machines effectively save labour
costs and create unique competitive advantages in the process
of customer value creation. Besides, the management team
effectively put the key factors of lean production and
management into play and thus efficiency has been greatly
enhanced, laying a good foundation for the Southern China
operation to realise greater profitability, effective cost and
expense control as well as higher production value per capita.
On the other hand, the Shaoguan plant has successfully
organised the 20th Anniversary of Starlite’s Investment in
Shaoguan and the Opening Ceremony of the Printing Culture
and Education Base (£ ¥ AR E Z + &R B EHRI XL B £
9% #42) on 10th November, which was greatly supported and
highly recognised by various leaders of the municipal committee
and the municipal government of Shaoguan. Starlite Printing
Culture and Education Base (£ Y EIRIX{b#H B i) is a
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

culture landmark established by the Group’s Chairman Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu as a return to the society and represents the first
printing culture and education base in Shaoguan and the first
printing culture and education base founded by a private-owned
enterprise in Guangdong Province. With the sincere wish to
deliver the profound meanings and influence of old inventions,
Starlite Printing Culture and Education Base actively takes up
the mission of adapting to the development of time and
establishing self-confidence in culture. Through a series of
exhibitions and education research and study campaigns, the
Base assumes the responsibility of promoting Chinese culture
and contributing to social welfare. Since its opening, the
Education Base has received more than 60 organisations and
over 1,000 visitors, through which culture is promoted to the
general public by guiding the society to appreciate the charm

of printing culture and the wisdom of the Chinese nation.

With the gradual resumption of retail activities, the Group’s
innovative brand of environmentally friendly products, TEAM
GREEN®, has accelerated its business expansion. During the
period, the Group actively explored new product series and
strengthened its brand promotion, such as launching World of
Robbi STEAM education series, being products with self-owned
patents, and participating in Junior Quality Education Expo,
Hong Kong Book Fair, 48th China Beijing International Gifts
and Home Appliances Exhibition, Hong Kong Learning and
Teaching Expo, China Toy Expo, 10th China Shanghai
International Children’s Book Fair, etc. TEAM GREEN® will
continue to strengthen its business development in the mainland
China and Southeast Asia markets, broaden the sales channels
of online new media (such as TikTok and Xiaohongshu) and
offline physical stores (such as bookstores, cultural and creative
stores, and museums), and launch more new products that are
popular among customers, so as to promote the innovative
environmental protection concepts and steady business
development of TEAM GREEN®. During the period, TEAM
GREEN® was awarded the 2023/24 Market Leadership Award in
Environmental Product Design by the Hong Kong Institute of
Marketing, and the products of TEAM GREEN®, namely the
Waving Maneki neko, 3D Cantonese Opera Wooden Puzzle
Doll Set, Macau Grand Prix — Wooden Ralt RT3 Model, and
Dinosaur 3D Jigsaw Puzzle — Jurassic Series, won the Gold
Award, Silver Award, and Merit Award of Hong Kong Smart

Design Awards respectively.
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Eastern China Operation

During the period under review, due to the ailing real estate
market in China and the mounting pressure on public finance,
economic growth in mainland China was weak, which had
negative impact on domestic consumer market demand. Hence,
the eastern China operation recorded a slight decrease in
revenue from domestic sales. In view of this, in a bid to
accelerate the diversified development of production capacity in
the eastern China operation, our management team strived to
keep pace with the industry development, gain a deep insight
into customer needs, actively explore new markets and new
businesses, identify future growth opportunities in other
emerging industries, and explore demands in the fields of

biotechnology, pharmaceuticals, and game cards.

Further, on research and development innovation and smart
manufacturing, our team actively developed the application of
new materials such as mineral-free ink, 3D reverse oil, invisible
anti-counterfeiting heat-sensitive fragrance ink, de-plastic film,
and cold stamping technology. Leveraging the power of the
Institute of Advanced Technology and experts, we jointly
developed the software for greeting card labeling machines and
bead counting machines with the Chinese Academy of Sciences.
Diverse needs of customers were met through continuous
innovation, thus creating value for them. On the other hand,
our management team actively implemented environment, social
and governance (ESG) targets. Both the zeolite roller collection
system invested by the Suzhou plant and the solar photovoltaic
power generation system constructed in the Rose Garden (South
bank plant) were put into operation at the end of the year. The
utilisation of clean and green energy in the Suzhou plant
integrated sustainable development into the Group’s concept of
energy conservation and emission reduction, thereby establishing
a new benchmark for green production in the industry. During
the period, Starlite Suzhou actively participated in the drafting
of national printing standards, and two national standards were
officially promulgated in March 2024 for implementation. At the
same time, our Suzhou general manager was elected as a
member of the third session of the Packaging Printing Technical
Committee of the Printing Technical Standardisation Association
of China (ZEIENRIEREREMEZESFE =B RRNDBIMNE
B 2% 8), whereas the head of human resource was awarded
the title of Top Ten Human Resource Managers in Suzhou in
2023 (20234F & M ™ +1E A E4LLIB). The Suzhou plant was also
honored as the Enterprise with Harmonious Labour Relations in

Suzhou (B i1 45 B) F1 5 1 3£ 32 E 85 {7) during the period.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

South East Asia Operation

Affected by the slow recovery of global economy, the Southeast
Asia operation recorded a decline in revenue during the period,
but still managed to turn losses into profits. In recent years, the
global industry shift has accelerated the Group’s resources
deployment for production capacity in Southeast Asia, fully
leveraged the manufacturing advantages of the Asian region and
flexibly responded to the complex and ever-changing
geopolitical environment, thereby ensuring rapid responses to
market demands and stable services to customers. In line with
the new supply chain strategies and new business planning of
many international leading brand customers, the management
team has increased its investment and development efforts in
the electronics and pharmaceutical markets, and also established
a new plant in Penang to provide close and attentive services
to customers in northern Malaysia, laying a good foundation for
exploring potential customers in the area.

In addition, the region continued to strengthen the awareness of
lean operation and completed a number of lean improvement
projects, with an aim to enhance the operation standard and
effectively reduce production and management costs by making
efforts from various perspectives such as supply chain and
inventory management. This year, the Malaysia plant continued
to actively participate in social welfare activities and fulfill its
social responsibilities, such as collaborating with the Food Bank
to deliver food to the needy. During the period, the Group
organised a widely acclaimed ESG sustainable packaging
seminar in Johor, at which guests from Malaysia, Indonesia,
Singapore, and Hong Kong, as well as professors from Universiti
Teknologi Malaysia (UTM) and ESG experts jointly concentrated
debate on the advantages, challenges, regulations, and business
model of the sustainable development of packaging materials. It
was also emphasised that the sustainability of packaging
materials could reduce the negative impact on the environment,
save resources, enhance energy efficiency, and increase

competitiveness.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s sources of funding include cash generated from the
Group’s operations and banking facilities provided to the Group
by banks mainly in Hong Kong and Mainland China. As at 31st
March, 2024, the Group’s cash and bank balances and short-
term bank deposits amounted to approximately HK$218 million.

During the year under review, the interest expense of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$4 million compared to
approximately HK$6 million recorded last year.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

As at 371st March, 2024, the Group had a working capital
surplus of approximately HK$235 million compared to a
working capital surplus of approximately HK$235 million as at
31st March, 2023. The Group was in net cash position as at
31st March, 2024 and 2023, based on short-term and long-term
bank borrowings, lease liabilities and bills payables net of bank
balance and cash of approximately HK$149 million (net cash)
(2023: HK$150 million (net cash)) and shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$625 million (2023: HK$644 million). The
Group’s gearing ratio as at 31st March, 2024 was 11% (2023:
14%), based on short-term and long-term bank borrowings,
lease liabilities and bills payables of approximately HK$69
million (2023: HK$93 million) and shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$625 million (2023: HK$644 million).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31st March, 2024, certain assets of the Group with an
aggregate book carrying value of approximately HK$8 million
(31st March, 2023: HK$9 million) were pledged to secure the
banking facilities of the Group.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

All the Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, US dollars, Chinese
Renminbi, Malaysian ringgit, Singapore dollars or Euro. The
exchange rate of US dollars/Hong Kong dollars is relatively
stable due to the current peg system in Hong Kong. The
Renminbi-denominated sales revenue helps to set off the
Group’s commitments of Renminbi-denominated operating
expenses in Mainland China, accordingly reducing Renminbi

exchange rate exposure.

HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT

Currently the Group has approximately 2,500 employees. The
Group maintains good relationships with its employees,
providing them with competitive packages, incentive schemes
as well as various training programmes. The Group has
maintained a Share Option Scheme under which share options
can be granted to certain employees (including executive
directors and non-executive directors of the Company (excluding
independent non-executive directors)) as incentive for their
contribution to the Group. The Group provides various training
and development programmes to staff on an ongoing basis. The
Group will explore the possibility of launching other special
training programmes with universities in Mainland China and
education institutions abroad to enhance its staff quality.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
promoting social enhancement whilst developing its businesses,
through active participation in social welfare and environmental
protection activities to realize its mission. Regardless of where
the Group operates, the Group treats the local communities as

family members and strives to contribute to such communities.

In the past years, the Group has allocated significant resources
to energy conservation and environmental protection, provided
venues and platforms of training and job opportunities for
young people, and actively supported help-poor and schooling
campaigns as well as disaster relief efforts in China. Apart from
providing financial support, the Group also contributes people
and time to various charity drives. In many circumstances, the
Group’s Chairman makes initiative to organize joint efforts with
other enterprises and friends to pool resources together for the

maximum benefits of those in need.

During the year under review, the Group and its staff made

financial and other support to the following organizations:
— Support to Scout Association of Hong Kong
—  The Hong Kong Seagulls Scholarship Scheme

—  Support to Jinan University Education Development

Foundation

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
(“ESG”) REPORT

The Group has established an environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) management team to manage, monitor,
recommend and report on environmental and social aspects. An
ESG report is being prepared with reference to Appendix C2
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and will be
published on the Company’s website (http://www.hkstarlite.com)

at the same time as the publication of the 2024 annual report.
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

LOOKING AHEAD

In the latest World Economic Outlook report released in April
2024, the International Monetary Fund (IMF) projected the
global growth to be at the same pace at 3.4% in 2024 and
2025. The pace of economic expansion is low by historical
standards, owing to both near-term factors, such as still-high
borrowing costs and withdrawal of fiscal support, and longer-
term effects from conflict between Russia and Ukraine, weak
growth in productivity, and increasing geoeconomic
fragmentation. Global headline inflation is expected to fall from
an annual average of 6.8% in 2023 to 5.9% in 2024 and 4.5%
in 2025, with advanced economies returning to their inflation
targets sooner than emerging markets and developing
economies. The latest forecast for global growth five years from

now — at 3.1% — is at its lowest in decades.

Amid continuing economic uncertainties, the management
remained highly vigilant, closely monitored, and evaluated the
impact of external factors such as geopolitical risks and global
economy on the Group. It also actively adopted a number of
measures to broaden sources of income and reduce
expenditures, strived to improve automation, promoted
innovation and diversified business development, continued to
invest in human capital, digitalisation and green energy,
overcame the pressure of geoeconomic differentiation, and
strived to give back to society and create long-term sustainable

value for shareholders.
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On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our shareholders,
customers, bankers, suppliers and friends in the community for
their continued support and all our staff for their loyalty and

dedication.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2024
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CHAIRMAN'’S LETTER

Where there is life, there is hope. Good times will follow after
surviving the economic downturn. Thank you for your efforts to
preserve the opportunity for a comeback and showcase the

Starlite spirit.

“Where there is a will, there is a way.” We people at Starlite
have chosen to shake off the doldrums with unwavering
determination. In response to declining revenue, we encouraged
our staff to work towards a turnaround and readopt the
management of “lean production” in line with our goals,
fostering a resilient spirit. Through the budget-based incentive
method of rewarding hard work, we have strengthened our
response measures and cultivated a large number of outstanding

talents!

We made profits through OEM business. While developing our
ODM capacity, we also developed our own brands. This was to
get us out of the predicament of not having our own products
or brands. Leveraging years of experience in manufacturing, we
used wood boards and traditional Chinese mortise and tenon
techniques, without using glue or screws. We contributed to
ESG by focusing on carbon emission reduction and utilising

renewable energy through precision laser cutting process.
Meanwhile, we solemnly confirm that: of the 8% profit

(depending on the interest rate), 4% of the profit will be set
aside for ESG work.

Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2024
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

Year ended 31st March

Revenue

Operating profit/(loss)

Profit/(loss) for the year

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Dividends

Basic earnings/(losses) per share
attributable to the owners of the

Company (HK cents)

LON

mE s,/ (BE)

KEHF (BR)

N, (BR):
ARFEE A
ESEE ¥

BE

ARAEAANEL
FREXRF
(E548) GBIl

MBERE
mERER
HEZA=Z+T—RHLHFE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-QmE -—T-—fF -—T-— —E-—F Z—ET-TE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBR FHET FET FET FET
834,749 923,236 1,048,700 1,057,477 1,135,902
26,309 14,018 367,421 (98,713) 27,056
16,992 5,280 357,473 (98,525) 8,499
17,422 6,478 357,473 (98,525) 8,499
430) (1,198) — — —
16,992 5,280 357,473 (98,525) 8,499
12,515 5,096 57,765 — 31,508
3.45 1.26 68.10 (18.76) 1.62




FINANCIAL SUMMARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION

Non-current assets

Current assets

Current liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Net assets

Equity attributable to the owners of
the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

FRBEE

MEEE

nEE

RBEEFR

BEERRBDRE

FRBRE

AEERE

RARGEAAEEER

MBRE

REBBRR K

As at As at As at As at As at

31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March, 31st March,
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RZB-ME W-T-=F RIT--F RIT--45 R-T-TF
=f=+-B =ZA=+—-H =ZA=t—-HB ZA=t—-HBH ZA=+-H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET FTET FTHET THT FTET
400,030 419,738 434,716 426,780 340,946
491,409 533,754 604,760 592,722 516,623
(256,783) (298,852) (366,570) (508,645) (391,313)
234,626 234,902 238,190 84,077 125,310
634,656 654,640 672,906 510,857 466,256
9,571) (10,504) (2,261) (157,638) (17,665)
625,085 644,136 670,645 353,219 448,591
624,753 643,374 670,645 353,219 448,591

332 762 — — _

625,085 644,136 670,645 353,219 448,591
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors have the pleasure of presenting their annual
report together with the audited financial statements of Starlite
Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the
Group”) for the year ended 31st March, 2024.

Principal activities

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including

environmental friendly paper products.

Details of the Group’s revenue and segment results are set out

in Note 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

Business review

A review of the business of the Group during the year as
required by Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622) are covered in different sections of this annual report
as set out below, which shall form part of this Report of the

Directors.

A fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,
can be found in the Chairman’s Statement and Chairman’s

Letter set out on pages 7 to 21.

Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group has established procedures in place to ensure that
its operations comply with applicable laws, rules and
regulations. A senior management committee of the Company is
delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s policies and
practices for achieving compliance with legal and other
regulatory requirements, and such policies and practices are
regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules
and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant

employees and relevant operating units whenever necessary.

As far as the Company is aware, the Group has complied in all
material respects with laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the Group’s business and operations.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Major customers and suppliers

For the year ended 31st March, 2024, the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 33% of the Group’s total revenue
and the five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 23%
of the Group’s total purchases. In addition, the largest customer
accounted for approximately 18% of the Group’s revenue while
the largest supplier accounted for approximately 6% of the

Group’s total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates, or any shareholder
(which, to the knowledge of the Company’s Directors, owned
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had a beneficial

interest in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

Relationship with stakeholders

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business
partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group is
committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with
its employees, providing quality services to its customers and

enhancing co-operation with its business partners.

Results and appropriations
Details of the Group’s results for the year ended 31st March,
2024 are set out in the consolidated income statement on page

80 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of HKT cent per share for the six months
ended 30th September, 2023 (30th September, 2022: interim
dividend of HK1 cent) were paid to shareholders on
21st February, 2024.

The Board of directors recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HK1.5 cents per ordinary share for the year ended
31st March, 2024 (2023: Nil), totaling approximately
HK$7,509,000. As at 31st March, 2024, the Group’s retained
profit of approximately HK$406,494,000 was available for

distribution to the Company’s shareholders.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Share capital and employee share options
Details of movements in share capital and the employee share
option scheme of the Company are set out in Notes 25 and 26,

respectively, to the accompanying financial statements.

Reserves
Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in Notes 27 and 33(b) to the accompanying

financial statements.

As at 31st March, 2024, the Company’s retained profit of
approximately HK$16,840,000 was available for distribution to

the Company’s shareholders.

Purchase, sale or redemption of shares

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, the Company
repurchased a total of 6,002,000 ordinary shares of par value
HK$0.10 each in the share capital of the Company on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
with the aggregate consideration paid (before expenses)
amounting to HK$1,215,986. All the shares repurchased were
subsequently cancelled. As at 31st March, 2024 and up to the
date of this report, the total number of shares of the Company
in issue was 500,633,288.

Particulars of the share repurchases during the year are as
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follows:

Aggregate
Number of Consideration
Shares (before
Date H# Repurchased Price per Share expenses)
BRE
BE RO B SRBEE ($0BR B 2 A1)

Highest Lowest

Bs BI&
(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
(%) (%) (%)
July 2023 —E-ZFtHA 1,002,000 0.206 0.193 203,486
August 2023 —ZE-=FN\A 2,000,000 0.207 0.195 403,200
September 2023 T =%NA 1,000,000 0.205 0.196 200,500
October 2023 —E-=%+A 2,000,000 0.207 0.197 408,800
Total: 1B EE 6,002,000 1,215,986
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The Directors considered that such repurchases would enhance
the earnings per share and increase the net asset value per

share attributable to the shareholders.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities listed on the Stock Exchange during the year and up
to the date of this report.

Pre-emptive rights
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the

Company’s Bye-laws and the laws in Bermuda.

Subsidiaries
Particulars of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the

accompanying financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment and Investment
properties

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties during the year are set out in Notes 14

and 15 to the accompanying financial statements.

Bank borrowings

Particulars of bank borrowings as at 31st March, 2024 are set
out in Notes 22 and 30 to the accompanying financial
statements.

Pension scheme
Details of the pension scheme are set out in Note 9 to the

accompanying financial statement.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made charitable contributions of
approximately HK$1,238,000 (2023: HK$208,000).
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Directors and directors’ service contracts
The directors who held office during the year and up to the

date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tin Shing (Senior Vice President)

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching (Senior Vice President)

Mr. Wong Wai Kwok (Senior Vice President)

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam-Kwong, Larry, SBS, /P

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

Ms. Elizabeth Law (Appointed with effect from 1st April, 2023)

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, not less than
one-third of the directors will be retire from office by rotation
at the annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Tin Shing, Mr. Poon
Kwok Ching and Mr. Wong Wai Kwok will retire at the
forthcoming annual general meeting (the “AGM”) and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

None of the directors has an unexpired contract with the Group
which is not terminable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Changes in information of directors
The change in the information of directors of the Company,
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of

the Listing Rules, is as follows:

Name of director and details of changes

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

1. retired from the office as an independent non-executive
director by rotation at the annual general meeting of
Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited held on
18th August, 2023.

2. resigned as independent non-executive director of
Wisdom Education International Holdings Company
Limited with effect from 31st May, 2024.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required

to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Independent Non-Executive Directors’ confirmation of
independence

The Company has received independence confirmation from
each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, namely
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry,
sBs, j,, Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny and Ms. Elizabeth Law
pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and considers them

to be independent.
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Directors’ interests in shares and share options

As at 31st March, 2024, the interest of the Directors and Chief
Executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any specified undertaking of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Section 352 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as

follows:

Long positions in Shares

Personal
Name of Director Capacity interests
EERA L3 BAER

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Beneficial owner

202,962,677

I mEE EnlA
Ms. Yeung Chui Beneficial owner and 79,916,000
interest of controlled
corporation
BRZL ERBEARREHARZ
3
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching Beneficial owner 118,000
EEBEE Bt T
Note:
1. Dayspring Enterprises Limited held 1,012,901 shares in the Company. The

entire issued share capital of the company is beneficially owned and

controlled by Ms. Yeung Chui.
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or Chief
Executive of the Company had, as at 31st March, 2024, any
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Listing Rules.

Share option scheme

A share option scheme has been adopted by the Company at
the Special General Meeting held on 18th August, 2022 (the
“2022 Share Option Scheme”) to replace the share option
scheme which had been adopted on 15th August 2012 (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”). The Company may grant options to the
participants as set out in the 2022 Share Option Scheme.

Summary of the 2022 Share Option Scheme was as follows:

1. Purpose of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
To provide participants with the opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage
participants to work towards enhancing the value of the

Company and its shares.

2. Participants of the 2022 Share Option Scheme

(i) any full-time employee of the Company or of any

subsidiary;
(ii) any executive director and non-executive director
(excluding independent non-executive directors) of

the Company or of any subsidiary; and

(iii)  any person approved by the Board.

.
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3.

Total number of shares available for issue under the
2022 Share Option Scheme and percentage of issued
share capital as at the date of the annual report

The Company may initially grant options representing
51,463,528 shares under the 2022 Share Option Scheme
(i.e. approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of the approval of the 2022
Share Option Scheme and approximately 10.28% as at

the date of this annual report).

The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the 2022 Share Option Scheme or
any other share option scheme adopted by the Company
must not exceed 30% of the shares in issue of the
Company from time to time. No options may be granted
under the 2022 Share Option Scheme or any other share
option scheme adopted by the Company if that will result
in the 30% limit being exceeded.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the
2022 Share Option Scheme

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) under the 2022 Share Option Scheme or any
other share option scheme(s) adopted by the Company in
any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares

in issue.

The period within which the shares must be taken up
under an option
Must not be more than 10 years from the date of offer or

grant of the option.

The minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

An option may be exercised at any time during a period
commencing on the expiry of 6 calendar months after the
date of grant of the option, but in any event not later

than 10 years from the date of grant.
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7. The amount payable on application or acceptance of the
option and the period within which payments or calls
must or may be made or loans for such purposes must
be paid
The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$10 and an offer shall remain open for acceptance by
the participant for a period of 28 days from the date on
which the letter containing the offer is delivered to that

participant.

8. The basis of determining the exercise price
The exercise price of share option shall be determined by
the Board in its absolute discretion and shall be the

higher of:

(i) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
daily quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business

day; or

(ii) the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the 5 business days immediately

preceding the date of grant.

9. The remaining life of the 2022 Share Option Scheme
The 2022 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date i.e. 18th August, 2022.

During the year, no share option was granted under the 2022

Share Option scheme.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or its other associated
corporations a party to any arrangement to enable any of the
Company’s Directors, Chief Executive of the Company (including
the spouse and children under 18 years old) or members of its
management, or its specified undertakings, to hold any interests
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or other associated companies.
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Directors’ interests in transactions, arrangements and
contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 31 to the accompanying financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which
any of the Company’s directors or members of its management
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Substantial shareholders

So far as is known to any Director or Chief Executive of the
Company, as at 31st March, 2024, shareholders (other than
Directors or Chief Executive of the Company) who had interest
or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept

by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions of substantial shareholders in the Shares of the

Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

e 8%

Ms. Li Lin Interest of spouse
Fihz L e £

Note:

1. Ms. Li Lin (“Ms. Li”) is the spouse of Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (“Mr. Lam”) (director

and controlling shareholder of the Company), by virtue of SFO she is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Mr. Lam. The shares held by
Mr. Lam and Ms. Li were the same block of shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31st March, 2024, the Company
has not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
Chief Executive of the Company) who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed of all the four Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee
has reviewed with management the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2024.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is composed of all the four
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The
Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility of
recommending to the Board the remuneration policy of all the

Directors and the senior management.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is currently composed of the
Chairman of the Board, one Non-Executive Director and the
four Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The
principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular
basis and making recommendations to the Board regarding any

proposed changes.

Financial summary
A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last five
financial years is set out on pages 22 and 23 of this annual

report.

Directors’ interests in competing business

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, none of the Directors
nor their respective associates had any interests in a business
which competes or may compete with the businesses of the

Company.

Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of its Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company has maintained during the
year under review the amount of public float as required under

the Listing Rules.
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Corporate governance
A report on the principal corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out on pages 38 to 61 of the

annual report.

Management contracts

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Group’s business was entered into or existed during
the year ended 31st March, 2024.

Employee and remuneration policies
The Group recruited and promoted individual persons according
The Group

determined the remuneration packages of all employees

to their strength and development potential.

(including the Directors) with reference to individual

performance and current market rate.

The Group’s bonus arrangements with its Executive Directors

and employees are mainly operated as follows:

1. Executive Directors may be entitled to a discretionary

bonus as determined by the Remuneration Committee;

2. Certain employees of the Group may be granted a bonus
that would be paid upon the relevant employees meeting

certain pre-determined individual performance targets;

3. In the event that the Group achieves a certain level of
performance, certain employees may be granted a

discretionary bonus.

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

Subject to the applicable laws, every director of the Company
shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company against all
costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him
or her in the execution and discharge of his or her duties or in
relation thereto pursuant to the Company Bye-laws. Such
provisions were in force during the course of the financial year
ended 31st March, 2024 and remained in force as of the date
of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its

directors and officers.
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Auditor

The accompanying financial statements were audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution for the re-appointment of
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the Company’s auditors for the
ensuring year, is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Lam Kwong Yu

Chairman

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) are committed to maintaining and
upholding good corporate governance in order to protect the
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company
strives at ensuring high standards of corporate governance in
the interests of shareholders and takes care to identify practices
designed to achieve effective oversight, transparency and ethical

behavior.

Throughout the year ended 31st March, 2024, the Company has
complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in the then Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except for the deviations as

mentioned below.

This report includes information relating to corporate
governance practices of the Company during the year ended
31st March, 2024 and significant events after that date and up
to the date of this report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is at the core of the Company’s corporate
governance framework, and there is clear division of
responsibilities between the Board and the Management. The
Board is responsible for providing high-level guidance and
effective oversight of the Management. Generally, the Board is

responsible for:

J formulating the Group’s long-term strategy and monitoring

the implementation thereof;

o reviewing and approving the annual business plan and

financial budget;

J approving the annual and interim reports;

o reviewing and monitoring risk management and internal
control;

J ensuring good corporate governance and compliance; and

J monitoring the performance of the Management.
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Board Composition
At the date of this report, the Board has nine members,
comprising four Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director

and four Independent Non-Executive Directors.

During the year ended 31st March, 2024 and up to the date of
publication of this Annual Report, the Directors of the Company

are set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Tin Shing

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching

Mr. Wong Wai Kwok

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, SBS, /P

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny

Ms. Elizabeth Law (Appointed with effect from 1st April, 2023)

Biographical details of the Directors are set out from pages 62
to 66 of this Annual Report. Save as disclosed therein, there is
no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship among the Directors. Independent Non-Executive
Directors are identified in all corporate communications. A List
of Directors and their Role and Function is available on both
the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(“Stock Exchange”) and the Company.

Review will be made regularly by the Board to ensure that it
has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirement of the Company and its subsidiaries. Also, a
balanced composition of Executive Directors and Non-Executive
director is maintained to ensure independence and effective

management.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors represented more than
one-third of the Board members, thus exhibiting a strong
independent element which enhanced independent judgement.
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny and Ms. Elizabeth Law,
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company are
practicing CPA in Hong Kong and possess appropriate
professional qualifications and financial management expertise

as required under the Listing Rules.

The Board is scheduled to meet at least four times a year to
determine overall strategic direction and objectives and approve

interim and annual results and other significant matters.

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, four full Board
meetings and the 2023 annual general meeting (“AGM”) were
held with an average attendance rate of 97% and 100%, details

of which are presented below:
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Board Meetings

Attended/Held 2023 AGM
EEESE —E=-=
Board Members EEZEHE HE BT BRREFKRE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the Board MWkt (BEFLLELR
and Chief Executive Officer) #HITR) 4/4 v/
Mr. Tin Shing A A 4/4 v/
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching & B o A 4/4 v/
Mr. Wong Wai Kwok =EETE 4/4 v
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRLZ+ 4/4 v/
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYFHITES
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael PR A8 5 & 4/4 v
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, SBS, /P HMERE  REHEE
A F#L 4/4 v
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny B ESE 4/4 v
Ms. Elizabeth Law BRAEXL 3/4 v/
Yearly meeting schedule is discussed and approved by the Z2FEHNENLTHLEHESTGRN TG KIE -
Board at the beginning of the year. Board agenda is approved BAEHZZEANRHESTAAGAASEEZTENE
by the Chairman following consultation with other Board & R 1% - i&IﬁﬁE FIET-MEEEM B ERGH
members. Board agenda and meeting materials are dispatched FHEBRENEBErETEREETSHEEMN-

to all Board members in a timely manner.
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All Directors have access to the Company Secretary who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are complied
with and advises the Board on corporate governance and
compliance matters. They are also encouraged to take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense in
performance of their duties, if necessary. Furthermore, all the
Directors are covered by the Directors’ & Officers’ Liability

Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be
performed by the same individual. The Company does not have
a separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Lam
Kwong Yu currently holds both positions. The Board believes
that vesting the roles of both Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer in the same person would allow the Company to be
more effective and efficient in developing long-term business
strategies and execution of business plans. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured
by the operation of the Board which comprises experienced and
high caliber individuals with a sufficient number thereof being

Independent Non-Executive Directors.

Code Provision C.2.7 stipulates that the chairman should at
least annually hold meetings with the independent
non-executive directors without the presence of other directors.
As Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, the Chairman of the Company, is also
an Executive Director of the Company, this code provision is

not applicable.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui has been re-designated from the position of
Executive Director to Non-Executive Director upon her
retirement. Ms. Yeung has not been appointed for a specific
term as she is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election

at AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company.

.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors
The roles of the Independent Non-Executive Directors include

the following:

. participating in board meetings to bring an independent
judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments

and standards of conduct;

J take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;
o serve on committees if invited; and
J scrutinize performance of the Group and monitoring

performance reporting.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company and
their immediate family receive no payment from the Company
or its subsidiaries (except the Director fee). No family member
of any Independent Non-Executive Directors is employed as an
executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, or has been
so in the past two vyears. The Independent Non-Executive
Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-laws of
the Company. Each Independent Non-Executive Director has
provided a confirmation of his/her independence with reference

to the independence guidelines as set out in the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee and the Board has assessed the
independence of all the Independent Non-Executive Directors of
the Company and considers all of them to be independent
having regard to (i) their annual confirmation on independence
as required under the Listing Rules, (ii) the absence of
involvement in the daily management of the Company and (iii)
the absence of any relationships or circumstances which would

interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement.
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Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry,
S$BS, /P and Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny have served as
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company for more
than 9 years. In addition to their confirmation of independence
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Chan,
Mr. Kwok and Mr. Tam continue to demonstrate the attributes
of an independent non-executive director and there is no
evidence that their tenure have any impact on their
independence. The Nomination Committee and the Board are of
the opinion that Mr. Chan, Mr. Kwok and Mr. Tam remain
independent notwithstanding the length of their service and
believe that their valuable knowledge and experience continue
to generate significant contribution to the Company and the

shareholders as a whole.

Code Provision B.2.4 stipulates that where all the independent
non-executive directors of an issuer have served more than nine
years on the board, the issuer should (a) disclose the length of
tenure of each existing independent non-executive directors on
a named basis in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory
statement accompanying the notice of the annual general
meeting; and (b) appoint a new independent non-executive
directors on the board at the forthcoming annual general
meeting (“AGM”). The following independent non-executive
directors of the Company have served on the board for more
than nine years, the length of tenure of each independent

non-executive directors as follows:

Name Tenure

et £ 58

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael
BR¥8 e k

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, SBS, /P
BMELRE  REHEE X T+

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny
BHE %L

On 28th March, 2023, Ms. Elizabeth Law was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company for a term
of two vyears with effect from 1st April, 2023 to fulfil the
requirement of Code Provision B.2.4(b). At the 2023 AGM of
the Company held on 22nd August, 2023, Ms. Law was
re-elected as an independent non-executive director of the

Company.
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Appointments, Re-election and Removal

There is a formal, considered and transparent procedure for the
appointment of new directors to the Board, the primary
responsibility of which has been delegated to the Nomination
Committee. The structure, size and composition of the Board
will be reviewed from time to time by the Nomination
Committee to ensure that the Board has a balanced skill and

expertise for providing effective leadership to the Company.

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, at each
AGM, not less than one-third of the directors shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall retire at least once every
three vyears. The retiring directors shall be eligible for
re-election. New appointments either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board are subject to re-election by

shareholders of the Company at the next following AGM.

Except for Ms. Elizabeth Law as disclosed above, all remaining
Non-Executive Directors including Independent Non-Executive
Directors of the Company have not been appointed for a
specific term as they are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at AGM in accordance with the Bye-laws of the

Company.

Responsibilities of Directors

Upon acceptance of appointment, a new Director is provided
with sufficient orientation package, including introduction to
Group activities (when necessary), induction into their
responsibilities and duties, and other regulatory requirements, to
ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the business

and his/her responsibilities as a Director of the Company.

All Directors are committed to devote sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Group. Directors are given
guideline on their time commitments to the affairs of the
Company. Directors have also disclosed to the Company the
number and nature of offices held in Hong Kong or overseas
listed public companies or organizations and other significant
commitments, with the identity of the public companies or
organizations. Directors are reminded to notify the Company in

a timely manner of any changes of such information.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

To ensure their contributions to the Board remains informed
and relevant, all the Directors are encouraged to participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skill. During the year, the Company had
arranged in-house trainings for Executive Directors and the
Non-Executive Director in form of seminar and provision of
training materials. In addition, the Company also provided
regular updates to the Directors in respect of the business and
operations of the Group through monthly reports; and the
updates on the changes in Listing Rules, Corporate Governance

Code and related regulatory requirements, if any.
During the year, the continuous professional development taken
by the respective Directors are as follows:

Board Members EEENE

Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Chairman of the Mk E(EFE
Board and Chief Executive Officer) FERHITR)

Mr. Tin Shing H 3ot &
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching & B 5T A
Mr. Wong Wai Kwok mEELE
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRELZL

Independent Non-Executive Directors B FHITES

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR 48 S 5t &

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, $BS, jp BWESL & - REHEE
A F a1

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny Bk A

Ms. Elizabeth Law BEERL

A. reading materials in relation to regulatory update

attending in-house training to update business development
attending seminars/courses/conferences to develop professional skill and
knowledge

o

During the year, the Company received training records from all
Directors relevant to the Company’s business or to Directors’

duties and responsibilities.
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Supply of and Access to Information

To allow the Directors to make an informed decision and
properly discharge their duties and responsibilities, the Company
Secretary ensures that relevant Board papers are sent to all the
Directors in a timely manner. All Board papers and minutes are
also made available for inspection by the Board and its

Committees.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Board Committees

As at the date of this report, the Company has preserved three
board committees (“Board Committees”) with defined terms of
reference (which are posted on websites of the Group and the
Stock Exchange), namely Remuneration Committee, Nomination

Committee and Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises of all the four
Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company, namely
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman), Mr. Kwok Lam
Kwong, Larry, $B8S, /P, Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny and
Ms. Elizabeth Law.

The Remuneration Committee was set up with the responsibility
of recommending to the Board the remuneration policy and
package of all the Directors and senior management, assessing
performance of executive directors and senior management,
review and approving annual performance bonus, approving the
terms of service contracts of executive directors and senior
management and/or approving matters relating to share schemes

of the Company.

The Committee Chairman is required to report to the Board on
its proceedings after each meeting on all matters within its

duties and responsibilities.

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, the Remuneration
Committee approved and recommended to the Board the
payment of annual bonus to Executive Directors and reviewed
the service contracts and remuneration package of Executive
Directors with reference to the Company’s remuneration policy

and the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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Meeting of the Remuneration Committee is required to be held
at least twice a year to coincide with key dates within the
financial reporting and audit cycle. During the year ended
31st March, 2024, three meetings were held, attendance of
these meetings held by the Remuneration Committee is set out

below:

FHERR AR BERTMAGHE  AMARY
BHREREZBHANZ2EERFER A -BE=
Z_MFE=ZA=+—HLEFER FHEESET

T=ZR&H MREGENHEZLAT

Meetings

Attended/Held

Remuneration Committee Members FHWEEERE eEEE BT
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael (Chairman) RS EE(EE) 3/3
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, SBS, /P MMES A REHWEE A Fa £+ 3/3
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny BERIESLE 3/3
Ms. Elizabeth Law BEEXLL 2/3

The Remuneration Committee is authorised to investigate any
matter within its Terms of Reference and seek any information
it requires from any employee and obtain outside legal or other
independent professional advice at the cost of the Company if it
considers necessary. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
the compensation of the Directors and senior executives for
2024.

Remuneration Policy

The remuneration of Directors and senior executives is
determined with reference to their expertise and experience in
the industry, the performance and profitability of the Group as
well as remuneration benchmarks from other local companies
and prevailing market conditions. Executive Directors and
employee also participate in bonus arrangements which are
determined in accordance with the performance of the Group

and the individual’s performance.

Director’s fee of Executive Directors is HK$150,000 per annum,
Non-executive Directors is HK$150,000 per annum and

Independent Non-Executive Directors is HK$200,000 per annum.

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, total Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$12,459,000 (2023:
HK$11,945,000) and senior executives’ remuneration amounted
to HK$1,092,000 (2023: HK$867,000), individual details of
which are disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements.
Executive Directors and senior executives’ compensation
including incentive bonus shall be based on the corporate and

individual performance.

.
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Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee comprises of four Independent

Non-Executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry,
$BS, JP (Chairman), Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, Mr. Tam

King Ching, Kenny and Ms. Elizabeth Law, one Non-Executive

Director, Ms. Yeung Chui and Chairman of the Board, Mr. Lam

Kwong Yu.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include:

(a)

to review the structure, size and composition (including

the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board and to select or to make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;

to assess the

independence of the Independent

Non-Executive Directors; and
to make

recommendations to the Board on the

appointment or re-appointment of Directors and

succession planning for Directors.

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, two meetings were

held, attendance of these meetings held by the Nomination

Committee is set out below:
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Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR¥S e 8 & 2/2
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Nomination Policy
The Board has adopted a nomination policy which sets out the

criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of

Directors. Below are the nomination procedures and the process

and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select

and recommend candidates for directorship.

Selection Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria

in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

@

(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

A

Skills and Experience
The candidate should possess the skills, knowledge and
experience which are relevant to the operations of the

Company and its subsidiaries.

Diversity

Candidates should be considered on merit and against
objective criteria, with due regard to the diversity
perspectives set out in the Board Diversity Policy of the
Company and the balance of skills and experience in

board composition.

Commitment

The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to
attend board meetings and participate in induction,
trainings and other board associated activities. In
particular, if the proposed candidate will be nominated
as an independent non-executive director (“INED”) and
will be holding his/her seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, the Nomination Committee should consider
the reason given by the candidate for being able to

devote sufficient time to the Board.

Standing

The candidate must satisfy the Board and the Stock
Exchange that he/she has the character, experience and
integrity, and is able to demonstrate a standard of
competence commensurate with the relevant position as

a director of the Company.

Independence
The candidate to be nominated as an INED must satisfy
the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the

Listing Rules.
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Nomination Procedures

(a) If the Nomination Committee determines that an
additional or replacement director is required, the
Committee may take such measures that it considers
appropriate in connection with its identification and

evaluation of a candidate.

(b)  The Nomination Committee may propose to the Board a
candidate recommended or offered for nomination by a
shareholder of the Company as a nominee for election to
the Board.

(c) On making recommendation, the Nomination Committee
may submit the candidate’s personal profile to the Board
for consideration. The Board may appoint the candidate(s)
as director(s) to fill a casual vacancy(ies) or as an
addition to the Board or recommend such candidate to
shareholders for election or re-election (where

appropriate) at the general meeting.

During the vyear under review, the Nomination Committee
reviewed the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, the Board
Diversity Policy and the Nomination Policy, and considered that
the said policies were appropriate and effective. Further, the
Nomination Committee also assessed the independence of all
independent non-executive directors of the Company and
recommended to the Board for approval of the re-election of
the retiring Directors at the 2023 AGM.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises of all the four Independent
Non-Executive Directors of the Company, namely Mr. Tam King
Ching, Kenny (Chairman), Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael,
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, SBS, /P, and Ms. Elizabeth Law.

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee is required to
oversee the relationship between the Company and its external
auditors, review with management the accounting principles
and practice adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, risk
management and internal control system, and financial reporting
matters, including the review of financial statements for the year
ended 31st March, 2024.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the interim and annual
results for the year ended 371st March, 2024 and was content
that the accounting policies of the Group are in accordance
with the generally accepted accounting practices in Hong Kong.
It also meets twice a year with the Group’s external auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC”), to consider their report on the
scope, strategy, progress and outcome of their independent
review of the annual audit of the consolidated financial
statements. During the year ended 31st March, 2024, two
meetings were held, attendance of the meetings held by the

Audit Committee is set out below:
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Meetings

Attended/Held

Audit Committee Members EREEERE ERUE BT
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny (Chairman) B ESE A () 2/2
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael BR¥S e 8 & 2/2
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, SBS, /P BB, REHEE A Fp+ 2/2
Ms. Elizabeth Law REXZTL 2/2

Corporate Governance Function

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s corporate
governance compliance. The Company has not established a
Corporate Governance Committee and has delegated the
function to a senior management committee to perform the
corporate governance function. The scope of works of the

committee including the following:
o to review performance of the Group regularly;

. to develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make

recommendations to the Board;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior

management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory

requirements;

J to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and
directors.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching, has been appointed as Company
Secretary of the Company with effect from Tst April, 2019. He
is responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures
are followed and Board activities are efficiently and effectively
conducted. These objectives are achieved through adherence to
proper Board processes and the timely preparation and
dissemination to Directors comprehensive meeting agendas and
papers. Minutes of all Board meetings and Board committees
are prepared and maintained by the Company Secretary to
record in sufficient details the matters considered and decisions
reached by the Board or Committee, including any concerns
raised or dissenting views voiced by any Director. All minutes
are sent to Directors and are available for inspection by any

Director upon request.

The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully appraised of all legislative, regulatory and
corporate governance developments relating to the Group and
also responsible for the Group’s statutory compliance. The
appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is subject
to Board approval in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company. The Company Secretary reports to the Board, all
members of the Board have access to the advice and service of
the Company Secretary. The Company Secretary of the
Company has day-to-day knowledge of the Group’s affairs. In
response to specific enquiries made, the Company Secretary
confirmed that he has complied with all the proposed
qualifications, experience and training requirements of the

Listing Rules.

Mr. Poon confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours

relevant professional training during the year.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and
code of conduct regarding securities dealings by directors as set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31st March, 2024.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for that period. In preparing the financial statements
for the year ended 31st March, 2024, the Directors have
selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards;
made adjustments and estimates that are prudent and
reasonable; and have prepared the financial statements on the
going concern basis. The Directors are also responsible for
keeping proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the

Company.

The Company provides monthly updates to the Board to assess
the Group’s financial performance, position and prospects in
sufficient details to enable the Board members to discharge their

duties under the Listing Rules.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group are to provide a clear governance
structure, policies and procedures, as well as reporting
mechanism to facilitate the Group to manage its risks across

business operations.

The Group has established a risk management framework,
which consists of the Board, the Audit Committee and the
senior management of the Group (“Senior Management”). The
Board determines the nature and extent of risks that shall be
taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and has the
overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation
and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems. The Board, through the Audit Committee,
conducts reviews of the effectiveness of such systems at least
annually, covering all material controls including financial,
operational, environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)

performance and reporting as well as compliance controls.

.
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The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy
in providing directions in identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks (including ESG risks). At least on an annual
basis, the Senior Management identifies risks that would
adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, and
assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of
standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then

established for those risks considered to be significant.

In addition, the Group has engaged an independent professional
advisor to assist the Board and the Audit Committee in ongoing
monitoring of the risk management (including ESG risks) and
internal control systems of the Group and in performing the
internal audit functions for the Group. Deficiencies in the
design and implementation of internal controls are identified
and recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant
internal control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee
and the Board on a timely basis to ensure prompt remediation

actions are taken.

Risk management report, internal control report and ESG report
are submitted to the Audit Committee and the Board at least
once a year. The Board, through the Audit Committee, had
performed annual review on the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems, including but not
limited to the Group’s ability to cope with its business
transformation and changing external environment; the scope
and quality of management’s review on risk management and
internal control systems; result of internal audit work; the extent
and frequency of communication with the Board in relation to
result of risk and internal control review; significant failures or
weaknesses identified and their related implications; and status

of compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Board has assessed the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems and considers the systems were

effective and adequate during the year.

The risk management and internal control systems of the Group
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or

loss.
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The Group has the Inside Information Policy which sets out
guidelines to the Directors and senior management of the Group
to ensure inside information of the Group would be
disseminated to the public in equal and timely manner in

accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, certain transactions
between the Group and parties regarded as “related parties”
under the applicable accounting standards subsisted. Certain of
these related party transactions also constituted connected
transactions as defined under the Listing Rules. Details of
related party transactions are disclosed in note 31 to the

consolidated financial statements.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been
audited by PwC. During the year, remuneration of approximately
HK$3,045,000 was for the provision of audit services. In
addition, approximately HK$341,000 was for other non-audit
services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax

compliance and advisory services.

DIVERSITY

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity
on the Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.
Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge

and length of service.

The Nomination Committee will report annually on the
composition of the Board under diversified perspective, and
monitor the implementation of this policy to ensure its
effectiveness. It will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend such revisions to the Board for consideration

and approval.

>
e
il
i
-él-tll-
i

AEERAABHBEERE ERIREEZRAEE
SREEEER 2 KMERAEEZARH

BAMBERERRER UDTESZFR @
DBE -

HEXRZREEALIRS
BE-_Z-_ME=A=+-BLFER AEMR

ERE qu/‘iﬁ‘ MzrRIEBAEALTIOALTZENE
TRGMAGFE-ETHEEHBEALRZTHEK
REXSFHERETRWZER) BREBEALR
SNFRREE BB RRMEITPHE -

BE R &
RNEEHGEVEBRRCHEBEEMEZ REAFER
BLIE B 2 AR M AT R A9 BN & 493,045,000 T © 1t
SN - gk At 3F B A% BR 75 60 5RIB £Y /8341,00008 7T © 3E
ERRBETEDETHERRERRS -

Z it

EEZEeEZTILBE
ARFERPEFEREBEZ BRI ZEE])
BRI HEFTERERRMABRES TN RAE
FE2AMMMRBMZz e - REZME  KAQF
RERERNEZTENBZTLEEERZEAE &
FETRNER  F& XEERHEEER KRS
M BXKR R ABERBEE -

REZBENEFRAEFEREES TILEE 2K
BHA YEEZBRZWT BRETZAEM-
REZBEeRENWEMNABIEL 2BRIER

MEFSEERILE-

55



56 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT EERRSE

The Board appointed Ms. Elizabeth Law as an independent ®Z8ZRXAEEZRTAARAFNBUIFNITES "
non-executive director of the Company with effect from —E=FNA-HRBER ZFBRAARABHDR
Ist April, 2023 demonstrate the Company’s commitment to ZEFEZ bt RAFHBEH EFTFEMEB LK
gender diversity in the Board. As at the date of this report, the B KREBFEHNH2% BEFGERRALAGH
Board had two female members, representing approximately — #Zz 5k B ML fIl A & K F - BITN K R20% °
22% of the Board. The Board committed the Company to

maintaining an appropriate level of female Members on the

Board, which shall not be less than 20%.

The following table further illustrate the diversity of the Board THRE—FTHPABEZAFHRERESTERNENS T
members as of the date of this annual report: 1t

Relevant experience
HE &R

Printing &  Accounting

Name Gender Age packaging & finance Legal Business
% 14 5l it ORREBE BHREE EE [EES
Executive directors BITES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu A0 & M5 77 v
Mr. Tin Shing e M5 60 v
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching % B I 5 A M5 46 v
Mr. Wong Wai Kwok BEEELLE M5 57 v
Non-Executive director FHTES
Ms. Yeung Chui BRI+ F& 77 v
Independent BIYFHTES
Non-Executive directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, BRA8H L& MZ 72 v/
Michael
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Larry, 3% 4 M3 68 v v
SBS, JP REAEE -
X F#L
Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny — ##i IF % £ M5 75 v

Ms. Elizabeth Law BEEZLL F& 69 v
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Subject to availability of experienced management personnel in
the industry, we have also adopted measures to promote gender
diversity in developing a pipeline of female senior management
and potential successors to the Board, including putting gender
diversity as a strategic priority when sourcing for the Director
candidates, forging and keeping relationship with the potential
candidates, as well as engaging more resources in training
female staff who have long and relevant experience in our
business, with the aim of promoting them to the senior

management or directorship of the Group.

Depending on the business needs of the Group, the Board will
take opportunities to increase the proportion of female members
over time as and when appropriate candidates are identified. As
at the date of this annual report, the Board is of the view that

the Board of the Company satisfied the board diversity policy.

Workforce diversity

As at 31st March, 2024, the gender ratio of the Group’s
workforce (including senior management) was 47%:53% male to
female. The Board considers that the Group’s workforce
(including senior management) are diverse in terms of gender,
the overall split of male and female employees across the
Group as a whole is relatively balanced. However the technical
roles in operating printing press and machinery as well as
automation division filled disproportionately by male, whereas
the production process mainly filled by female. The Group is
working hard to overcome these barriers such as through on the
job training, anonymising job applications to help eliminate
biases in selection processes and increased job advertisements
across a broader range of platforms to reach a wider, more

diverse audience.

Diversity and anti-discrimination training is provided during
orientation training for all new joiners. Equal opportunity
seminars are also provided to all employees on a regular basis
to promote diversity and inclusion. We will target to maintain
gender diversity in the workforce by continuing to ensure that

the proportion of neither gender drops below 40%.

Details of the Group’s gender diversity at workforce level are

set out in the Group’s ESG report published separately.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with shareholders is given high priority.
Extensive information about the Group’s activities is provided in
the annual report and the interim report. The Group’s website
(www.hkstarlite.com) provides regularly updated Group
information to shareholders. Enquiries on matters relating to
shareholdings and the business of the Group are welcome, and
are dealt with in an informative and timely manner. The Group
encourages all shareholders to attend AGM and Special General
Meeting (“SGM”). Notice of the AGM and related papers are
sent to shareholders at least twenty-one (21) clear days prior to
the date of AGM. All other general meetings (including a
special general meeting) may be called by notice in writing of
not less than fourteen (14) clear days unless otherwise specified

in the Bye-Laws.

The chairmen of all Board Committees are invited to attend the
AGM. The Chairman of the Board and the chairman of all the
Board Committees are available to answer questions at the
AGM. Auditor is also invited to attend the AGM to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and
auditor’s independence. Pursuant to the Listing Rules, any vote
of shareholders at a general meeting will be taken by poll.
Detailed procedures for conducting a poll will be explained to
the shareholders in the general meeting so that shareholders are
familiar with such voting procedures. The poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
on the day of the general meeting. Moreover, a separate
resolution will be proposed by the chairman of a general

meeting in respect of each substantially separate issue.

The Company has established the Shareholders’ Communication
Policy setting out the formal channels of communication with
shareholders and other stakeholders for ensuring fair disclosure
and comprehensive and transparent reporting of the Group’s
performance and activities, a copy of the policy has been

posted to the website of the Group.
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During the year ended 31st March, 2024, the Board reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder
Communication Policy. The Group’s website was updated on a
regular basis to maintain an effective ongoing communication
with Shareholders and Shareholders could access the latest
information of the Company through the Group’s website.
Information released by the Company to the Stock Exchange
was also posted on the Group’s website as soon as reasonably
practicable thereafter. Shareholders were provided with the
opportunities to communicate with the Directors and senior
management directly at general meetings. Enquiries from
Shareholders were responded within a specific timeframe. Based
on the above, the Board was of the view that the Shareholder

Communication Policy was effective.

Shareholders’ Rights

In accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company, Directors of
the Company shall on the requisition of members of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of such of the paid up capital of the
Company carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require a
special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business or resolution specified in such
requisition and to add resolutions to a meeting agenda; and
such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionists themselves may proceed to convene
a physical meeting at only one location which will be the

principal meeting place (as defined in Bye-Law 63).

Details of the procedures for shareholders to convene and put
forward proposals at an AGM or SGM are set out in the
Company’s website. Shareholders may send their enquires
requiring the Board’s attention to the Company’s principal place
of business at 3/F., Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau
Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong or by e-mail to
enquiry@hkstarlite.com. Questions about the procedures for
convening or putting forward proposals at an AGM or SGM

may also be put to the Company by the same means.
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The Company also values and is eager to hear suggestions and
comments from shareholders and investors. For enquiries from
institutional investors and securities analysts please contact our

Company Secretary.

Investor Relations

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior management
maintains regular communication and dialogue with
shareholders and investors. As a channel to promote effective
communication, the Group maintains a website at
www.hkstarlite.com where the Company’s announcements and
press releases, business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other

information are posted.

Dividend Policy

The Company has established a Dividend Policy which was
adopted by the Board to set out the guidelines for the Board to
determine (i) whether dividends are to be declared and paid;
and (ii) the level of the dividend to be paid to the shareholders.
It is the policy to allow the shareholders to participate in the
Company’s profits whilst to retain adequate reserves for future

growth.

In determining/recommending the frequency, amount and form
of any dividend in any financial year/period, the Board shall

consider the following factors:
(i) the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

(i) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and

future development plans;
(iii)  the Group’s liquidity position;

(iv)  general economic conditions, business cycle of the
Group’s business and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial

performance and position of the Company;

(v)  the possible effects on the Group’s credit-worthiness, the
financial covenants to which the Group is subject and
any restrictions on the payment of dividends that may be

imposed by the Group’s lenders;
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(vi)  shareholders’ interests;
(vii) any restrictions on payment of dividends; and
(viii) and other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of dividend is also subject to the compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, including the laws of Bermuda,
the financial reporting standards that the Group has adopted

and the Company’s Bye-laws.

Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’s Memorandum of
Association and Bye-laws during the year ended 371st March,
2024. A copy of the latest consolidated version of the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws is posted on the

websites of the Company and HKEX.

On behalf of the Board
Poon Kwok Ching
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2024
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DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu, aged 77, has been an Executive Director of
the Company since 1992. He is the Chairman of the Board,
founder and Chief Executive Officer of the Group. He holds a
Master Degree in Business Administration (Distinguished Alumni
Awards) from the National University of Singapore. Mr. Lam has
been in community work in China and Hong Kong for many
years. He is a member of the Standing Committee of the 10th,
11th and the 12th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference, a director of Chinese
Overseas Friendship Association, a member of Selection
Committee for the Government of HKSAR and a committee
member of the Election Committee Subsector Elections,
Chairman of Mainland Affairs Committee of Scout Association
of Hong Kong, Deputy Chairman of Federation of Hong Kong
Guangdong Community Organizations Charitable Foundation
Limited, Chairman of Polar Museum Foundation, Director of
Future Star, an Adjunct Professor of College of Business of City
University of Hong Kong and Director of Guangzhou Jinan
University. Mr. Lam has received several prominent awards
including “Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons Award
1986”, “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 1988”, the first
“Hong Kong Entrepreneurs Award 1990”, “Outstanding
Achievements Award” of the “Hong Kong Print Award 1999”
and “Medal of Honor (M.H.)” from the government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in 2002. Mr. Lam has over
59 years’ experience in the printing industry and takes charge
of the overall planning, strategy and development of the Group.
He has made dedicated efforts to enhance the transformation of
Starlite, business diversification, products development, OBM
product, intelligent (automation) systems and industry 4.0 in

recent years.

Mr. Tin Shing, aged 60 joined the Group in September 1981.
He was appointed as an Executive Director of the Company
and director of certain subsidiaries of the Company with effect
from Tst April, 2019. Mr. Tin has over 40 years’ experience in
the operation and management of package printing companies
and he has been responsible for the overall planning and daily

operations of the Group in the PRC.
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Mr. Poon Kwok Ching, aged 46, joined the Group in September
2006. He was appointed as Executive Director; an Authorised
Representative of the Company; the Senior Vice President (Chief
Financial Officer) of the Group; the Company Secretary of the
Company; and a director of certain subsidiaries within the
Group with effect from Tst April, 2019. Mr. Poon graduated
from The University of Hong Kong and holds a Bachelor’s
degree in Business Administration and he has extensive
experience in the fields of audit and accounting. Mr. Poon is a
Hong Kong Accounting Expert appointed by the Ministry of
Finance of the PRC, a Committee Member of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou City, a
Fellow Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Poon has also received a Commendation
awarded by the Home Affairs Bureau of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region of the PRC in 2018.

Mr. Wong Wai Kwok, aged 57, joined the Group in 2001. He
was appointed as Executive Director of the Company with effect
from Tst April, 2022. He is currently the Senior Vice President
(Marketing and Sales) of the Group and a director of Little Tree
Publishing Limited, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company. Mr. Wong responsible for overseeing the Group’s
marketing and sales. He has over 30 years of experience in the
printing business relating to books, greeting cards and
packaging. His strength is in account management, business
development, strategic planning, and communications with
internal and external parties. He is also responsible for
managing the Group’s FSC-COC certification since 2007 to
ensure the required standards are met and to manage the
number of participating sites under the scope of the Group’s

certification.
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Non-Executive Director

Ms. Yeung Chui, aged 77, is one of the founders of the Group.
She was re-designated from the position of Executive Director
to Non-Executive Director of the Company with effect from
1st September, 2011. She has over 50 years’ experience in the

printing industry.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Michael, aged 72, Independent Non-
Executive Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. He has been an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company since 1993. Mr. Chan was the former
Chairman and is currently the non-executive director of the
publicly-listed Cafe de Coral Holdings Limited in Hong Kong.
He is also a Non-Executive Director of Tao Heung Holdings
Limited, an Independent Non-Executive Director of Pacific
Textiles Holdings Limited, Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International)
Limited, Modern Dental Group Limited, and Human Health
Holdings Limited, all of which are listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He holds a double major
degree in Sociology and Political Science, a Master degree in
City Planning from the University of Manitoba, an Honorary
Doctorate Degree in Business Administration, and is bestowed
as Honorary Fellow from Lingnan University. Mr. Chan currently
is the adviser of the Quality Tourism Services Association, as
well as being the Honorary Chairman of the Hong Kong
Institute of Marketing. He has many years of professional
experience in the public sector and over 30 years’ managerial

experience in the food and catering industry.

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, Llarry, s8s, /p, aged 68, Independent
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of Nomination Committee,
member of the Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee
of the Company. He was appointed as an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company in July 2004. He is currently
a partner of Kwok Yih & Chan (“KYC”), Solicitors. Prior to
founding KYC, he worked in a number of international law
firms, including Baker & McKenzie, Simmons & Simmons
(Partner), Andersen Legal (Managing Partner, Greater China),
Mallesons Stephen Jaques (Managing Partner, Mainland China
and Hong Kong) and King & Wood Mallesons (Managing
Partner, Asia Strategy & Markets). He graduated from the

University of Sydney, Australia with combined degrees in
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accounting/economics and laws respectively as well as a
master’s degree in laws. He also obtained the Advanced
Management Program diploma from the Harvard Business
School. He is qualified to practise as a solicitor in Hong Kong,
Australia, England and Wales and Singapore. He is also
qualified as a Chartered Accountant in England and Wales and
a CPA in Hong Kong and Australia. He has served regularly on
Government boards and committees. Previously, he was
Chairman of the Transport Advisory Committee, Chairman of
the Independent Police Complaints Council, Convenor of the
Disciplinary Appeals Committee of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Chairman of the Traffic Accident Victims Assistance
Advisory Committee, Chairman of the Appeal Board of the
Criminal & Law Enforcement Injuries Compensation Boards,
Vice-Chairman of the Consumer Council and Deputy Chairman
of the Appeal Board under the Consumer Goods Safety
Ordinance. He is currently Chairman of the Buildings Appeal
Tribunal Panel and an arbitrator of the Shenzhen Court of

International Arbitration.

Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny, aged 75, Independent
Non-Executive Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee,
member of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. He was appointed as an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company in July
2004. He is a practising Certified Public Accountant in Hong
Kong. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a member of the Chartered
Professional Accountants of Ontario, Canada. He is also a Past
President of The Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors.
Mr. Tam also serves as an independent non-executive director
of certain listed companies on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, namely, Kingmaker Footwear
Holdings Limited, Capital Industrial Financial Services Group
Limited (formerly known as Shougang Concord Grand (Group)
Limited), West China Cement Limited and BeijingWest Industries
International Limited. Mr. Tam King Ching, Kenny retired from
the office as an independent non-executive director by rotation
at the annual general meeting of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance
Holdings Limited held on 18th August, 2023. He resigned as an
independent non-executive director of Wisdom Education
International Holdings Company Limited with effect from
31st May, 2024.
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Ms. Elizabeth Law, aged 69, was appointed as Independent
Non-Executive Director, member of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company with effect from 1st April, 2023. Ms. Law graduated
from McGill University, Canada in 1976. She is a Chartered
Professional Accountant, Chartered Accountant of Canada, a
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (Practising), a fellow member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a fellow
member of Certified Public Accountant of Australia. She is the
Managing Director of Law & Partners CPA Limited and
Proprietor of Stephen Law & Company. Ms. Law is an
independent non-executive director of Sunwah Kingsway Capital
Holdings Limited, Clifford Modern Living Holdings Limited, The
Wharf (Holdings) Limited, Onewo Inc. and Wise Ally

International Holdings Limited, shares of the aforesaid

companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.
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LIST OF PROPERTIES

Following is the list of properties held by subsidiaries of the

Group as at 31st March, 2024:

Locations

b B

1. 3/F, Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau Street,

Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong

FRNEIERMABEIREXTERNEE

2. Car park numbers L3, L4, L5 and P37 at Perfect
Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

ERENEFEEABEREXLEKREL, L4, L5
K P375% ¥ fi

3. Unit 1, 5/F, Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau
Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong*

BERENEFBERABEIREXLEREBIF =

4. Unit 2, 5/F, Perfect Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau

Street, Sanpokong, Kowloon, Hong Kong*

BRNEFERAFENREXTEREE2R =

5.  Flat E, 37/F, Block 1A, The Arch, No. 1 Austin Road
West, Kowloon, Hong Kong*

FRNEN L @EMR SR PIIARB37BEE

6.  Land-use-right and factory premises at 189, Kaifa
Avenue, Guangzhou Economic & Technological

Development District, PRC

B N AR BT B B [ B B OKEN89E 2 L (B
A 4 K R

7. FEEMMARREEETAHEI49510045
R E MR R E 145510045

S

RZZE_WF=A=+—HHAEBEZHER A
BZWEMT :

% of interest held

Approximate area Existing use by the Group
rEBERERES
BAEE B AR Ao
(Sq.m.)
(F 75 K)
1,849 Office and 100%
warehouse
MRERERE 100%
In aggregate 75 Car parks 100%
AH#H75 BHAL 100%
340 Industrial unit for 100%
lease
T E¥BEA 100%
384 Industrial unit for 100%
lease
AT B 100%
38 Residential unit for 100%
lease
B FEEEM 100%
11,448 (land) Factory 100%
(L)
3,350 (factory
premises)
(B 5)
B 100%
124 Staff quarter 100%
BETIRES 100%
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Locations

it B

10.

11.

12.

*

Land-use-right and factory premises at Muxi Liu Lu,
Muxi Industry Zone, Shaoguan City, Guangdong
Province, PRC

BB TOARR TR REIRRNEE 2 i A R

Land-use-right and factory premises at No.88 Hu Tai
Xin Road,
Province, PRC

Liuvhe Town Taicang City, Jiangsu

T BT & KR OB T A IR )T BR885R 2 £ i A
kmBE

Land-use-right and factory premises at No.98 Hu Tai
Xin Road, Liuhe Town Taicang City, Jiangsu
Province, PRC

BT #F A K B T 81 SRR K HT K985k 2 L it (E
1% kR B

Leasehold land and factory premises at PLO 17,
Jalan Persiaran Teknologi, Taman Teknologi Johor,
81400 Senai, Johor, Malaysia

BIRFE B L HBINPLO 17, Jalan Persiaran Teknologi,
Taman Teknologi Johor, 81400 Senai, 2 & + i
K=

111 Somerset Road #10-0T 111 Somerset, Singapore
111 Somerset Road #10-01 111 Somerset, ¥ i

These properties situated in Hong Kong and held by the Group as investment *
properties (Note 15), are under medium term lease.

U

Approximate area

BMAER
(Sq.m.)
(F77K)

126,358 (land)
(L)
99,702 (factory

premises)

(B 5)

19,760 (land)
(==:0))
10,238 (factory

premises)

(B )

63,860 (land)
()
34,872 (factory

premises)

(B )

12,140

81

% of interest held

Existing use by the Group

rEEBEES
BAAR Bk
Factory 100%
= 100%
Factory 100%
B 55 100%
Factory 100%
& = 100%
Factory 100%
& = 100%
Office 100%
FiNES 100%

WEWELMIREE  FEBIFFERREYE (HT15)

WP R FRFFH
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

i
pwec

To the Shareholders of Starlite Holdings Limited

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Starlite Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),

which are set out on pages 80 to 200, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31st March, 2024;

. the consolidated income statement for the year then
ended;
o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for

the year then ended;

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and
. the notes to the consolidated financial statements,

comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31st March, 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities

in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion

on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as

follows:
o Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets;

and

o Provision for inventories obsolescence.
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Key Audit Matter
REERTEE

B2 BE RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNENMEERRESEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets

ME - BERRE HRAREEURFRBDEEZANRZHENME

Refer to Notes 4(a), 14, 16 and 34.7 to the consolidated
financial statements
FERRGE BRI it4a), 14, 16/34.7

The Group has approximately HK$359,961,000 of property,
plant and equipment (“PP&E”), right-of-use assets (“ROU”)
and prepayments for non-current assets as at 31st March,
2024, of which approximately HK$79,363,000,
HK$237,753,000 and HK$42,845,000 are related to the
Group’s production plant and machinery, ROU and
prepayments for non-current assets in eastern and southern
China and Malaysia respectively. The Group’s eastern and
southern China segments and Malaysia are three separate
Cash Generating Units, with eastern China and Malaysia are
generating profit of approximately HK$14,397,000 and
HK$8,594,000 respectively, while southern China is suffering
from loss for the year of approximately HK$5,999,000. The
recovery of the economic performance of the assets in
eastern China, southern China and Malaysia were slower
than expected due to global market sentiment and intense
competition

SER-—ZFT-NF=ZA=+—HNYE BEELKETY
% BELEE]D) ERABEE(EREEED ARERD
& E 2 FA K 73359,961,0000 7T 0 H 4 £979,363,00078
7T ~ 237,753,00078 7T UA }42,845,0008 L B EE 5 57
ER FEALRFSRATHNEERE MBS EREEEN
&#ﬁ%ﬁ?Zﬁﬁﬁﬁ%° EEENER EEESEXR

TOBR=-ZEBIRCELEN RAFEERRESE X

35 9 B EE & 22 M £914,397,00078 7T 128,594,000/ 7T - ifi
F’ﬁfﬁvﬁ%}éﬁ,ﬁm,%aooo;‘%ﬁ CER EMELBTRATEE
BRERBNERSREENLE TEARREMEIERE
KRR -

We performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

BIVET T AT RFARRBERENFHE:

o We obtained an understanding of management’s
internal control and assessment process of the
preparation of cash flow projection and assessed
the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors such as
complexity, subjectivity, changes and susceptibility
to management bias or fraud.

. THREEEMRAMEE RN ERRSRETRAMNF
HEE  WBBEERMEF 2 THETEEEE R EME
ERBEZSHKT(MEME THE EHRY
ERERAREFEOGFEMN) T EERERRAN
E A 2 g o

U We evaluated management’s identification of the
impairment indicators by corroborating with
supporting evidence for the PP&E, ROU and
prepayments for non-current assets in eastern and
southern China and Malaysia.

. ARERREMURSRATHYE  BHER&RE -
EREEEANERGEEZRNKME » HAFIA
MEX Xt RER  HEREMRBNNRERR
HEITRHE -

U We involved our in-house valuation expert in
assessing the methodology of management’s
impairment assessment based on the value in use
calculation and the fair value less cost of disposal
model, and the key assumptions used in the
management’s impairment assessment of the PP&E,
ROU, and prepayments for non-current assets.

. BMPAAREEERFEREEEREEREER
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Key Audit Matter
MEERTEE

B ZBE RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNESNMEERRESEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets

(Continued)

ME-BERRE ERAEEEURFIADEEZANRZHER MG ()

Management assessed the recoverable amounts of the PP&E,
ROU and prepayments for non-current assets in eastern and
southern China and Malaysia separately as three Cash
Generating Units, and based on the higher of values in use
or fair values less cost of disposal. The values in use and
fair values less cost of disposal of the PP&E, ROU, and
prepayments for non-current assets for these three segments
are determined by management based on the future cash
flow generated by these assets and the market value of
these assets respectively. Management engaged independent
external valuer to assist them to value these assets. Based
on management’s impairment assessment, no impairment
charge is recognised for all Cash Generating Units.
EEEERNEREEIAABEREEXRANRSE K
THERREAUALERAT=-ABIRcELELNY
X BELRRB EREEENLIFADEEZENTD
AREEE EEEORNRBESEEMEENRARRAS
MEARMEEENTSEE BEE=ZE2B2WE &K
Eh#&fE CRBEEENNERDEEZANRNERE
BERAABEREEKRE - BIEEIEF BN G ER A
BYHEREBERELFEENEE REEEEORENDE
AEEMBRYURCEEEM Y ERRERRER

For value in use calculations, we assessed the
management’s impairment assessments based on the
future cash flow forecasts, by comparing sales
growth rates to the underlying assumptions in the
latest Board approved budgets and the discount
rates to the cost of capital for the Company and
comparable organisations. We tested the
mathematical accuracy of the calculations of the
management’s impairment assessments derived from
the forecast models and assessed key inputs in the
calculations by reference to management’s approved
budgets. We also checked the key data inputs, on a
sample basis, of management’s approved budgets
by reference to third parties information such as
purchase orders, and we assessed the historical
reliability of the budgets.

BREREEMAEMS  RAEBE E/FRHE
EFeHANBETOERBRROHEEERETRE
SRR R AT A L BRI A E
BERBEARAKRSMETABETOREFTE - HA
AATEREMBEINERSHNREFEFENE
BRI W2 EEE ML EREFETED
REABE RAT2ERBIESE=-HEH
ik >3 EAIEJ'E'JZ‘“?R/E?E SR B E - L B AY
HEENESLASE

We assessed the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent external valuers.
BPIRHE T BN A EMM B ERE S - BN RE
B
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Key Audit Matter
REERTEE

B2 BE RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNENMEERRESEE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for non-current assets

(Continued)

ME-BERFRE ERAREEURFIADEEZANRZHER MG ()

We focused on this area because significant judgements are
involved in management’s impairment assessment in the
determination of the recoverable amounts of the PP&E, ROU
and prepayments for non-current assets which are based on
various key assumptions and estimates such as sales growth
rates and discount rates in the value in use calculations and
other assumptions and data inputs such as comparable
transactions and market values in determining the fair
values.

BAEIRE 2ERAERENRBEN Y RERHEG
HIAERNEEDNE BELRE EREEENLIERY
BEZEMNROATKROEERERZHBREKRER LY KK
HEMMGF PINBEERRIRAECREENBRER
HibBRBARBAZE  JIMAELBORZARTISE
BAETEQAAEBME:

,;
g
;

We also performed sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions underlying management’s impairment
assessments based on the cash flow forecasts by
considering the variables and fluctuations in those
underlying key assumptions by checking to
available market information and other supporting
evidence.

BMTERERAMBRBRNEHEL LD HE
BERBEARRSMSEAETREN HHEEE
REZETHRBEIN  ZHEEMBEN L

mik

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered

the key assumptions and estimates used by management

in

assessing the impairment of PP&E, ROU and

prepayments for non-current assets to be supportable.
RIBEALMETHOREF RMBAR/EEEANFEDE -
BELkZE ERAREENRIERDEE 2 BN RER
BT AR -
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Key Audit Matter
MEERTEE

Provision for inventory obsolescence

REFEZRHE

Refer to Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements
BRI A BIHREN 19

At 31st March, 2024, the Group held inventories of
approximately HK$76,190,000, net of provision of inventory
obsolescence of approximately HK$20,091,000. Among
these inventories, there are raw materials of approximately
HK$26,953,000, work
HK$17,567,000 and finished goods of HK$31,670,000.

Inventories are stated at lower of cost or net realisable

in progress of approximately

value.

RZF_WMEF=ZA=Z+-—H BEEERAFEY
76,190,000/ 7T * 1B BR B 17 & 2 Ik {8 3 & #920,091,00078
Lo EREFEF R A4 R26953,000/8 T - E%zu“ui@
#317,567,000/% JL » & $FK &4 #) 7331,670,0008 T ° 17 & L
B 7R Sk A 3R FE B BR o

Management assessed the provision for inventory
obsolescence periodically based on consideration of
potential obsolescence and slow moving of raw materials
and work in progress, and the estimated selling price less
cost to sell of its finished goods. The identification of
inventory obsolescence and determination of estimated
selling price less cost to sell require the use of significant
judgements by considering various factors, including their
nature, ageing, and the latest selling price.
ERERBHEERERBHEHORMHARESR R UARE
BEREHNEAEEREENANEE EHAEREFE
MEE BIREFELREEHAEERDEXRAERER
EARHEHYERLZHEAER  SBHEAME BRENEE-

B ZBE RS

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMHNESNMEERRESEE

We performed the following procedures to address this

key audit matter:

HAE

TTRTREFABRERENFR:

We obtained an understanding of management’s

internal control and assessment process of

management’s estimation of provision for
impairment of inventories and assessed the inherent
risk of material misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and level of other
such as complexity,

inherent risk factors

subjectivity, changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.
THREEEMNAREEREREMIAFERER
BHOEBRE TRREEBMHAZIRELERER
HiE A RBEEEAKT(MERE T8 &
HLHERERAXFENGFBMN) FHEERER
Rl B & A LB e
We understood, evaluated and tested the key
controls on management’s periodic assessment of
provision for inventory obsolescence across the
Group.

BMTH FERAKAETEEEHFE EEER
EFaREnrREs -

We tested, on a sample basis, the inventory ageing

by comparing the inventory records with the

underlying documents.
BB B BT EREERRXT  mEAATE

5 A

HET °
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
HREETSER RMNEFTNAEEHERERTER

Provision for inventory obsolescence (Continued)

REFEZBEGE

We regarded this as a key audit matter as provision for e We reviewed the subsequent utilisation of various
inventory obsolescence required management judgements on raw materials and work in progress, on a sample
estimates of future demands and ageing of the inventories. basis, to assess the appropriateness of the associated
HMBULARERETSE SHRAREFTERBEZTEER provision made, if any.

[E 8 17 & MR R T SRk B B fh AT I - . BMHERESERM M RERREROERIE

Ao ARHEREREEE (WA EERE -

o We reviewed the subsequent sales of finished
goods. We tested, on a sample basis, the
subsequent selling price of different products and
compared with the average unit costs.

. BMESRRMmEENHEE  RABENATRE
A EL 1R 0 (B I S 9 B AL A AN PR LB

Based on the procedures performed above, we considered
the estimates made by management in assessing the

provision for inventory obsolescence to be supported by

available evidence.
BEALMETHRERF RMRBRAEERE R HERE K
BHTERERMELENETETBSRELF-
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to

be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we

are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in

this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial

Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal

control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and

related disclosures made by the directors.

J Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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J Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

J Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this

independent auditor’s report is Wilson Chan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27th June, 2024
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains — net

Selling and distribution costs

General and administrative expenses

Reversal of impairment losses/
(impairment losses) on

financial assets

Operating profit
Finance income

Finance costs

Finance costs — net

Profit before income tax

Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share attributable to the
owners of the Company for the year
(expressed in HK cents per share)

— Basic

— Diluted

ma R Ex
BHE_ZT-_WWF=A=+—BLFE

Year ended 31st March,
BE=A=1+—-HLEE

2024 2023
—E-mEF —EZ=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 7 FExT FET
A 834,749 923,236
5 B 7 (663,542) (758,873)
EF 171,207 164,363
Ha ARz — F58 6 12,653 19,205
HERDHEE A 7 (49,803) (51,705)
—MRITEAX 7 (112,036) (114,967)
SREERMEEEBLRE
CRE/sE)
4,288 (2,878)
KERR 26,309 14,018
BE WA 3,196 1,278
B & R A (4,434) (5,673)
BEKAN — FHE 8 (1,238) (4,395)
R i 51 0 A 25,071 9,623
EHHAX 11 (8,079) (4,343)
AE R R 16,992 5,280
EAEREF (BR) :
KARER A 17,422 6,478
TR R i = (430) (1,198)
16,992 5,280
RERABEB A
EiEERAF
(BBRABILZH) 12
— AR 3.45 1.26
— B 3.45 1.26

The above consolidated income statement should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

bt e & R 2K B B B B B — GF ARG -
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024 HE-_ZT-_NF=A=+—HILEFE

Year ended 31st March,

ZEA=t-HLEE
2024 2023
—E-MmE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Profit for the year A EREF 16,992 5,280
Other comprehensive loss: Hte2EAEE
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss A] B8 BT 9 1 15 7 57 18 B
Currency translation differences ER =R (29,712) (25,278)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss &1 & B 7 ¥ F 18 2 1918 A
Decrease in fair value of financial assets at fair BRRNEEF AEAMEE WS
value through other comprehensive income WeRMEEZAABERMD (89) (256)
Total other comprehensive loss for the year, REHMPHEEBELRE
net of tax BB 1% (29,801) (25,534)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AFEEEBEEE (12,809) (20,254)
Total comprehensive loss for the year EEAFEMEBRARE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KRABEA A (12,379) (19,056)
Non-controlling interests FEVE IR HE 2= (430) (1,198)
(12,809) (20,254)

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income — _Fill4R& 2 F U 7 M8 B EE I 2 T 5= — OF 4859 -
should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION ma

As at 31st March, 2024

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Right-of-use assets
Prepayments for non-current assets
Deferred income tax assets
Financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income

Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and bill receivables
Prepayments and deposits
Tax recoverable
Bank deposits with maturity over
3 months from date of deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to the owners of the
Company
Share capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

N\
NN

aE

ERBEE
ME BB RER
BREME
EREEE
FRBDEEZENR
RIEFISTHE E
BARBEFSAECEE
WaHnERmEE
BAEEFABRED
EWMEE

B & E
a0
E5EkERRERE
ENRERERS
o] ik 81 754 3
Mm% AR EEE

=EAFEBIER
BeRASEME

REE

R
RARERAEMGES

SRR

A

7

B 7% AR R &
ZWE=A=+—H
As at 31st March,
R=A=+—H
2024 2023
ZE-mF —E=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHET FAT
14 335,513 347,349
15 16,269 16,866
16 22,550 26,762
20 1,898 3,599
24 10,524 11,906
18 1,090 1,179
18 12,186 12,077
400,030 419,738
19 76,190 86,873
20 172,336 172,865
20 25,196 22,142
53 91
21 202 8,764
21 217,432 243,019
491,409 533,754
891,439 953,492
25 50,063 50,664
27 574,690 592,710
624,753 643,374
332 762
625,085 644,136




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31st March, 2024

e MBMRR R

RZZE-ME=A=+—H

As at 31st March,

R=A=+—8H
2024 2023
—E-@OF —E=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FHER FAT
LIABILITIES afE
Non-current liabilities FkRBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 2,970 5,111
Deferred income tax liabilities RIS AE 24 6,601 5,393
9,571 10,504
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and bill payables BHRMNERRER 23 90,424 93,712
Other payables and accruals HiENRRETEE 23 72,234 85,854
Contract liabilities ERNAaE 5 4,754 7,148
Current income tax liabilities ENERFRIS R B & 23,877 24,134
Borrowings A& 22 61,959 84,130
Lease liabilities HEBE 16 3,535 3,874
256,783 298,852
Total liabilities amEeE 266,354 309,356
Total equity and liabilities EERkABERAHE 891,439 953,492
The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 200 were  £80E £2008B 2 iR MBHKRER T _WF KA

approved by the Board of Directors on 27th June, 2024 and

were signed on its behalf.

Lam Kwong Yu
M
Chairman

TE

The above consolidated statement of financial position should

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

“TtREESeRHERRERES -

Poon Kwok Ching
B E B
Director

EF

bl AR A B TR 2R e LA MY 2 B R — GFARET o
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84 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #HRER=E X

For the year ended 31st March, 2024 BE-_Z-_ME=ZA=+—HIEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

RDRER AES
Non-
Share Reserves controlling Total
capital (Note 27) Sub-total interests equity
&1
A (P 5E27) NE O FREREE s A

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TAET THET TETL

Balances at 31st March, 2022 R=-ZE=-=-f#=§
and at 1st April, 2022 =+—-HER=-ZZ=-Z
A—R#& 51,864 618,781 670,645 — 670,645

Comprehensive income/(loss) 2EWE(FR)

Profit/(loss) for the year AEHM,/ (FR) — 6,478 6,478 (1,198) 5,280
Other comprehensive loss Hittz2HEE
Decrease in fair value of BARBEFTAEM

financial assets at fair 2EBENEREE

value through other 2R BERD

comprehensive income — (256) (256) — (256)
Currency translation differences JEX £ — (25,278) (25,278) — (25,278)

Total other comprehensive loss, H it 2 & 18 4 58
net of tax — BRBi# — (25,534) (25,534) — (25,534)

Total comprehensive loss for AFELHBERE
the year — (19,056) (19,056) (1,198) (20,254)

Transactions with owners in HENAREBAZ

their capacity as owners BEARS
Dividends paid (Note 13) BB (M E13) — (5,096) (5,096) — (5,096)
Share repurchases &5 B (1,200) (1,919 (3,119 — (3,119
Contributions from non- FERERZHEREA

controlling interests — — — 1,960 1,960

Balance at 31st March, 2023 R-ZBE-=%=A
=t+—H#&&% 50,664 592,710 643,374 762 644,136




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #4ZLriEeEZEFH K

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

Balances at 31st March, 2023
and at 1st April, 2023

Comprehensive income/(loss)

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive loss

Decrease in fair value of
financial assets at fair
value through other
comprehensive income

Currency translation differences

Total other comprehensive loss,

net of tax

Total comprehensive loss for

the year

Transactions with owners in
their capacity as owners
Dividends paid (Note 13)

Share repurchases

Balance at 31st March, 2024

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should

R-ZE-=F=A8
=+-HRZ=ZEZ-=F
A —R&

2EWE(F1R)
AEEMN,/ (BE)

HitzEER

BAREEFARD
EHRENEREE
ZRABERD

ERER

Hit2HEELH
— BB

AE2HEBRER

HERBERAZ
BEARS

B S (HEE13)

1% 17 i [l

R-Z-ME=A
=t+-B&&

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

BE-_T_NE=A=+-HLEE
Attributable to owners of the Company
AAFEEAES
Non-
Share Reserves controlling Total
capital (Note 27) Sub-total interests equity
=R
i 2 (Bt 5£27) Pt FERER ERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTET TRz TET FTET
50,664 592,710 643,374 762 644,136
— 17,422 17,422 (430) 16,992
— (89) (89) — (89)
— (29,712) (29,712) — (29,712)
— (29,801) (29,801) — (29,801)
— (12,379) (12,379) (430) (12,809)
— (5,006) (5,006) — (5,006)
(601) (635) (1,236) — (1,236)
50,063 574,690 624,753 332 625,085

b AR A R e B ) K e BLRE P 2 B — R ARGT -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest paid
Hong Kong profits tax paid
Hong Kong profits tax refunded
Overseas income tax paid

Overseas income tax refunded

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments of property, plant and
equipment

Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment

Investment in financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Decrease/(increase) in short-term bank
deposits with maturity over 3
months from the date of deposits

Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank loans
Repayments of bank loans
Principal elements of lease payments
Interest elements of lease payments
Dividends paid
Share repurchases

Net cash used in financing activities

N\
NN

7

mERERER
BHE_ZT-_WWF=A=+—BLFE

Year ended 31st March,

=A=+—-BLEE
2024 2023
—E-mE —E =4
Note HK$/000 HK$'000
k=2 FH T FHET
KETBHoBHERE
KEEBELEZRE® 28(a) 46,771 90,270
AT ALE (4,165) (5,389)
BEREBFEH — (194)
BEREBTBNER — 2,623
BREINTER (3,038) (1,053)
BIREBINTER 240 —
KETBHELEZREFE
39,808 86,257
RETEBZ2RERE
W BB REEZ TR
(44,555) (48,632)
LEWME  WEREEZ
Fri3 U A 28(b) 2,464 1,910
BEEARNEES ARG
HEREE — (3,337)
mEHBERTERBR
=@ A B H 2 R ERRTT
TR L,/ (35 ) 8,562 (8,562)
24 F 8 3,196 1,278
BEFRDA RS FE (30,333) (57,343)
MEZTBH2EHESRE
FIZRITER 28(d) 18,404 10,000
EERITER 28(d) (38,635) (62,753)
HENREEEH 28(d) (3,946) (5,563)
HE R FF S 28(d) (269) (284)
2R E 13 (5,006) (5,096)
f& 17 B 2] (1,236) (3,119)
MEEBMAZR S FE (30,688) (66,815)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #4AB S HREXR 87
For the year ended 31st March, 2024 HE-_T-_NWF=A=+—RHLFE

Year ended 31st March,

ZEA=Et-HLEE
2024 2023
—E-_mE —ETZ=F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FTHET FET
Net decrease in cash and cash RERRESEEZFERD
equivalents (21,213) (37,901)
Cash and cash equivalents at the FUZREeRAELEE
beginning of the year 243,019 285,422
Exchange losses on cash and RekBHeHEERLBRE
cash equivalents 4,374) (4,502)
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of TR CEESREESZE
the year 21 217,432 243,019

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read  L#l#4 AR S REREHEFEW 2 Ml cE —FFARRT -
in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

General information

Starlite Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an
investment holding company. Its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the printing and manufacturing of
packaging materials, labels and paper products, including
environmentally friendly paper products. The Company
and its subsidiaries are collectively referred to the

“Group”.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on
3rd November, 1992, as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Victoria
Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10,
Bermuda and its principal place of business is 3/F, Perfect
Industrial Building, 31 Tai Yau Street, Sanpokong,
Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares have been
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since
1993.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in

Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collectively
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss which is

measured at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
and estimates are

assumptions significant to the

consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(@ New and amended standards adopted by the
Group
The Group has applied the following new and
amended standards for the first time for the
financial year beginning 1st April, 2023 and are

relevant to its operations.

e

Bt % R MY AL
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RETAEBUBMELLZ i*/—\ﬁﬂ“kiﬁz%%
FRERETHRREA G EEEBNAR
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@@ AEEERAZHEURERZET

AEEER-_T_=FNA—BHED
PHREEEREAATHEBEIERR
56 B T 2E Rl o E R 2 B RT

Amendments to
HKAS 1 and

HKFRS Practice

Statement 2
Amendments to

HKAS 8
Amendments to

HKAS 12

Amendments to

HKAS 12

HKFRS 17

HKFRS 17

Amendments to
HKFRS 17

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax Related to
Assets and Liabilities
Arising From a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules

Insurance Contracts
Initial Application of

HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 —
Comparative information

Amendments to HKFRS 17
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(a)

(b)

New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Continued)

The amendment listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the

current or future periods.

New standards, amendments to standards
and interpretation (collectively refer as
“Amendments”) that are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the
Group

Certain amendments to existing standards and
interpretation have been published that are not
mandatory for 31st March, 2024 reporting periods
and have not been early adopted by the Group.
These standards are not expected to have a
material impact on the entity in the current or
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future

transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS mEMBHRRME

2 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2 mREEE)
(b) New standards, amendments to standards by MEAREMEBREAEEHKRREERHZ
and interpretation (collectively refer as FMERERARZBEB B (B
“Amendments”) that are not yet effective [&&T 1) ()

and have not been early adopted by the
Group (Continued)

Effective for annual

periods beginning

on or after
FEHABEMEAR
L#EER
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- 1st January, 2024
current
ARG ERFE IR ZEET KEEDBRRDHIFERD —ZT-mME-HA—H
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1st January, 2024
BRGHERFE IR ZEBET M ROIERNIERS BE —E-HmE—-A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback 1st January, 2024
BREMBRELAEIREZ ERMAEMEEEE —T-mMFE—-H—H
7]
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — 1st January, 2024
(Revised) Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
BB REER (BB HBRERNEY — ERAHHTRERLERE —T-_WF—HA—H
RN ERERZ2HHA
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements 1st January, 2024
HKFRS 7
BREHERNFTREBENE HEFBRERS —E-HmE—-A—H
W ERE7R ZERT
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1st January, 2025
BB ERIE219 2 BT R A R —E_RF—HA—H
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets between an To be determined
HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
BB IREERNBE105 & REEBRABERAHEZERERZHN BEHEE
TR G ERIFE28R 2 EF] BEHLEITE
None of the above Amendments is expected to FEH PR ETS TR AERE B R
have a material impact on the consolidated K EMENEEMBRE - RARK

=

financial statements of the Group in the current or KOZGERERTE -
future reporting periods and on foreseeable future

transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s principal activities expose it to a
variety of financial risks: market risk (including
foreign exchange risk, fair value interest rate risk
and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk,
liquidity risk and price risk. The Group’s overall
risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to
minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried
out by senior management of the Group under
policies approved by the Board of Directors of the
Company.

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
Subsidiaries of the Company operate
in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”), Hong Kong, Singapore and
Malaysia with most transactions
denominated in either Renminbi
(“RMB”), Hong Kong dollars, Singapore
dollars (“SGD”), United States dollars
(“US$”) or Malaysian ringgit (“RM”).
The Group is exposed to foreign
exchange risk primarily through sales
and purchases transactions that are
denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the relevant
subsidiary. The Group considers its
foreign currency exposure mainly
arises from the exposure of RMB and
SGD against Hong Kong dollars and/or
US$. As Hong Kong dollars is pegged
to US$, the Group believes the
exposure of transactions denominated
in US$ which are entered by group
companies with a functional currency
of Hong Kong dollars to be

insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

The Group manages its exposures to
foreign currency transactions by
monitoring the level of foreign
currency receipts and payments. The
Group ensures that the net exposure
to foreign exchange risk is kept to an
acceptable level from time to time.
The Group also regularly reviews the
portfolio of local and international
customers and the currencies in which
the transactions are denominated so as
to minimise the Group’s exposure to

foreign exchange risk.

As at 31st March, 2024, the Group’s
borrowings are mainly denominated in
Hong Kong dollars for operation in
Hong Kong and RMB for operation in
the PRC. At present, the management
does not expect that there will be any
significant foreign exchange risk
associated with the Group’s
borrowings and the Group did not use
any financial instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange risk arising from the

Group's borrowings during the year.

At 31st March, 2024, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2023:
5%) against Hong Kong dollars with
all other variables held constant,
pre-tax profit for the year would have
been approximately HK$142,000 (2023:
HK$106,000) higher/lower, mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(i)

o
NN

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2024, if RMB had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2023:
US$ with all

variables held constant, pre-tax profit

5%) against other

for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,368,000 (2023:
HK$1,585,000) higher/lower,

as a result of foreign exchange gains/

mainly

losses on translation of cash and bank

balances, trade receivables, trade
payables and borrowings denominated
in non-functional currency of the

relevant group companies.

At 31st March, 2024, if SGD had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2023:
US$ with all

variables held constant, pre-tax profit

5%) against other

for the year would have been
approximately HK$1,172,000 (2023:
HK$872,000) higher/lower, mainly as
a result of foreign exchange gains/
losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, and trade
payables denominated in
non-functional currency of the relevant

group companies.

At 31st March, 2024, if RM had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2023:
US$ with all

variables held constant, pre-tax profit

5%) against other
would have been
approximately HK$389,000 (2023:
HK$344,000) higher/lower, mainly as

a result of foreign exchange gains/

for the vyear

losses on translation of cash and bank
balances, trade receivables, and trade
payables denominated in
non-functional currency of the relevant

group companies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(@)  Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

At 31st March, 2024, if EUR had
strengthened/weakened by 5% (2023:
5%) against Hong Kong dollars with
all other variables held constant,
pre-tax profit for the year would have
been approximately HK$2,975,000
(2023: HK$3,291,000) higher/lower,
mainly as a result of foreign exchange
gains/losses on translation of cash and
bank balances, trade receivables and
trade payables denominated in
non-functional currency of the relevant

group companies.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk

As the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for the
cash and bank balances, the Group’s
income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes

in market interest rates.

As at 31st March, 2024 and 2023, the
Group’s interest rate risk mainly arises
from bank borrowings. The Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank
borrowings. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate arising from

the Group’s bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

@

b

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk (Continued)
At 31st March, 2024, if interest rates
on bank borrowings had been 10 basis
points higher/lower with all other
variables held constant, post-tax profit
for the year would have been
HK$50,000 (2023: HK$67,000) lower/
higher, mainly as a result of higher/

lower interest expense on floating rate

bank borrowings.

Credit risk
The credit risk of the Group mainly arises
from trade receivables and deposits with

banks and financial institutions.

Credit risk on trade debtors is managed by
the managements of the individual business
units and monitored by the Group’s
Most

renowned.

management on a group basis.
customers are sizable and
Management assesses the credit quality of
smaller customers by considering their
financial position, past experience therewith
and other relevant factors. The utilisation of
credit limits is regularly monitored. Debtors
with overdue balances will be requested to

settle their outstanding balances.

At 31st March, 2024, the Group had a
concentration of credit risk as 36% (2023:
29%) of the total trade receivable were due
from the Group’s five largest customers and
20% (2023: 6%) of the total trade receivable

were due from the Group’s largest customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measure expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss

allowance for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the

days past due.

The Group categorises its trade receivables,
based on the nature and geographical areas
of the business, shared credit risk
characteristics and ageing profile collectively.
The expected credit loss rates are determined
based on past repayment history and
historical credit losses experience. The
expected credit loss rates are adjusted to
reflect current and forward-looking
information on macroeconomic factors

affecting the ability of the customers to settle

the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at
31st March, 2024 and 2023 was determined

as follows for trade receivables:

As at 31st March, 2024
R-ZE-_mE=ZA=+-H

Expected loss rate TBEEEX

Gross carrying amount REEE(TEL
(HK$'000) — trade — B9RIER
receivables

Loss allowance (HK$'000) BERE(TET

As at 31st March, 2023

RZE-_=5=A=+—H

Expected loss rate FEHEEE

Gross carrying amount rEEE(TET)
(HK$'000) — trade — BHRKER
receivables

Loss allowance (HK$’000) EEEE(TET)

Movements in loss allowance for trade

receivables are shown in Note 20.

e I RR A
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M¥REEE (&)
31 M¥EREEGE)
(b) EEmEE)
B EE N E (F)
REEE R-_T-_NFR=-F
T=F=R=+—-HEZREKE
ReBRBEBETET
0-90 91-180 181-365 Over
days days days 365 days Total
0-90H 91-1808 181-365H #Ei@365H H
0.7% 26.7% 70.6% 100.0%
169,159 1,772 2,869 8,952 182,752
1,195 474 2,025 8,952 12,646
0-90 91-180 181-365 Over
days days days 365 days Total
0-90H 91-180E 181-365H #iB365H B
0.7% 17.3% 37.4% 100.0%
163,013 8,206 6,799 12,497 190,515
1,193 1,418 2,542 12,497 17,650
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

b

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst
others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a

repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables is
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited

against the same line item.

Deposits are subject to impairment
requirement of HKFRS 9. The credit quality
of other receivables has been assessed with
reference to historical information about the
default rates and financial position of the
counterparties. Management is of the opinion
that the credit risk of deposits is low due to
the sound collection history and financial
stability of the counterparties. Therefore,
expected credit loss rate of the other
receivables is assessed to be immaterial as
of 31st March, 2024 and 2023.

The Group has policies that limit the amount
of credit exposure to any individual financial
institution. The Group’s bank deposits are all
deposited in renowned and established banks
or financial institutions in Hong Kong,
Malaysia and the PRC.

Management considers that the credit risk

Singapore,

associated with deposits with banks and

financial institutes is low.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(©)

Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies
maintaining sufficient cash and the
availability of funding through an adequate
amount of committed credit facilities. Due to
the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group’s management aims to
maintain flexibility in funding by maintaining

availability under committed credit lines.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the
Group’s liquidity reserve which comprises
cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits
with maturity over 3 months from date of
deposits (Note 21) and undrawn borrowing
facilities (Note 30) on the basis of expected

cash flows.

The table below analyses the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the date of statement of
financial position date to contractual
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the
table are the contractual undiscounted cash
flows. Balances due within twelve months
equal their carrying balances, as the impact

of discounting is not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(©)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Specifically, for the bank borrowings which
contain a repayment on demand clause
which can be exercised at the banks’ sole
discretion, the analysis shows the cash
outflow based on the earliest period in
which the Group can be required to pay,
that is if the lenders were to invoke their
unconditional rights to call the loans with

immediate effect.

Group £8

At 31st March, 2024 RZ-Z-_QF
=ZA=t+-—-H

Borrowings mME

Trade and bill payables & Z B ERR KL RE

Lease liabilities HEAR

Other payables H b & {5 3K

Interest payable JE T AILE

At 31st March, 2023 R-ZBEZ=F

ZA=t—H
Borrowings e
Trade and bill payables & Z B ERR KL RE
Lease liabilities HEAE
Other payables H b & 1 3K
Interest payable J& A5 7 8,

3 MHREREEE

e I RR AR 101

31 MBEBREEGE

(© mBEZEREE)
A HRESRITAKER
EROTENEREREERRZ
RITRE THOMEINIEAE
EHRERETNKRFHENRS
T - BB RO 1T {0 B A {1 R
) B B g (3] B K e

Between Between

Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5

On demand 1 year years years
BE B i+ F nF

EREE LIR—F —EZF CZEEF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET FAET FET

51,173 10,786 — —
— 90,424 — —

— 3,736 2,992 54

— 22,984 — —
2,490 187 — —
53,663 128,117 2,992 54
84,130 — — —
— 93,712 — -

- 4,121 2,943 2,349

- 30,705 - -
4,458 - — —

88,588 128,538 2,943 2,349
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)

(d)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising
from its investments in equity securities
which are classified on the consolidated
statement of financial position as financial
assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income. To manage its price
risk arising from investments in equity
securities, the Group diversifies its

investment portfolio.

The equity securities invested by the Group
are publicly traded on The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

At 31st March, 2024, if the prices of the
equity securities invested by the Group had
been lower/higher by 10%, with all other
variables held constant, the Group’s equity
would have been approximately HK$109,000
(2023: HK$118,000) lower/higher.

The fair value of the unlisted insurance
policies invested by the Group will fluctuate,
subject to the returns which are at the
discretion of the issuer of the insurance
policies. Such policies have a minimum
guaranteed returns during the holding period.
Management is of the opinion that the price
these

risk arising from policies is

insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.2

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends
paid to shareholders, repurchase the Company’s
shares, return capital to shareholders, issue new

shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net
gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings (including current and non-current
borrowings, bill payables and lease liabilities as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position) less cash and cash equivalents. Total

capital is calculated as “equity”, as shown in the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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104 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & B B K M

3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBERABEEGE)
3.2 Capital risk management (Continued) 32 EBEXEBREREGE)

The Group's strategy was to maintain a net gearing AREBEZEBAEF FAGLEELR
ratio less than 75%. The Group was in net cash 75%  c REBR _Z_HWHFR_T_=
position as at 31st March, 2024 and 2023. The net FZA=Z+—BREREGKRA R
gearing ratios at 31st March, 2024 and 2023 were THERZE=F=ZA=+—-HZ#%

as follows: EBELEMT
2024 2023
—E-E —TZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET TET
Borrowings (Note 22) & (M 5r22) 61,959 84,130
Bill payables (Note 23) A =i (B 7E23) 292 —
Lease liabilities (Note 16) HEBE(MTF6) 6,505 8,985
Total debts &R 68,756 93,115

Less: cash and cash equivalents 8 : B& KHESEE

(Note 21) (B 5%21) (217,432) (243,019)
Net cash FRE (148,676) (149,904)
Total capital & 7 42 78 625,085 644,136

Net gearing ratio FEELX N/ATER N/AA i A




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
assets including cash and cash equivalents, bank
deposits, trade and bill receivables and deposits
and financial liabilities including trade and bill
payables, other payables and short-term bank
borrowings, approximate their fair values due to

their short-term maturities.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial
instruments carried at fair value as at 31st March,
2024 and 2023 by level of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. Such inputs
are categorised into three levels within a fair value

hierarchy as follows:

— Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

— Inputs other than quoted prices included
within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from

prices) (level 2).

—  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not

based on observable market data (that is,

unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

Fair value estimation (Continued)

At 31st March, 2024

Assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive

income

At 31st March, 2023

Assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive

income

There were no transfers between levels 1,

&
BARBEA

BEM T REE
BARBEETTA
HAth 2 W s 8

TREE

DD;W

2 and 3

during the year ended 31st March 2024 and 2023.

e I RR A

3 MHREREEE

3.3 D AEEZMEE (E)

R-B-_mME=/A=+—8
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E-% Bo& F=H @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FER FET
— —_ 12,186 12,186
1,090 — — 1,090
R-ZBE-==A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
— % B_R E=H AT
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FHET FHT
_ — 12,077 12,077
1,179 — — 1,179
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3

Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3

3.4

Fair value estimation (Continued)

@

(b)

(c)

Financial instruments in level 1

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives, and equity securities) is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price
used for financial assets held by the group is
the current bid price. The quoted market
price already incorporates the market’s
assumptions with respect to changes in
economic climate such as rising interest
rates and inflation, as well as changes due
to ESG risk. These instruments are included

in level 1.

Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that
are not traded in an active market (for
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is
determined by using valuation techniques.
These valuation techniques maximise the use
of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on
entity specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in

level 2.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3. This is the
case for unlisted equity securities and for
instruments where ESG risk gives rise to a
significant unobservable adjustment (Note
18).

Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities

No financial asset and financial liability is subject

to offsetting under an enforceable master netting

arrangement or similar arrangement as at
31st March, 2024 and 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed

to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are

discussed below.

(@) Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group conducts impairment reviews of assets
when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that their carrying amounts may not be recoverable
or annually in accordance with relevant accounting
standards. An impairment loss is recognised when
the carrying amount of an asset is lower than the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In determining the value in use,
management assesses the present value of the
estimated future cash flows expected to arise from
the continuing use of the asset and from its

disposal at the end of its useful life.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(@)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

Management judgement is required in the area of
asset impairment particularly in assessing: (i)
whether an event has occurred that may indicate
that the related asset values may not be
recoverable; (ii) whether the carrying value of an
asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
being the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value-in-use which is the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon
the continued use of the asset in the business; and
(iii) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in preparing cash flow forecast including whether
these cash flow forecast is discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected
by management in assessing impairment, including
the discount rates, the gross profit margin or the
revenue growth rate assumptions in the cash flow
forecast, could affect the net present value used in
the impairment test and as a result affect the

Group’s financial position and results of operations.

As at 31st March, 2024, the Group has certain
non-financial assets, including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and prepayments for
non-current assets in the eastern China segment,
southern China segment and Malaysia, amounting
to approximately HK$79,363,000, HK$237,753,000
and HK$42,845,000 respectively. The recovery of
the economic performance of the assets in eastern
China, southern China and Malaysia were slower
than expected due to global market sentiment and
intense competition. Management considered the
above as impairment indicators for these three cash
generating units and has performed impairment
assessments on these assets. Management has also
performed sensitivity analysis over the key
assumptions of the cash flow forecasts, including
future revenue growth rate and discount rate, in
order to assess the potential impact of a range of
possible outcomes. Details are disclosed in Note
14.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less estimated costs of completion and applicable
variable selling expenses. These estimates are
based on current market conditions and the
historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of a similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in customer
taste and competitor actions in response to industry
cycles. Management reassesses these estimates at

the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making
these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past
history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of each
reporting period. Details of the key assumptions

and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1(b).

Fair value of financial assets

For the fair values of financial assets not traded in
an active market, the Group would use the quoted
price provided by counterparty to estimate the fair
values. For the fair values of financial assets not
based on observable market data, the Group would
use other valuation approaches to measure the fair
values. The methodologies, models and assumptions
used in valuing these financial assets require
judgement by management which are mainly based
on market conditions existing at each reporting
date.

e I RR A

4

E RS E R B (&)

(b)

(c)

(d)
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5  Revenue and segment information 5 WARSHEH
(@) Analysis of revenue by category (@ WARERDHF
Revenue represents the net amounts received and WAREKERE WIS ERE P RIEF
receivable from customers during the year. An B AFAEERALBERINDTMAT

analysis of the Group’s revenue by type for the

year is as follows:

2024 2023
—E-mE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
At a point in time RE— B8
Sales of packaging materials, labels and ~ $H& B EM K - IZH K
paper products, including MEER BERR
environmental friendly paper products MAEE m 817,919 902,643
Others H At 16,830 20,593
834,749 923,236
The Group has recognised the following AEBECHRBTIEKABENGOE
revenue-related contract liabilities: f&
2024 2023
—E-mE o=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
Contract liabilities aHaE 4,754 7,148
Contract liabilities pertain to the non-refundable EHNEBESRIAIRROEPEMK -
advance payment made by customers. There were EHBEETEEREE -

no significant changes in contract liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Analysis of revenue by category (Continued)
The following table shows how much of the
revenue recognised in the respective years related

to carried-forward contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised that was included in
the contract liability balance at

beginning of the year

Accounting Policy

Contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received a consideration (or an amount of
consideration that is due) from the customer. If a
customer pays the consideration before the Group
transfers goods or services to the customer, a
contract liability is recognised when the payment
is made or the payment is due (whichever is
earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the

contract.

Segment information

The chief operating decision-maker (the “CODM”)
of the Group has been identified as the Chairman/
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Operating
segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The
CODM of the Company reviews the Group’s
internal reporting in order to assess performance
and allocate resources. Management has reported
the results of the operating segments based on

these reports.

The CODM of the Company considers the business
from a geographical perspective, i.e. determined by
the location of major factory plants including
Southern China, Eastern China and South East Asia,
and assesses performance based on revenue,
operating profit, profit/(loss) for the year, capital
expenditure, assets and liabilities.

e I RR A

5

WA RDEHER (&)

(@)

FMRAGHNABEHER
SRR /BEA

(b)

WA BB R 2 ()
TREJNFRAZENENEENERSE
EHERRBWANETE -

2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=F
HK$/000 HK$'000
FH T FATT
7,148 4,851

= &
EHBERAKEEKRMEFMRE (X
REFECIH) MEEEEREY
ARBEEF - RONEFRAEEZER
ENIRBEEPAEXNRE B
HEXNAREEINHUAREERE)
ERBERA/ENAGE EAKEETA
AREHNABESRIB/EA -

ARBERE/BERATERARIEL
BREE(ETE2REREE]D - KED
MAMETBEERARERRAL2R—
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Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)

The segment results for the year ended 31st March,
2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Year ended 31st March, 2024

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external customers
at a point in time

Operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax (expense)/credit

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other information:

Additions to property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation

Capital expenditure

Year ended 31st March, 2023

Segment revenue
Inter-segment revenue

Revenue from external customers
at a point in time

Operating profit/(loss)

Finance income
Finance costs
Income tax expense

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other information:

Additions to property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation

Capital expenditure

“B-WE=A
=t-BLEFE
L ON

72 BERA

RE—BERE I
ER WA

G R Al

KA

A 1 2

FAH (%), W%
R (B51R),/ 3 7)
AR
HENE - BERE

e
BEARRX

—E-=fFZ=H

7 B E KA

MR —E B R B M
ER WA

AE A
PR 15 Bt B XX

AE(BE) a8

HitnE# -
MIEME - BE L&

e
BARRX

WARDEHER (&)
(b) 7 EER (E)

HE_Z_MFR-_ZT=_=F=H
Z+—BUEFEZOEELENT ¢

Southern Eastern South East
China China Asia Group
E=) ER R £
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHAT FHT FAET FAET
569,160 250,421 144,313 963,894
1,177) (127,968) — (129,145)
567,983 122,453 144,313 834,749
2,682 15,108 8,519 26,309
2,446 734 16 3,196
(4,000) (183) (251) (4,434)
(7,127) (1,262) 310 (8,079)
(5,999) 14,397 8,594 16,992
32,172 11,198 2,886 46,256
21,499 12,128 8,894 42,521
30,411 11,489 2,655 44,555
615,744 257,909 162,577 1,036,230
(397) (112,597) — (112,994)
615,347 145,312 162,577 923,236
38 23,964 (9,984) 14,018
1,174 82 22 1,278
(5,304) (154) (215) (5,673)
(482) (3,861) — (4,343)
(4,574) 20,031 (10,177) 5,280
27,767 9,566 16,970 54,303
20,474 14,086 11,209 45,769
27,737 4,170 16,865 48,772
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5 Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(b)

(o)

Segment information (Continued)

An analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by
segment as at 31st March, 2024 and 2023 is as
follows:

As at 31st March, 2024 R-ZE-_NE=A
=+-—H

Segment assets DERE E

Segment liabilities DEEE

As at 31st March, 2023 R-ZB=-=%=A
=+-—H

Segment assets DERE E

Segment liabilities DEafE

Information about major customers

Revenue of approximately HK$152,777,000 (2023:
HK$130,939,000) is derived from one external
(2023: one external This
is attributable to the Southern China

customer customer).
revenue

segment.

5 WARZDHEHR(E)
(b) 7 EER(E)
R-E-_EFER-_T

To=FZf=+-
BAKBzABEERBEINOT

Southern Eastern South East
China China Asia Group
E35 ZER M &
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT FAET FET
593,398 168,305 129,736 891,439
153,172 93,974 19,208 266,354
621,308 197,348 134,836 953,492
197,464 79,150 32,742 309,356
c0 EBXEEFER
#9152,777,000%8 (= T = = %F:
130,939, 000;‘%%)9@4&/\;‘%@ 1l9l\§5
EP(ZZE_=F: —lIREP)

—rLly)\J;EAEEﬁ/\4 °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5  Revenue and segment information (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Analysis of revenue by destination of

customer

Revenue from external customers by country, based

on the destination of the customer:

Mainland China and Hong Kong

The United States of America
South East Asia

Europe

Canada

Others

Analysis of non-current assets

TEEERE
e
RAE
B
meEXx
HAt

Non-current assets, other than financial instruments

and deferred income tax assets by country:

Mainland China
Hong Kong
Malaysia

Singapore

Sl
B
R EE
#1003

A M BRRME

5

WA K7 A& # ()

(d) BEFEHNMBZWADH

S EFPIZMREID ZWA  RIEEP

2 B
2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBT FET
270,637 329,909
233,800 217,684
143,772 150,188
119,198 106,571
39,040 48,723
28,302 70,161
834,749 923,236

() FRBEEDM

BemTAMELEMRSHERENI &

WEE D ZIERBDEE :

2024 2023
—EC_E —E-_=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
311,990 322,244
21,395 22,145
21,750 25,472
21,095 24,715
376,230 394,576
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e

Bt % R MY AL

Revenue and segment information (Continued) 5 WA K% &R ()
Accounting Policy B BE
Sales of goods #HEEm
Revenue is recognised when control of the products has WARERHNEHREBEEFPKER B
been transferred to customers, being when the products EEWMRER/MEBBNEX REREX
are delivered in accordance to the delivery/shipping TEI K ) b L@E%ﬁ' FAEERRE#
terms, or when the risk of obsolescence and loss have BEEHMBEXEYMEGHDERN -
been transferred to the customers, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for goods delivery
have been satisfied.
Customers obtain control when the goods are delivered EEVHEXZRTRENXEMER - A
to agreed destination. Revenue is recognised at that point B BSEGIE  WARZE R -
in time.
A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered EUFRERZNEDRER AR ERRK
as this is the point in time that the consideration is BRABRGZEHE (REFKHBEFR
unconditional because only the passage of time is REBEF LA -
required before the payment is due.
Other income and gains — net 6 HitwARWZE — F&
2024 2023
—E-mE =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT TET
Net exchange gains BN s R 3,718 3,752
Gains/(losses) on disposals of property, HEWE WELIEEZ
plant and equipment Wk (E548) 1,914 (357)
Net fair value gains on financial assets at BAREBEFABRRZD
fair value through profit or loss TREEZANEE
Y 25 5 58 109 169
Government grants BT 48 B 3,554 10,718
Others Hth 3,358 4,923
12,653 19,205
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6

Other income and gains — net (Continued)

Accounting Policy

@

(b)

(©)

Interest income
Interest income on financial assets at amortised
cost calculated using the effective interest method

is recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset except for financial assets that
subsequently become credit-impaired. For
credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest
rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the
financial assets (after deduction of the loss

allowance).

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to

receive payment is established.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance
that the grant will be received and the Group will

comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period necessary to match them
with the costs that they are intended to

compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred revenue and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line

basis over the expected lives of the related assets.
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6

Hl AR ks — F8 (&)
B EE
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(0

F B A
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ERERNEERFE REa M ERRE
R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Expenses by nature

Raw materials and consumables used

Sub-contracting charges

Repairs and maintenance

Freight and transportation

Employment benefit expense (including
directors’ emoluments and excluding
severance payment) (Note 9)

Operating lease rentals of premises (Note 16)

(Reversal of)/provision for inventories
obsolescence (Note 19)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (Note 14)

Depreciation of investment properties (Note 15)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16)

Auditor’s remuneration

e Audit services

e Non-audit services

Legal and professional fees

Other expenses

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution

costs, and general and administrative

expenses

e M BRRME

7 BMEHESZRAX

2024 2023
—EC_E —E=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
R AR KB R G 5 A 341,214 414,214
MmIER 36,355 33,502
HIERE 15,518 12,877
BEHER 24,176 30,518
EIRAMAZ(BIEES
e R TRIEENRE)
(Ff$5£9) 277,655 293,941
HAMELKERE e
G 678 850
REFERE(EERR)
B (aE19) (7,627) 2,479
ME BERZBZINE
(MisE14) 37,230 38,880
BEME 2 E (FT7E15) 597 597
FREEEZIE
GEID) 4,694 6,292
% BT B &
o ZH R 3,535 2,967
o X ER TS 341 336
EERBEEA 2,201 2,604
HhF X 88,814 85,488
HEMA  HE RS HE
BRAR—MRITHRAX
e 825,381 925,545
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS mEMBHRRME

8 Finance costs — net

Finance income

Interest income on bank deposits

Finance costs

Interest expense on bank borrowings
Interest expenses on lease liabilities
Interest expenses on under-provision for

income tax

directors’ emoluments)

Salaries, wages and allowances

Discretionary bonus

Pension costs — defined contribution plans

Reversal of provision for long service
payments and annual leave — net

Other welfare and benefits

Employment benefit expense
(including directors’” emoluments and

excluding severance payment) (Note 7)

i

Employment benefit expense (including

8 BEMAE — FHE

2024 2023
—EC_E T =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FAIT
A& WA
|ITF R B WA 3,196 1,278
3,196 1,278
L3922
MITRMEN B (4,165) (5,210)
HEAGBMNBELZE (269) (284)
FTSHEBEGETIRZH A
X — (179)
(1,238) (4,395)
9 EBEIFIMI(BFEEEM)
2024 2023
—E-mEF —E=%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAIT
He TERER 220,814 238,443
BHREZIEA 14,487 13,888
RN AR — AEHKEE 32,111 27,488
EHRBEREBRZ EE
Bl — 58 (20) (1,426)
H o E F & F &= 10,263 15,548
ETRAMAS (BEES
ek reEEEsE)
GEY 277,655 293,941
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Employment benefit expense (including

directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to
join the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”), which is a defined contribution
scheme managed by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, each of the group companies (the employer) and
its employees make monthly contributions to the scheme
at 5% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The
monthly contributions of each of the employer and the
employee are subject to a cap of HK$1,500 and thereafter

contributions are voluntary.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China,
group companies operating in Mainland China contribute
to state-sponsored retirement plans for their employees.
The employees contribute approximately 8% of their
salaries, while the group companies contribute
approximately 14% to 16% of the salaries of their
employees and have no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations

payable to retired employees.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Singapore, the
group company operating in Singapore contributes to the
Singapore Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 20% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 17% of the wages of
its employees. The employer’s and employees’
contributions are subject to a cap of ordinary wages of
SGD6,800 (equivalent to approximately HK$39,600)
during the year ended 31st March, 2024.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Malaysia, the
group company operating in Malaysia contributes to the
Malaysia Central Provident Fund, a statutory pension
scheme. Under the scheme, the employees contribute
approximately 11% of their wages, while the group
company contributes approximately 12% to 13% of the
wages of its employees. The employer’s and employees’

contributions are not subject to a cap.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Employment benefit expense (including

directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

Accounting Policy

(@)

(b)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as
a result of services rendered by employees up to

the date of statement of financial position.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity

leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Retirement benefits

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes. A defined
contribution plan is a retirement benefit scheme
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contribution
for post-retirement benefits beyond these fixed

contributions.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to government authorities, insurance
companies or trustee-administered funds. The
Group pays contributions on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. The contributions
are recognised as employment benefit expense
when they are due. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is

available.

i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10

Employment benefit expense (including

directors’ emoluments) (Continued)

Accounting Policy (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Share-based compensation

The fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of share options is
recognised as an expense over the vesting periods
of the options granted. The total amount to be
expensed over the vesting period is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted
excluding the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are
included in the assumption that the number of
option that are expected to become exercisable. At
the end of each reporting date, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest. It recognises the impact of the
revision of original estimates, if any, in the
income with a

consolidated statement,

corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (nominal value) and share premium when

the options are exercised.

Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses and profit-sharing, based on a formula
that takes into consideration the profit attributable
to the Company’s shareholders after certain
adjustments. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is a
past practice that has created a constructive

obligation.

Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives

The following disclosures are made pursuant to section

383 (1)(a) to (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

(Cap. 622), and Parts 2 to 4 of the Companies (Disclosure

of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Cap. 622G) and Hong Kong Listing Rules.
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(@)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
For year ended 31st March, 2024, the remuneration

of directors and the chief executive

below:

Name of Director

For the year ended
31st March, 2024

Executive Directors
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
Mr. Tin Shing

Mr. Poon Kwok Ching
Mr. Wong Wai Kwok

Non-Executive Director
Ms. Yeung Chui

Independent Non-Executive
Directors

Mr. Chan Yue Kwong,
Michael

Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong,

Larry, sgs p

Mr. Tam King Ching,
Kenny
Elizabeth Law

EEng

“EIRE=AR
Zt-ALEE

HTES
wRMEE
bR
BERLE
EREALE

FUTES
BERL

BUFHGTES

Rk EE

BHERL

£5

ERERE

BExuL

is set out

Emoluments paid or
receivable in respect of
a person’s services as
a director, whether of
the Company or its
subsidiary undertaking

123

10 EERERTRAEZNZRER
(#)
@ EBRITRZM
EFERHTRBE-_T-_MF=A
St-ALFEZHMEMT

Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other services
in connection with the management of the affairs, whether of
the Company or its subsidiary undertaking

REAFRES
(FHRAREH
HWEARNES)M
RENRE XA F&
ESQRESTRRE REFRUABEE(FRRALAZENBAR) SHNELRE
R 3% 7 2 B 0 357 B INFRESNEH AZESTRAERBMURNETH
Allowances, Employer’s
other contribution to
Discretionary ~ payment and  a retirement
Fees Salaries bonus  benefits in lieu benefit scheme Total
2E-
BRMREZ  HEFER BRANERGHE
ik e AL Rk [E3E agt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER
150 4,151 420 672 78 5471
150 1,566 137 - 38 1,891
150 2,350 205 - 60 2,765
150 1,146 100 - 36 1,432
150 - - - - 150
200 - - - - 200
200 - - - - 200
200 - - - - 200
150 - - - - 150
1,500 9,213 862 672 212 12,459
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10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior 10 EERESRTHAEZNHEZLEZR

executives (Continued) (#&)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments @ EEBERITRZHME (E)
(Continued)

Emoluments paid or
receivable in respect of

a person’s services as

a director, whether of Emoluments paid or receivable in respect of director’s other services
the Company or its in connection with the management of the affairs, whether of
subsidiary undertaking the Company or its subsidiary undertaking
REAFRES
(THERDAFHH
WBARMES)M

REORE TR
ESYREFARAT REERHAHEE THAARARANBEAR) EHNELRE
R 75 T A R 5 XN TREENFM AAEFTHAERE MR HH
Allowances, Employer’s
other  contribution to
Discretionary  payment and ~ a retirement

Name of Director EEhA Fees Salaries bonus benefits in lieu benefit scheme Total
28
BRREZ  HMFER BREEFGE
e e bizan EMHE L3 Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR TR TR TR TR

For the year ended “R-=Z%ZR

31st March, 2023 St-HLEEE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Lam Kwong Yu Mtk 150 4,037 420 672 76 5,355
Mr. Tin Shing Halisx 150 1,529 137 — 37 1,853
Mr. Poon Kwok Ching BEHLE 150 2,294 205 — 59 2,708
Mr. Wong Wai Kwok ERALE 13 1,026 45 61 34 1,279

Non-Executive Director FUTES
Ms. Yeung Chui BEXL 150 — — — — 150

Independent Non-Executive BIFHTES

Directors
Mr. Chan Yue Kwong, Btk &

Michael 200 — — — — 200
Mr. Kwok Lam Kwong, PHESE

Larry, sgs, FEHEE:

AFHL 200 — - — — 200

Mr. Tam King Ching, ERERE

Kenny 200 — — — — 200

1,313 8,886 807 733 206 11,945




10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

During the year, no emoluments were paid or
receivables in respect of accepting office as
directors (2023: Nil), and no directors waived any
emolument (2023: Nil).

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu is also the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for services rendered

by him as the Chief Executive.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

None of the other directors of the Group received
or will receive any retirement benefits or
termination benefits in respect of their services to
the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2024

(2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year, the Company has not paid any
consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services to the Company (2023:
Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors
There were no loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings entered into by the Company in favour of
the directors of the Company, or body corporate
controlled by or entities connected with any of the
directors of the Company at the end of the year or

at any time during the year (2023: Nil).

10 EERERTRAERZAN B RES

(&)

(@)

(b)

(o)

(d)

ESRITRZHME (B)

FA O TEREZEEBRUMEXNR
BRBHMES(ZT_=F:F) ki
BESMECAFM( T _=F:%)-

MAMEEMBARRRNITR - Ll
B TERMERRTR2ME

EECERRBEARBERER

HE-_Z-_NF=ZA=+—RHILFE
N BEARAEERERAEERE
AR 75 B W ER =k 1% W Y A T (AT 3R R 48 T
REBEN(CE_=F:T)-

BRENEEREMAE=FIMA
R 1B

Gy AR EE R E RS AL
AMEEAE= S ARECE==
ZEE R

FTHRESRZESNIEHNEE
RAZERITVYNER EEAR
HittR 5 2&EHR

FEEMERAARREETREETNRE
BAEMEEER SRS AMa] LRNF
RAFREAERDAFENER %
ERFEMRG(ZEZ=ZF:F) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior

executives (Continued)

(e)

U]

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the period or at any time during the year (2023:
Nil).

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group include four Executive
Directors (2023: four) whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments paid or payable to the remaining one

(2023: one) individual(s) were as follows:

e I RR A

10 EERERTRAERZANERES

(&)

() EEBERXRZ RYIASHZEKRE
#
MERANEEXBILARRRBEFRE]
DNETRARFESERXIWEREEXN
BmmNERKXFARETMERDAEE
MEARS RHERGH(ZT =4
£) -

H FHEUBSHFEAL
AEERLUKSHFALH  OLZA/HRT
EF(CZ-=F:1) AMEE#ER
i oth - ENHEMNBRT (=
To=F:)AZMEemT

2024 2023
—E-@OF —ET-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Basic salaries, allowances and EXFHE 2R

benefits in kind FRE M= 1,058 840
Discretionary bonus B HIRE ZEAL — —

Pension costs — defined contribution RIRBE A — FE # 3G &l
plans 34 27
1,092 867

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, no
emoluments were paid by the Company to any of
the directors or the five highest paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

or as compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

NoE-MEZA=+—AILEER-
BEACAEFARSH2EMALE
SEEX Y EESIPE ST PA 2L
EARKEM ZBE(ZE-=F:
)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 Benefits and interests of directors and senior
executives (Continued)

(g The emoluments fell within the following
bands:

AB
2024 2023
—E_ME —E2-=
HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000 500,00178 7T £1,000,0007% 7T — 1
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7T £1,500,0007%8 7T 1 —

11 Income tax expense
The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2035. The Company’s subsidiaries established in the
British Virgin Islands are incorporated under the
International Business Companies Acts of the British
Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are exempted from British

Virgin Islands income taxes.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising
in Hong Kong, except for the first HK$2,000,000 of
qualified entity’s assessable profit is calculated at 8.25%,
which is in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax

rates regime.

The subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC are
subject to the PRC Corporate Income Tax at rate of 25%
during the year (2023: 25%).

The subsidiaries established in Singapore and Malaysia
are subject to Singapore Corporate Income Tax at a rate
of 17% (2023: 17%) and Malaysia Corporate Income Tax
at a rate of 24% (2023: 24%) respectively.

e I RR AR

10 EERERTRAERZAN B RES
(&)
(® ¥FHRASHEZY :

Number of individuals

11 FERExX
ARRERCHMERERE BE -
CHEAL ARARREBABRBERY
MENBARDRENBEAABNEEKEYE
BRADESMAY  Eit BREKNEES
BARBEHER -

RRFGSHMASOES  REERETED
H2,000,0007% 7T & 3R B & T 1 1£8.25% = ¢
SN BEFEHRIEGTERBMBARRE
16.5%(ZF - =F :16.5%) 5+ & °

ERBERL KRGS BRRNASFEAR
25%(Z B ZF25%) MERMMREADLE
PTG R -

RE M KRB RFEEAKL 2B AR DB &
MMEREERMERREI7% (T =4
17%) R EREEREME BT L24% (ZF
ZSF 4% ) B o
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128 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 42 & B B K M

11 Income tax expense (Continued) 11 FRr8 %< (&)
The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated RiFAEMBRPHBROTESRE

income statement represents:

2024 2023
—E-_MmEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET

Current income tax expense BIEAFTIS B R X
— Hong Kong Profits Tax — BEMNEH 69 142
— PRC Corporate Income Tax — REREREH 5,544 1,135
Over provision in prior years BEFEREERE — (450)
5,613 827
Deferred income tax (Note 24) TS B (MY 5E24) 2,466 3,516

Income tax expense SR % 8,079 4,343
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Fr S %iB8 X ()

AREEZ RBATEF A E 2 BB R AR A
EERARENZMEFHREAEzBR S
BEMZR HYUEMT

11 Income tax expense (Continued) 11
The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the

weighted average tax rate applicable to profit of the

consolidated entities as follows:

2024 2023
—E-MmE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Profit before income tax E: 0 25,071 9,623
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 16.5% R E16.5%
(2023: 16.5%) (ZEZ=F:165%)
AEMMER 4,137 1,588
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries EWBARNEMER
operating in other countries/jurisdictions AEEREENRE
ERCVE 1,102 (490)
Income not subject to income tax HEARBIRA (3,522) (5,420)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT 2 H 5,710 9,906
Tax benefits B ER (1,990) (1,977)
Tax losses and other temporary differences for ~ BiISET1E R & x££
which no deferred income tax was recognised B4 Z R MERIEL
P15 Bt 5,890 3,527
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses f F3 LA X R #E R Z %
B8 (3,248) (2,341)
Over provision in prior years BEFEBEBE — (450)
Income tax expense PSR X 8,079 4,343
The weighted average applicable tax rate was 20% (2023: B2 METHEEB0%(ZF = =4

12%). The change in average tax rate is mainly caused

by changes in the operating results of certain subsidiaries

in Southern China and Eastern China.

12%) FHBRENEH I RZRHNERRE
RMETHBLARAMEEXEEH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11

12

Income tax expense (Continued)

Accounting Policy

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
date of statement of financial position in the countries
where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax

authorities.

Earnings per share

Basic

Basic earnings basic per share is calculated by dividing
the Group’s profit attributable to the owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary

shares in issue during the year.

e I RR A

11

12

Fir 15 %L B8 < (#8)

Bt BR

7S HA R B B A S 2 9 B0 BB R FE A - B
BEGANBRPHER EREEMEAK
EREEREETERGERBMEBRS
ERBRT BEANS R A2 ERER
HERNERDRER -

BIEmM SR REARAREWME QR E
BRELAERRBWRANBEBRNEBRIEA
HERMRELEROGOBRBEAAE -8
[ sh 8 AR 7505 Bl 2 2 BT R IR B0 1B 0 E H T
EMBRERAMMN - WHEBRABERT RIEE LY
IR ATt 755 % B S A RO T AR AR TE R A -

BRAEA

%N

SREFABFDEARRARAE AEESEM
BB ENDBITE BB METHHEE -

2024 2023
—EZWmE —FT==
Profit attributable to the owners of the RN RHER AFEAL & A
Company (HK$’000) (F#&T) 17,422 6,478
Weighted average number of ordinary BBETEBRZINE T
shares in issue ('000) (F) 504,372 513,989
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FRARAEF GEW) 3.45 1.26

7

N\
NN




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12

13

Earnings per share (Continued)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
assuming conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. For the year ended 31st March, 2024 and 2023,
diluted earnings per share equals basic earnings per share

as there were no dilutive potential shares.

Dividends

At the Board of Directors meeting held on 27th June,
2024, the Directors recommend the following final
dividends:

2024 2023
—EC-WmEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FET
Interim dividend for the year ended 31st March, —Z-_F=HF=+—H
2024 of HK1 cent per fully paid share IEFEHRBEERE - 8k
(2023: HK1 cent) B R B A8 B — 1l
TEo=F 5,006 5,096
Dividends not recognised at the end of the O # 2 B [5] B K ok R
reporting period Z R E
Proposed final dividend for the year ended 31st #t/k == — P04
March, 2024 of HK1.5 cents per ZA=+—RLEFEE
fully paid share (2023: Nil) RPKRE  BREHR
B A #5154l
(ZZF==F:%) 7,509 —

The amount of proposed final dividend for 2024 was
based on 500,633,288 shares in issue as at 27th June,
2024. The proposed final dividend are not reflected as a
dividend payable as at 31st March, 2024.

e I RR AR

12

13

BRER (&)

B
EREBIERFORBEMBAIEEINEEY
BREERE KA HTLEKRZ NE
FHYAE T _WFR T ==F=H4
S+-BLFE BREZRANASEAER
EARBF  AXEATEENBERD -

[ g=\
RZZE-_WMERA-++HHEBHZESS -
EEEHRBEUTRERE

BERBAKBREB _-_E_ME A -++
A B 3 17 % 48500,633,2880% 5t & o ## Ik & Hi
BRER-—_Z-_MFEF=ZA=Z+—BITARRBA
FEFTRR B o

/,
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14

Property, plant and equipment

At 31st March, 2022

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March, 2023

Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount

At 31st March, 2023

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book amount

Year ended 31st March, 2024

Opening net book amount
Additions

Depreciation

Disposals

Transfers

Translation adjustments

Closing net book amount

At 31st March, 2024

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and
impairment

Net book amount

R-Z-—#=ZA=+—H
WA
ZEMERFE

FREFE

HE-T-=%=7
ZT-HIEEE

FENEEFE

AE

e

HE

Bz

ExBE

FRIERFE

RZZ-=%=R=+—H
A
ZEHMERRE

FREFE

BE-T-_ME=4
“+-ALEE

FNEEFE

RE

e

e

Bz

EXAE

FRERFE
RZZ-ME=A=+—H

XA
R ERRE

FREFE

e I RR A

14 ¥ -BERRE

Plant and Furniture and Motor  Construction
Buildings ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
BF BE BARRE AE EERIE @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TEL TR TER TEL TR
287,816 944,342 93,080 14,861 18,476 1,358,575
(103,156) (804,088) (77,770) (12,348) — (997,362)
184,660 140,254 15,310 2,513 18,476 361,213
184,660 140,254 15,310 2,513 18,476 361,213
15,000 17,277 5,076 916 16,034 54,303
(8,252) (24,704) (5,315) (609) — (38,880)
(253) (1,554) (426) (34) — (2,267)
12,939 17,709 — — (30,648) —
(12,326) (12,299) (981) (38) (1,376) (27,020)
191,768 136,683 13,664 2,748 2,486 347,349
294,863 928,883 89,970 14,267 2,486 1,330,469
(103,095) (792,200) (76,306) (11,519) — (983,120
191,768 136,683 13,664 2,748 2,486 347,349
191,768 136,683 13,664 2,748 2,486 347,349
4,345 32,137 3,696 414 5,664 46,256
(8,369) (24,561) (3,835) (465) — (37,230)
- (401) 8 (141) — (550)
37 1,081 - — 1,118) -
(10,213) (9,136) (700) (56) (207) (20,312)
177,568 135,803 12,817 2,500 6,825 335,513
283,125 917,203 90,502 13,521 6,825 1,311,176
(105,557) (781,400) (77,685) (11,021) — (975,663)
177,568 135,803 12,817 2,500 6,825 335,513

b
4



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(@)

(b)

(c)

(d)

e I RR AR

14 M%¥- -BERRE (E)

Depreciation expense recognised in the @ REGMNBERPBEIAZHERS 517

consolidated income statement is analysed as ;s
follows:

2024 2023

—EomE —ZT=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TERT TERT

Cost of sales & KA 32,140 33,485

Selling and distribution costs HERDHER 19 20

General and administrative expenses —MRRAITH X 5,071 5,375

37,230 38,880

Construction in progress mainly represents factories
and office buildings under construction and plant

and machinery under installation in the PRC.

At 31st March, 2024, buildings with a total net
book value of approximately HK$1,099,000 (2023:
HK$1,175,000) were pledged as collateral for the
Group’s banking facilities (Note 30).

Impairment of property, plant and

equipment, right-of-use assets and

prepayments for non-current assets

The value of property, plant and equipment,
right-of -use assets and prepayments for non-current
assets is assessed at the end of each reporting
period for indications of impairment with reference
to evaluation undertaken by management. For
assets with impairment indicators, management
performed evaluation to assess the recoverable
amount of each asset being the higher of its value
in use or its fair value less costs of disposal. As at
31st March, 2024, management performed three
separate impairment assessments for the eastern
China operation, southern China operation and

Malaysia operation.

(b) #HRIBIZERETEERTOEE I
MAEBFMLEPAEES -

(c0 R-Z-NWFE=ZA=+—BHAEmFE
#91,099,0008 TR EF(Z T Z=F:
1,175,000% 70) BEAR S B R 175 B 28
2 M B AR (T 3E30) ©

d) ME - BERRE ERAEEEN
RIERBEEZANRZEE

ME - BELRE EREEEARIE
MBEEZANRZBEREREER
H2EEREMETZHEBAFEES
MENR ZEELRRERS BH
BETHFBEANFESEEZAKDE
B AEEHAEEIEARBERLE
KAzBESE-R_Z-_MNF=H
=t—H BEEBOMERER E
MR MBRAEXEBETRHENDE -
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14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Eastern China operation

As at 31st March, 2024, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and prepayments for non-current assets in eastern
China operation (“eastern China PP&E and right-of-
use assets”) was approximately HK$79,363,000
(2023: HK$84,547,000).
recognised for the year ended 31st March, 2024
(2023: Nil).

No impairment loss was

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of eastern China PP&E and right-of-use

assets are as follows:

Sales growth rate from 2025 to
2029: 1%-2%

Pre-tax discount rate: 16%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2024, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of eastern
China PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
approximately HK$2,788,000

Accordingly, the headroom compared with the

been lower.
carrying amount of Eastern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets would have been approximately
HK$18,724,000.

If profit margin for each of the year had been 0.5%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of eastern
China PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
HK$8,940,000 lower.

headroom compared with the carrying amount of

been Accordingly, the

Eastern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been HK$12,572,000.

e I RR A

14 M%¥- -BERRE (E)

(d)

ME BERZRE EREEEN
RFERBEE 2EN K ZRE (H)

BREFK
RZZBEZ_ME=ZA=+—H EHEK
ZWE - BMEREE FHAREAENUR
FRBEEZENRTERZWE K

EEBEBARERAEEEDO AR
79,363,0000%8 T(= T = = #F:
84,547,000 L) R T —_MWMF=A
St —HLEFEVEBRREEE(Z
To=FF)o

AMEERDE BERRBENRERE
BREZARBEEMERAZ EZREN
T

—E_RAFE-ZT-NF
ZHEEERE 1%—2%
B AT AR 2R =K 16%

MEEREBRTHRERMER MR
I&E@F“m%ﬁﬁmiﬁwzw
REBR)AIANBEETREEE-

—E-_mME=ZRA=+—8" h%igz
HERRERREEE ZHEE1%M AT
EHMEERETE BIERME K
ERREBUARERAEEEZEREBES
B #92,788,0007 7T o E It - BLER Y
¥ BEERRBUARERAREEZER
B2 B854 /518,724,000 7T °

WFHNEREBRRE 2 HE ST FE%
METEEMERRIFTTE  BZERY
¥ BELERBULTEREEEZEA
18 1B #5 % 18,940,000 7T » A i - B2 %E
BOE BELEEARERAREEY
BREE ML 2 882 /12,572,000 7T °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Eastern China operation (Continued)

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2024 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
eastern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been HK$7,231,000 lower. Accordingly, the
headroom compared with the carrying amount of
eastern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been HK$14,281,000.

Southern China operation

As at 31st March, 2024, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and prepayments for non-current assets in southern
China operation (“southern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets”) was approximately HK$237,753,000
(2023: HK$243,213,000).
recognised for the year ended 31st March, 2024
(2023: Nil).

No impairment loss was

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of the southern China PP&E and right-of-

use assets are as follows:

Sales growth rate from 2025 to
2029: 3%-10%

Pre-tax discount rate: 16%

Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2024, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been approximately HK$39,208,000 lower.
Accordingly, the shortfall compared with the
carrying amount of southern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets would have been approximately

HK$32,864,000.

e I RR AR

14 M%¥- -BERRE (E)

(d)

ME BERZRE EREEEN
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Southern China operation (Continued)

If profit margin for each of the year had been 0.5%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been approximately HK$34,778,000 lower.
Accordingly, the shortfall compared with the
carrying amount of southern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets would have been approximately
HK$28,434,000.

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2024 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
southern China PP&E and right-of-use assets would
have been approximately HK$16,719,000 lower.
Accordingly, the shortfall compared with the
carrying amount of southern China PP&E and right-
of-use assets would have been approximately
HK$10,374,000.

Malaysia operation

As at 31st March, 2024, the carrying amount of the
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and prepayments for non-current assets in Malaysia
operation (“Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use assets”)
was approximately HK$42,845,000 (2023:
HK$49,950,000). No impairment loss was
recognised for the year ended 31st March, 2024
(2023: Nil).

Key assumptions used for assessing the recoverable
amount of the Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use

assets are as follows:

Sales growth rate from 2025 to
2029: 10%-27%

Pre-tax discount rate: 13%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and
prepayments for non-current assets
(Continued)

Malaysia operation (Continued)
Changing the discount rates and other assumptions
selected by management in assessing impairment,
including the growth rates assumption in the cash
flow projections, could materially affect the
recoverable amount. At 31st March, 2024, if sales
growth rates for each of the year had been 1%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
approximately HK$13,120,000

Accordingly, the headroom compared with the

been lower.

carrying amount of Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use

assets would have been

HK$4,230,000.

approximately

If profit margin for each of the year had been 0.5%
lower from management’s estimates with all other
variables held constant, the value-in-use of
Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
approximately HK$6,560,000

Accordingly, the headroom compared with the

been lower.

carrying amount of Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use

assets would have been

HK$10,790,000.

approximately

If the discount rate had been 1% higher than
management estimate at 31st March, 2024 with all
other variables held constant, value-in-use of
Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use assets would have
approximately HK$1,969,000

Accordingly, the headroom compared with the

been lower.

carrying amount of Malaysia PP&E and right-of-use

assets would have been

HK$15,380,000.

approximately
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Accounting Policy

Buildings comprise mainly factories and offices. Property,
plant and equipment excluding construction in progress,
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which

they are incurred.

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:
— Buildings 25 to 50 years
— Plant and machinery 5 to 10 years
— Furniture and equipment 5 to 10 years

— Motor vehicles 5 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. An asset's carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 34.7).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14

15

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Accounting Policy (Continued)

Construction in progress comprises buildings on which
construction work has not been completed and plant and
machinery for which installation work has not been
completed. It is carried at cost which includes
construction and installation expenditures and other direct
costs less any impairment losses. On completion,
construction in progress is transferred to the appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. No depreciation is
provided for construction in progress until it is completed
and available for use.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within “other income and gains — net” in
the consolidated income statement.

Investment properties

As at 1 April REA—H
Depreciation for the year REFE
As at 31 March R=A=

At 3Tst March, 2024, investment properties with a total
net book value of approximately HK$2,040,000 (2023:
HK$2,116,000) were pledged as collateral for the Group’s
banking facilities (Note 30).

.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 Investment properties (Continued)

Investment properties are situated in Hong Kong and
rented out under operating leases. Rental income arising
from the investment properties amounting to
HK$1,134,000 (2023: HK$1,446,000) is included in the
“other income and gains, net” in the consolidated income
statement. The operating expenses relating to the
investment properties (including depreciation) amounted
to HK$597,000 (2023: HK$597,000).

As at 31st March, 2024, the fair values of the investment
properties are approximately HK$50,403,000. The fair
values have been arrived at based on a valuation carried
out by the directors. The fair values of the investment
properties were determined based on the market
comparable approach which is categorised within Level 3
of the fair value hierarchy. The inputs used in the fair
value measurements mainly include the market unit sale
rate of comparable properties of similar size, nature and
location. The calculation assumes fair value of the
investment properties are at HK$6,153 gross unit rate per

square foot.

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases of

investment properties are as follows:

Within 1 year —FUR
Between 1 and 2 years —EMFEN
Between 2 and 3 years ZE=FRA

7
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15 REWYHE(E)
BREMEMNREBSLIRKCERELA BE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15

Investment properties (Continued)

Accounting Policy

Measuring investment property at cost

Investment properties, principally residential buildings
and industrial buildings, are held for long-term rental
yields and are not occupied by the Group. Investment
properties are initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs.
After initial recognition, investment properties are carried
at carrying values, representing cost less depreciation and

provision for impairment loss, if any.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the assets. Subsequent
expenditure is charged to the carrying amount of the
asset only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the property will flow to the
Group and the cost of the property can be measured
reliably. All other repair and maintenance costs are
expensed in the consolidated income statement during

the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to write off the cost over the estimated useful lives to
their estimated residual values. Estimated useful lives of

land and buildings are from 25 to 50 years.

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each statement of financial
position date. The carrying amounts of assets are
reviewed regularly. An investment property’s carrying
amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount (Note 34.7).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 Leases

This note provides information for leases where the

Group is a lessee.

(i)  Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position

shows the following amounts relating to leases:

e M BRRME

16 HE
WM ERHAEEEARBANAEER -

() REEHMBERRRBINEE

S
mn

EHMBHRRKRENEHBEENSHE

- &

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET

Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Land-use rights* o b {5 R 10,779 11,978
Leasehold land* E i 5,382 5,879
Buildings gF 6,313 8,889
Equipment B4 76 16
22,550 26,762

Lease liabilities HEEE

Current bitd 3,535 3,874
Non-current IERB 2,970 5,111
6,505 8,985

* The Group has land lease arrangement with mainland China

government and leasehold land in Hong Kong and
Malaysia.

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2024
financial year were HK$1,702,000 (2023:
HK$8,808,000).

* AEBETERNELEENTH - kR
BARERERAGHEREL -

RZZE-_NMFYBREFE FEFHESE
B /1,702,000 T(= T = = F:
8,808,000/ 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 Leases (Continued)

(i)

e I RR AR

16 HE (&)
RESFBRBERANEE

Amounts recognised in the consolidated (ii)

income statement

The consolidated income statement shows the

following amounts relating to leases:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets

Land use rights

Leasehold land

Buildings

Equipment

Interest expense
(included in finance costs)

Expense relating to short-term leases

(included in cost of goods sold and

administrative expenses)

ERAEEENTESRR

T A
HE L
BF

A

AT
(FGFABE K A)
FHREHEENHX

(FE A ER AR RITER

F32)

The total cash outflow for leases in 2024 was
approximately HK$4,893,000 (2023: HK$6,697,000).

Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets

Cost of sales

Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expenses

i

ERAEEENTEERA

5 AR
HERDHER
— MR R AT BB X

RiFAMBER2IERBEENSENT

2024 2023
—EmEF —E-=F
HK$/000 HK$'000
FH T FATT

531 556

171 176

3,974 5,550

18 10

4,694 6,292

269 284

678 850

RZZBE-ZNFR HAEMNReRDERE
4 54,893,000 (= T = = F:

6,697,000/ 7T) °

2024 2023
—E-_mEF ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAET
3,412 2,705

13 335

1,269 3,252
4,694 6,292
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16

Leases (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

At 31st Match, 2024, leasehold land with a total
net book value of approximately HK$1,248,000
(2023: HK$1,309,000) were pledged as collateral

for the Group’s banking facilities (Note 30).

The Group’s leasing activities and how

these are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, factory buildings
and warehouses. Rental contracts are typically
made for fixed periods of 2 to 3 years, but may

have extension options as described in (v) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in
the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

Extension and termination options

Extension and termination options are included in
a number of property leases across the Group.
These are used to maximise operational flexibility
in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The majority of extension and
termination options held are exercisable only by

the Group and not by the respective lessor.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 Leases (Continued)

(vi)

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases not recognised as right-of-use

A M BRRME

16 FHE (1E)
Vi) REAMBRENIEERAERES
EORASH ELRE > ARRER

assets in the consolidated financial statements are ERZRET :
as follows:
2024 2023
—E-DmE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Amounts payable R HA
— within one year — —FHRA 691 600
Accounting Policy B BE
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a HERMEEEEAHAEEETAE HERR

corresponding liability at the date at which the leased

asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially

measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities

include the net present value of the following lease

payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that

option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain

extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

EREEERMBERNAR-
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HEBERETHHEEN RN FHRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16

Leases (Continued)

Accounting Policy (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of
similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and

conditions.
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

J where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting
point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing

conditions since third party financing was received;

. uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third

party financing, and

J makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,

country, currency and security.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the

liability for each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16

Leases (Continued)

Accounting Policy (Continued)
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

J the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date less any lease incentives

received;
. any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets including land use rights and leasehold
land are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over

the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment
and vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit
or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of
12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise IT

equipment and small items of office furniture.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a

lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis

over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 Subsidiaries

Particulars of principal subsidiaries as at 31st March,

2024:

Name of company

DEERE

Starlite International (Holdings) Ltd.

Starlite International Limited

Starlite Printers (Far East) Pte. Ltd.

Starlite Printers (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd.

Starlite Cultural Communications Limited

EXXERERAR

Place of incorporation
and/or operations and

kind of legal entity
HEMALEREXBER
EARBER

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
EBERREEEREMCLA

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
EBERREEERECAA

Singapore, limited liability
company

MMEEREARR

Malaysia, limited liability
company

BRAEEREAAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

ERERAMARR

e M BRRME

17 HEBRAT

RZTEZWUF=A=+—H0 FENBRQA

2

Issued and fully

paid capital/ Percentage of equity
paid-in capital interest held
BRARAR
RE/BEHRK FERER Dt
Directly Indirectly
HE &
Us$2 100% —
(2023: 100%)
2XTT
Us$101 100% —
(2023: 100%)
1015570
SGD8,759,396 100% —
(2023: 100%)
8,759,396
T
RM6,500,000 100% —
(2023: 100%)
6,500,000
BRAET
HK$2 100% —
(2023: 100%)
VBT

Principal activities

TEEH

Investment holding
RAZR
Investment holding
REER

Printing of packaging

materials

BEWHEAR

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

BEMHEAR R
HmiEE

Investment holding

REER




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DEEE

Everfar Holdings Limited

Starlite Visual Communication Limited
EXBERREARRT

Hong Kong Inno-Tech Association Limited
EEAMENRBEERAR

Starlite Consumer Products, Limited

Starlite Entertainment (Holdings) Limited

Starlite Laser Graphics Limited

EERGHEERDF

Place of incorporation
and/or operations and

kind of legal entity
EMRIR/ REXBER
EABRBER

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
KERARHEBERAAAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

ZBERAMART

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BEBEREMLA

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
REEARHBARALLR

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
ERABRRESEREARA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EREREMAAH

A M BRRME

17 HEQRG&E)

Issued and fully
paid capital/
paid-in capital
ERTRAR
BA/EHRA

US$20,000
20,0003 7T
HK$2,000,000
2,000,000 7T
HKS2

BET

Us$1

HK$3,230,000
ordinary
3,230,000 7T
TR 10

HK$170,000
non-voting
deferred (i)
170,000 7T
BRERELT
B 17 (i)

Percentage of equity
interest held

FERER D
Directly Indirectly
HEE B
50% 50%

(2023: 50%)  (2023: 50%)

100%
(2023: 100%)

— 100%
(2023: 100%)

— 100%
(2023: 100%)

— 100%
(2023: 100%)

— 100%
(2023: 100%)

Principal activities

TEXY

Investment holding
REEZR
Distribution of Team
Green Products
S #iTeam Green f
Inactive
B Ex
Investment holding
REZR
Investment holding
REER
Inactive

AR

149
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17 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DEEE

Starlite Management Services Limited

Starlite Packaging Technology Consultancy Limited

Starlite Development International Limited

EREREABERAF

Starlite Paper Products Limited

ERHRARRDE

Starlite Printers Limited

EXERIERAE

Place of incorporation
and/or operations and

kind of legal entity
EMRIR/ REXBER
EABRBER

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

EEERAMLR

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
ERABRRHEEREARA

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BEBEREMLRF

Hong Kong/the PRC, limited
liability company
B/ PEEREAAR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

ERERAARR

e M BRRME

17 HEQRG&E)

Issued and fully

paid capital/ Percentage of equity
paid-in capital interest held Principal activities
ERTRAR
BA/EHRA FERER D TEXY
Directly Indirectly
HEE B
HK$200 — 100%  Provision of management
(2023: 100%) services
200/ 7T RUEEERE
US$1 — 100%  Holding of trade and
(2023: 100%) service marks
X7 RERSRRBAER
HK$200 — 100%  Trading of paper
(2023: 100%) products
200 7T BERRES
HK$1,738,000 — 100%  Inactive
ordinary (2023: 100%)
1,738,000/ 7T AKIE%E
&R 1
HK$262,000 — —
non-voting
deferred (i)
262,0007% 7T
M43 i)
HK$2,700,000 — 100%  Trading of packaging
ordinary (2023: 100%) materials
2,700,000/ 7T BEMHES
Bl O o)
HK$2,300,000 — —
non-voting
deferred (i)
2,300,0007% 7T
BREREL

£ (i)
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Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DEEE

Starlite Printers HK Holdings (BVI) Limited

Starlite Printers (China) Limited

ERER(FE)ERAF

Starlite Printers (Suzhou) Co., Ltd. (ii)

B ENRI (BM) AR 2 &)

Starlite Productions (Holdings) Limited

Starlite Productions (BVI) Limited

Starlite Productions Limited

EREEARRDE

Place of incorporation
and/or operations and

kind of legal entity
EMRIR/ REXBER
EABRBER

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
KERARHEBERAAAR

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
ABEABMREEARALCAR

The PRC, limited liability
company

THEAEREEAT

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
EEABRRHEEEREARA

British Virgin Islands, limited
liability company
RELMAREERALLF

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BAEBREMLDA

A M BRRME

17 HEQRG&E)

Issued and fully
paid capital/
paid-in capital
ERTRAR
BA/EHRA

Us$100

100% 7T

US$20,000,000

20,000,000% 7

US$256,420

256,420 7T

HK$3,000,000

3,000,0007% 7T

Percentage of equity
interest held

FERER D
Directly Indirectly
HEE B
— 100%

(2023: 100%)

— 100%
(2023: 100%)

- 100%
(2023: 100%)

— 100%
(2023: 100%)

— 100%
(2023: 100%)

— 100%
(2023: 100%)

Principal activities

TEXY

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

RARR

Printing of packaging
materials and

production of paper
products and labels

BEMEENR KA R R
BHEE

Investment holding

RAEZR

Investment holding

REER

Inactive

mfEE
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17 Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

DEEE

Guangzhou Starlite Environmental
Friendly Center, Limited (ii)

BME K RRRLER R

Greenworks International Limited

HEIREEARAF

Shaoguan Fortune Creative Industries
Company Limited (ii)

REREAEIEER DA

Larsemann Intelligence System
(Hong Kong) Limited
AHEREER(FR)BERAA

Team Green (Far East) Pte. Ltd.

Qianhai Larsemann Intelligence System
(Shenzhen) Limited (ii)
AE T 2 R A5 (R BR A

Place of incorporation
and/or operations and

kind of legal entity
EMRIR/ REXBER
EABRBER

The PRC, limited liability
company

REERELAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

BAEBREMLDA

The PRC, limited liability
company

TEERAEAAHR

Hong Kong, limited liability
company

ZRARAMERT

Singapore, limited liability
company

HMEERRMARF

The PRC, limited liability
company

TEEREAAF

e M BRRME

17 HEQRG&E)

Issued and fully
paid capital/
paid-in capital
ERTRAR
BA/EHRA

US$6,000,000

6,000,000 7T

HK$2

28T

US$26,500,000

26,500,000% 7

HK$10,000
10,0007 7T
SGD10,000
10,000%7 A3 7T

RMBS5,000,000

5,000,000 &%

Percentage of equity
interest held

FERER D
Directly Indirectly
HEE B
— 100%

(2023: 100%)

— 100%
(2023: 100%)

- 100%
(2023: 100%)

— 100%
(2023: 100%)

— 100%
(2023: 100%)

— 100%
(2023: 100%)

Principal activities

TEXY

Production of
environmental friendly
and other paper
products

EERRR
HitEER

Investment holding and
trading of
environmental friendly
and other paper
products

REEBRRERR
EHBERES

Printing of packaging
materials and
production of paper
products

BEWHEARR
MREE

Investment holding

REER

Trading of Team Green
products

Team GreenE R € 5

Inactive

AR
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17

Subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of company

Place of incorporation
and/or operations and
kind of legal entity

A M BRRME

17 M B

Issued and fully
paid capital/
paid-in capital

7 (%)

Percentage of equity
interest held

Principal activities

AMAIRREEBUR BRTRAR
DEAER EARRER BRA/EHRK FEREBD L TEEH
Directly Indirectly
=R B
Shenzhen TeamGreen Creative Design Co., Ltd (i) ~ The PRC, limited liability RMB1,500,000 — 100%  Trading of Team Green

company (2023: 100%) products
A% B A E R AR A FEERETAA 1,5000,000A &% Team GreenE R E 5

Team Green (Shanghai) Company Limited (ii) The PRC, limited liability RMB1,000,000 — 100%  Trading of Team Green
company (2023: 100%) products
HESEEERFERRAEG FREEREMTLA 1,000,000\ R # Team GreenZE R E 5

153

Suzhou Team Green Home Products Limited (ii) The PRC, limited liability RMB5,000,000 — 100%  Productions of Team
company (2023: 100%) Green products

B EREERD A FEEREAAF 5,000,000A & # Team GreenfE f £ &

Legend Power International Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HK$1 — 100%  Property investment
company (2023: 100%)

EREBEERAR BEEREMLA BT MERE

Little Tree Publishing Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HK$4,000,000 — 51%  Publishing
company (2023: 51%)

PABHREERAT ZBERAMLRT 4,000,000/ 7T i iR

Notes: B 3

(i) The non-voting deferred shares are not owned by the Group. These (i) "hWEERERBEROYFAREEAS - LFR

ML EREZRE BRIEBEBEAR ZMFEB
50,000,000,000/ 7T * BRIFFHEAERZHRE :
BRMRRERE  TERZEEMSR RIFFHEA
A1) AR AR A H 2 9 Ik # £]50,000,000,00078 7T ©

shares have no voting rights and are not entitled to dividends unless
the net profit of the relevant company exceeds HK$50,000,000,000
and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a
sum of HK$50,000,000,000 has been distributed by the relevant
company to the holders of its ordinary shares.

EXHMWAEHANMBE  LEMBARABTEKL
ZHmBACE(IEBERED -

(i) English names are for identification purpose. These subsidiaries were (i)
incorporated as Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise (“WFOE”) in PRC.

FEMBRARRBE_F-_NF=A=t—HLF
EREARROBEEETEEERA(ZST =4 %) -

(iii) None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time (iii)
during the year ended 31st March, 2024 (2023: Nil).
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18

Financial assets at fair value through other 18 RAABEFAHEHMZEAKRENE

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and

BMEERBEAABEFARENE

financial assets at fair value through profit or MEE
loss (“FVPL”)
@ FVOCI: @ BRAREBEEFARMCZARZNS
BMEE:
2024 2023
—E-EF ZEZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TET
Financial instruments (level 1): EMITAEZE )
— Equity securities listed in — REBLTHRAES
Hong Kong 1,090 1,179
Movement of FVOCI is analysed as follows: BAREBEEFAEBEZERENSRE

EZEHNMWT

2024 2023

—E-ME —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

THER FAET

At beginning of the year E?ﬂ 1,179 1,435
Fair value losses on FVOCI BRAARBEFAEMEE
W EMEENAA

BEEE (89) (256)

At end of the year FR 1,090 1,179

The listed equity securities is denominated in Hong EHRAEF LB TIIE

Kong dollar.
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18

Financial assets at fair value through other 18

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and

financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss (“FVPL”) (Continued)
(b) FVPL:

Financial instruments (level 3):
— Unlisted insurance policy

investment

SRMITEE =)

— FLEmZRE

Movement of FVPL is analysed as follows:

At beginning of the year
Addition

Fair value gains on FVPL

At end of the year

Note:

4]
37 8

BARBEFAR

EREENDR

FR

The unlisted insurance policy investment is denominated in United

States dollars.

The fair values of unlisted insurance policy investment are based on
cash flows discounted using a rate based on the current credit rate
of the insurance policies (2024: 4.0%; 2023: 4.0%). The fair values
are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3).

As at 31st March, 2024, there were charges over certain of the
Group’s FVPL of approximately HK$3,964,000 (2023: HK$3,916,000)

(Note 30).

i

e I RR AR

BARBEFAHGZARENE
BMEERBEAABEFARENE
MEE (&)

by BAABEFABENEHEE:

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET
REKRE
12,186 12,077

RAABENARENSREEL S

DHAT -
2024 2023
—EC_E —E =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FAT
12,077 8,571
— 3,337
=
BERE 109 169
12,186 12,077
& -

FLEMZRERBIBEURTINE -

FETHRBREZLENALABERKARBRE
WERHEREEUAEHBRRS R (DT ME:
4.0% ZEZ=F 1 4.0%) AN BEEAAABESRE
BANE=RA (M E3.3)

RZZ-_NE=ZA=+—BALEEFHTIEAR
BEFABRNS R EEL3,94,0008 T (Z T ==
£ 13,916,0007% 7T) (Fif 5£30) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and
financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”) (Continued)

Accounting Policy
0] Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the

following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCl”) or through profit or loss),

and
o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the

contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For
investments in equity instruments that are not held
for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those

assets changes.

e

18

Bt % R MY AL

BARBEFAHGZARENE
BMEERBEAABEFARENE
MEE (&)

BREE
0 ¥

AEEBESREEDBRUT S

. HREAREEHEHAZME
e 2% (T b 2 T8 g 26)) 5% 98
®R

. IABESHRARET & ©

ZOBRARAREHEESCHEENE
BERANLZEENGRRERERH -

HNARABEFENEE  HNEMN
BRETAER WE@iEW“°ﬂ%#
RAEFEESNEZTARE  HEHE

&5 1R 1 ﬁghﬂ%ﬁ$¢@&@%ﬁm
FELELTAIBENEEMSEEE
REARBEFARMCEZE RS ([EA
REEFAEGEZEYKE] -

EHEZEEZSEREENETRA
BERR AKREBSHEKRES
oo 48 o
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18

Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and

financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”) (Continued)

Accounting Policy (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all the risks and

rewards of ownership.

Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL

are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the assets. There are two
categorise into which the Group classifies its debt

instruments.

e I RR AR

18 BAARBEFAHLZAWRENS
BMEERBEAABEFARENE
MEE (&)

B EH R ()

(i) FERRRIUER
EMEENTHBALRLE BRXS
BANAEEAEBAREEZEEE
ARAR -BEAEENZEERE
EURRREERENENE I BHCKE
#ORAEBEKERERROBAE
DEBMEBER AR IIEERAZSE
EMEE

(iii)  FfE
RUIEERE  FAEEREMEENR
AEMMUIR R IFRAABTF AER
(AR BEFABRDNEREE)
ERRBRBEZSREAENRZ KA
HEBAABEHABRNEREER
SRAREBERR T -

Ei5 LA

BB TARENEEFTSEIRNANEE
EEZEEMNEBRAUARZEENE
RARSREFH -AKEBESR T AK
BN RATMEERR
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18

Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and

financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”) (Continued)

Accounting Policy (Continued)
(iii)  Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Amortised cost: Asset that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interests are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate
method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition is recognised directly in profit
or loss and presented in “other income and
gains — net”, together with foreign exchange

gains and losses.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at
FVPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within “other income and gains — net”

in the period in which it arises.

e I RR A

18

BARBEFAHGZARENE
BMEERBEAABEFARENE
MEE (&)

ST BUR (8)
(iii) & (&)

& T A (&)

. LABE SR R SRR A AELE
AEeREMNEE MRERR
EMEERREAEMAEMN X
FRAZEEANBHERAGTE-
ZECREENTEWAUNER
FERENE  GTAMBHEA &
IFERREENF SN BRERE
FAER WHERBREE D5
PIRE(EMBARKZE — F
BDH -

. BAREFAER: THFEAHE
ARG BRI AR EF KM
FHBREENEREE  ®D
BAREAAMEBF AR HRRK
BROAABEFAERNEBLIA
RE ENBRBERFABSE
WEESMELFEE(THEMKRA
Ras — FEDPIR -
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18

Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) and

financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”) (Continued)

Accounting Policy (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in OCI, there is
no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from
which investments continue to be recognised in
profit or loss as other income when the Group’s

right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVPL are recognised in “other income and gains —
net” in the consolidated income statement as
applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other

changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVPL.
The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in

credit risk.

e I RR AR

18 BAARBEFAHLZAWRENS
BMEERBEAABEFARENE
MEE (&)

ST BUR (8)

(iii) & (&)
ERTA
REBEERMERARERAAEE
HE-EASECERECEERNEM
PHWREZIRAEENAAEE
MEE - A EEWE R EIE R EUSE
REBRERTEEFTHIEEER %
L1 E /IR B 7N & B YCER 38 HY A
W REERNEBERER SEMUEE -

s oI m

BX

Ik

BARBEFABRENEREENAR
BEZHRGAFERT (HMBRAR
W — FE)AERMER) - &A
AEEFAELGEZALENERRER
EFER(RAEBEELD) Te@EEHL
REEESHHIREZR-

Giv) HEE
HRUEHEXARARARBEF AR
HAENBEBIARE AEERETE
HEEBERRAEEEEELTGE T
RAMNRBESEZIAREEERBES
BEEM -
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19

Inventories

Raw materials R #
Work in progress E8
Finished goods BRK

The cost of inventories expensed and included in cost of
sales amounted to HK$341,214,000 (2023:
HK$414,214,000). During the vyear, the Group has a
reversal of provision for inventory obsolescence of
approximately HK$7,627,000 (2023: provision for
inventory obsolescence of approximately HK$2,479,000),
which was included in cost of sales and as at 31st March,
2024, the amount of provision was approximately
HK$20,091,000 (2023: HK$29,325,000).

Accounting Policy

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based on
normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable variable

selling expenses.

e I RR A

19 BE

2024 2023
—EC_E T =%
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
26,953 28,734
17,567 20,219
31,670 37,920
76,190 86,873

FEKRAA HE4341,214,0008 T(ZF = =
¢ 414,214,000 7T) 5 4E B 2 30 51 A 856 K
Rep o WARFERN AEEBBEERERE
[O] # 477,627,000 T (ZZE = =F : FERE
B 492,479,000 7T) - WWEHEHE T AHE K
AP - R-_TE-_MEZRF=+—H  BEBE
A4920,091,0007 7T (&~ =4 © 29,325,000
L) °

BREE

R o BCAME R A DN #E P I0EFHE © BRC M R 1
HmMKAERERMH BEETE HEtE
ERAREHEEERERX(RBEEREER
NFE) FHEETBEEERA - ATHR
FESNAFEBAREANGT EEMRE
ENIHHERXTE -
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20 Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 20 ESZEWERAREE - BARER
deposits rE
2024 2023
—E-DME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FET
Trade receivables B 5 EUERR 182,752 190,515
Less: loss allowance o B R ERE (12,646) (17,650)
Trade receivables — net BESRKER — F58 170,106 172,865
Bill receivables B EE 2,230 —
Trade and bill receivables BES5RKERREE 172,336 172,865
Prepayments and deposits T FIE kRS 27,094 25,741
199,430 198,606
Less: Non-current portion: W FERNERER S ¢
Prepayments for non-current assets IERBEE 2 FEN K (1,898) (3,599)
197,532 195,007
The carrying amounts of trade and bill receivables, BHORBERRER BANRERESNE
prepayments and deposits approximate their fair values. HENHEERERAEBE:
The Group grants to its customers credit terms generally SEETHEEEEHAR —RR3OKRE120RT
ranging from 30 to 120 days. The ageing of trade and bill Z-E9RUERREBZREKGFZERR)
receivables by invoice date is as follows: wm
2024 2023
—E-mE —ETZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
1 to 90 days 1290K 142,414 147,850
91 to 180 days 91E180K 23,942 19,799
181 to 365 days 181E365K 8,002 10,480
Over 365 days HBiB365K 10,624 12,386
184,982 190,515
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20

e I RR A

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and 20 BEZRBWERAREE BAARER
deposits (Continued) ®e(#E)
The Group’s trade and bill receivables were denominated KEEZESRBERRZBATIEESIE :
in the following currencies:
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
HK$ T 15,094 20,239
uss$ EIT 108,824 95,988
RMB AR 32,211 30,567
SGD s T 8,980 22,350
RM BREETT 8,015 10,381
Others i) 11,858 10,990
184,982 190,515
Movements in the loss allowance of trade receivables are EoRBERSERE2ZHNOT -
as follows:
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE R FAET
As beginning of the year F 9] 17,650 15,244
(Decrease)/increase in loss allowance of B REWEREERE
trade receivables CRA) /& (4,288) 2,878
Translation adjustment E X AR (716) (472)
As end of the year FR 12,646 17,650

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. The
detailed impairment approach is summarised in Note
3.1(b).

7

N\
NN

FEBEREEYHRELESR @S
EOBEEZRWEFRGUKAERER
BHEzAAUMEEACEER REA R
ZEBE WERME LA -
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20

Trade and bill receivables, prepayments and

deposits (Continued)
The other classes within trade receivables, prepayments

and deposits do not contain loss allowance.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the fair value of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral

as security.

Accounting Policy

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary
course of business. They are generally due for settlement

within 1 year and therefore are all classified as current.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost

using the effective interest rate.

Impairment
The Group applies the simplified approach permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be

recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

,;
g
;

e I RR AR

20

EZRUERRRERE BAAHRER
7< (&)

RESRERER  BARERZRS T 0O
BT TR HRRE -

STALABERERERNERSEERR
BEREQABE - AEBELRFHE AN

BREE

BORKERERAEEBBRETAERM
SMREREMERESP ZHKIE - B HER
RN —FREN - Bt2E0BAMNE -

BZRBIEREMIZEGEREER  BF
ETEREEAREMNSY  RERAAEER A
SEBEEIBRUERNBENRBKBAHR
ERE - FHIWERNERN R EREHKA
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21 Bank balances and cash 21 BOTEERES
2024 2023
—E-MFE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeEE 217,432 243,019
Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months BERBRFE@BB=1EA
from date of deposits FEZ RITER 202 8,764
Total bank balance and cash BITFER LB B 217,634 251,783
Maximum exposure to credit risk EeREERAR 217,202 251,435
As at 31st March, 2024, the effective interest rate on cash RZTEZWUF=ZA=+—H8 ROTFXKEH
at bank and bank deposits with maturity over 3 months FRARFERB=ZEANBIRITERZ
from date of deposits was 3.23% (2023: 1.25%). BRARAEFL323% (T =4 :1.25%) °
Bank balances and cash were denominated in the HITHEFRBES NDEATEEE -
following currencies:
2024 2023
ZE-MF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAET
HK$ BT 49,224 77,448
RMB AR 43,869 59,337
us$ Eiv 51,903 39,663
Euro BT 48,848 57,353
SGD g T 16,423 11,254
Others Efth 7,367 6,728
217,634 251,783




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21

Bank balances and cash (Continued)

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents denominated in
RMB of approximately HK$41,836,000 (2023:
HK$57,098,000) are deposited with banks in the
Mainland China. The conversion of these RMB
denominated balances into foreign currencies and the
remittance of funds out of the Mainland China is subject
to the foreign exchange control rules and regulations
promulgated by the Government of The People’s Republic
of China.

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the

purposes of the statement of cash flows:

Cash at bank and in hand

Accounting Policy
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and
cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at

call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments

with original maturities of three months or less.

A M BRRME

21

RITRFERE

RITEFREE ()
AEBUARBIEZRERESEED
41,836,0007% 70 (ZF = =4F : 57,098,000/ 7T.)
B RR R 2 RAT o AR B2 &
MERNERER P EAZREARKNE
PR A 4 2 SMEE B A R DI E -

RenEXRTHNRERALFEERETI

2024 2023
—E-_ME —ET-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
217,432 243,019

B BE

REaReRBERT REeLAFTEER
FHEAES ROTBAFAERIPAL=E
AIATHERASRDRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22

e M BRRME

Borrowings 22 BE
2024 2023
—E-_mE —TZ=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Long-term bank loans EHHRITER 51,173 84,130
Short-term bank loans HERITER 10,786 —
Total borrowings, secured, due on demand BEM BERFESREES—
or within one year FUARNZNHz @& BE 61,959 84,130
At 31st March, 2024, the Group’s borrowings were RZZE-_MWMF=—A=+—H XTxEEZHE
repayable as follows: ZEFREMT
2024 2023
—E-NF —E-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAET
Within 1 year —F R 53,689 38,297
Between 1 and 2 years —E-FNR 5,458 38,250
Between 2 and 5 years N N 2,812 7,583
61,959 84,130

The above amounts due are based on the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements and

ignore the effect of any repayment on demand clause.
As at 31st March, 2024 and 2023, the Group has
complied with its financial covenants of its borrowing

facilities.

Total borrowings include secured liabilities. Details of the

banking facilities of the Group and pledge of assets are
disclosed in Note 30.

EPFREZHHBEEREERBER AL
EZERRAH kI ERER 2 REEGK

=, 5
R E -

RZE-_NEER-_ZTE-_=ZF=ZA=+—HXK
EEEHAEEREENMBROEX -

MERERECERAE ARENRTE
EHEFERCEMEENMN 30 5 -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22

Borrowings (Continued)
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate
changes and the contractual repricing dates at the end of

the year are as follows:

Within 6 months

Between 7 months to 1 year

NEA A

BB —F

Over 1 year

The carrying amounts of bank borrowings were

denominated in the following currencies:

HK$

RMB AR

The effective interest rates (per annum) at the end of

reporting period were as follows:

RHRTERN
BHRITERN

Long-term bank loans

Short-term bank loans

A M BRRME

tEAZE—FR

22 R@E (#|)
AEBECRHERFRETRENREN RS
BNANEFFMEBHENAT

2024 2023

—E-MmF —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FHIT

30,679 49,383

31,280 —

— 34,747

61,959 84,130

BITRMEZRABEN RN TEEYE:

2024 2023

—E-mE —ET-=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHT FAIT

30,679 49,383

31,280 34,747

61,959 84,130
RBELRBZERFERERMOT -
2024 2023

—E-NE —E-_=F

HK$ RMB HK$ RMB

BT AR BT AR

6.68% 4.65% 5.83% 4.75%
— 3.30% — —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22

Borrowings (Continued)

Accounting Policy

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective

interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facilities will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facilities will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the

facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least twelve months after the end of

the reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
charged to the consolidated income statement in the

period in which they are incurred.

7

N\
NN

e I RR A

22

mE (&)

BREE

BMERTBMEE ZRGRAEKNTIRAS
BEMRR  HRRBHKATINR  PTEHRIE (30
BRZZRA)BELEER ZERNEZENEER
HEERERMNEERGA N BERER -

AN
L

RUBERBEER AN E B MDA HE
EReRAETNERI ZERAUREAKRE
EEERDA/L -MREEFBREATLOR 2
MEEKERETERER MZBEAERA
BERCERRDESRBENEBNR LRE
EEEREINE- ¥l

=
=

BRIEAEEEEERTHEEKEERHIE
REREERAREL T @A TABE
EWROBARDELE-

EERBEBRNBE ERYLEAEREE R
BEVEAKLBEEETAEZEEHLEEMER
HEN—REFEBREIA  IMAZEE
ENRARN BEEEEABLELBZHRERE
Rgrl-MBEAEGEFRKAIREEEL
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23 Trade, bill and other payables and accruals 23 BEZRENERN EBREMENSK
UREStRE

2024 2023

—E-DME —E-=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT TET

Trade payables g 5 RN ERR 90,132 93,712

Bill payables JERT R E 292 —

Trade and bill payables BEHRNERRER 90,424 93,712

Accrued salaries and allowance TEIR T & KR BL 14,023 13,196

Accrued social securities charges BRESRRER 30,195 35,061

Accrued staff welfare EIRETEA 2,562 2,769

Others Efth 25,454 34,828

Other payables and accruals HihENHRRETEE 72,234 85,854

162,658 179,566

The ageing analysis of trade and bill payables by invoice BHORNERREERR(ERERA) ST A
date is as follows: T

2024 2023

—E-MmEF —TZ=F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FET

1 to 90 days 1£290K 85,899 89,101

91 to 180 days 91£E180K 3,271 1,508

181 to 365 days 181E365K 131 434

Over 365 days B iE365K 1,123 2,669

90,424 93,712
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23

Trade, bill and other payables and accruals
(Continued)

The Group’s trade, bill and other payables and accruals

were denominated in the following currencies:

HK$ BT

RMB AR
uss$ ET

RM BRAEDRT
Others Efth

Accounting Policy

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course
of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

e M BRRME

23

EZEMENR EBEREMEMK
AR BT & & ()
REEZE P ER R RN
DA T £ DA T 510 5 9 51U (8

2024 2023
—E-mF —TZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
16,262 16,612
132,562 139,549
1,078 920
11,117 16,911
1,639 5,574
162,658 179,566

BRIBE

BORNEREEA B EEBERNHMER
BERENRAEZTRBTKNNEE - W
BHRNERBABE - FRAAXIN(EE
EMEXEBEEL2BHA)  MOERR
BE-BR EFERBHEETINR-

BHERNERNERAEEER
BATBA R RB ARG -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24

Deferred income tax 24
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax

liabilities is as follows:

Deferred tax assets BIEFTISMEE
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFTERAE
Deferred tax assets, net BEFMGEHREE —

The net movements in the deferred tax account are as

A M BRRME

EEFRESB
BREFRESHEERELEMBHEBEN S TN
T

2024 2023
—E-_MmEF —EZ=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FATT

10,524 11,906

(6,601) (5,393)

FE 3,923 6,513

BREABHRFEIEHFBOT

follows:
2024 2023
—E-mEF —ZE-=

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FET
At beginning of the year F ) 6,513 10,279

Charged to the consolidated income AR E W e R (B EE11)
statement (Note 11) (2,466) (3,516)
Translation adjustments E S A (124) (250)
At end of the year FR 3,923 6,513
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24

Deferred income tax (Continued)

The movements

without taking

in deferred tax assets

and

into consideration the offsetting of

liabilities

e I RR A

24 EEFTEH (F)

balances within the same tax jurisdiction are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:

At beginning of the year
Credited/(charged) to the
consolidated income statement

Translation adjustments

At end of the year

Deferred tax liabilities:

At beginning of the year
Charged/(credited) to the
consolidated income statement

Translation adjustments

At end of the year

N\
NN

F4

REREFIERS
STAS (k)

EXAE

FR

F4

RERE FIERS
me /(5 A)

ERAE

FAR

7

BEMEHAERBEZEZH (X RFENR
—EBERz EREE) T

REFSMEE

Provisions Tax losses Total

B HEER wE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZEBEINF —T=F ZBINF —T_=F ZBZ@F _T=F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FERT FHET FET FHET
11,907 11,171 414 543 12,321 11,714
(1,585) 984 301 (129) (1,284) 855
(106) (248) (6) — (112) (248)
10,216 11,907 709 414 10,925 12,321

RESHEE:
Accelerated taxation

Withholding Tax depreciation Total

ERB IEBETE wE
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
ZBCMF T o=F ZBNF —T-o=F ZBZ@F —_T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET FERT FHET FET FHET
5,253 738 555 697 5,808 1,435
1,190 4,513 8) (142) 1,182 4,371
12 2 — — 12 2
6,455 5,253 547 555 7,002 5,808
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24

Deferred income tax (Continued)
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss to
the extent that the reduction of the related tax benefit

through future taxable profits is payable.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$28,631,000 (2023: HK$41,662,000) in
respect of tax losses and deductible temporary differences
as it is not probable that the deferred tax assets can be
utilised. Out of the total, approximately HK$21,755,000
(2023: HK$29,750,000) in respect of tax losses that can
be carried forward indefinitely to set off against future
taxable income and the remaining tax losses of
approximately HK$7,624,000 (2023: HK$13,868,000) will
expire in 2024 to 2028 (2023: 2023 to 2027). The
estimated tax losses are subject to approval by the

relevant tax authorities.

Pursuant to the Detailed Implementation Regulations for
implementation of the Corporate Income Tax Law issued
on 6th December, 2007, withholding income tax of 10%
shall be levied on the dividends remitted by the
companies established in the PRC to their foreign
investors starting from 1st January, 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. All dividends coming from the profits generated
by the PRC entities after Tst January, 2008 shall be

subject to this withholding income tax.

e I RR AR

24

T FR S B ()

EA AR A KRB E IR A WA
FE - S REIPHRBRARERELTR S
RAE-

RAELCHEHEETSRER A£EEIL K
BRARMEEBRATNALREEZERZNE
EFTE R E E 428,631,000 T (Z T - =4 :
41,662,000 JT) c B BB & - W% B B D
21,755,000 7T (=& = =4 : 29,750,000/ 7T)
AAERHAE UK ERRERBTRA - H
# T 75 85 18 497,624,00008 T (Z T = = 4 :
13,868,000 ) K ER T _NFE2-F
NFREB ZCEZ=F: 2T _=FE-F
TEF) BEABEEERARN AR ER
R F| A -

RE_ZZLFL_RARAEBNREAR
HAMBEERSHEBEGEN R 2T N
F-A—HARB MARTERINGEY
FHMREE D RS ABKI0%TERFTEHR -
an R B EE B SNR A T R0 BB M (R RR AT TS R
B —ERENERASHEESER-FA
RPBEKRINEESR-FETNF—A—H
BERIBHABOREAHZULTARMAEH -

/,
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 Deferred income tax (Continued)

Accounting Policy

(i)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, the deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if it arises from initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is not accounted
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the date of statement of financial
position and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised or the

deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on
taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, except for deferred
income tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary

difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries only to the extent that
it is probable the temporary difference will reverse
in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference

can be utilised.

7
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NN

e I RR A

24

I E A 1S % ()
B EE

(i)

B2 H

BB HRNBaELIREEMAGN
MEREEMEBELES VB RENK
HEZEZHELNETRHEZR 2 BEME -
A BREMEH KA B BN L
BB WRER BEERSHEER
BEXZ(TERECEGMH)PHEES
BEMYLIHER MEXZEIZES
FAAEERERNEE AR R
EASHREBEMBRAR BB R
R BEEEM  WHEEHEZELEMSH
BEBERIBECEMERAEEEREY
HEEB B R (FAD) MEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

24 Deferred income tax (Continued)

Accounting Policy (Continued)

(i)

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle

the balances on a net basis.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

25 Share capital

Authorised:

Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each

FREE.10B T2
Rl

A M BRRME

24 EEFTEH (F)
B BR ()

(i)

#
WEABEAEARTEMNEREHREE
HEEHEARYE BREMSHE
EREBEOYRA-VREERE EZ
FHEEEBENRNERBLTIRARRE
B ER  BIEEMSHREES
EEAEREE-

HEBAEETANTREN REER
FREERENAREREEREER
B AHAEREEEMEHRAEGRAMN

25 B=R
2024 2023
—E-mF —EZ=F
Number of Number of
shares shares
;&g - =] R g=!
000 HK$’000 ‘000 HK$’000
T FHET T FET
1,000,000 100,000 1,000,000 100,000
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25 Share capital (Continued) 25 B (&)
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: TER - 2ETREHE
Number of Share
shares capital
RGEE R
HK$'000
FHET
As at Tst April, 2022 RZTZZFWMA—H 518,635,288 51,864
Share repurchases & {5 % (12,000,000) (1,200)
As at 31st March, 2023 RZFZ=F=A=1t—H 506,635,288 50,664
Share repurchases & 1 B B (6,002,000) (601)
As at 31st March, 2024 R-F-_MFE=A=+—H 500,633,288 50,063
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company R-ZZB-_HWHF=A=+—-BIEFEARN AR
repurchased and cancelled all 6,002,000 shares of A LA 0% 8 B (50.19378 7T £0.20778 70 R B &2
HK$0.1 each in the capital of the Company at prices B8 [ J2 5% 85 4K & 7] R 2K # & #£6,002,0000%
ranging from HK$0.193 to HK$0.207 per share on the FREEC.TETZIRM °
Stock Exchange.
Accounting Policy 2 EE
Share are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly BAGHERERZ BEERRBRNETHRRE
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are i B T 1 K AR FE IR AR 2 P DI R RS AR (BR
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the Bitg) R D -

proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26

Employee share options

On 18th August, 2022, the Company adopted an
employee share option scheme (the “2022 Share Option
Scheme”) to replace the old share option scheme adopted
on 15th August 2012. Under the 2022 Share Option
Scheme, the Company may grant options to any full time
employee of the Company or of any subsidiary; any
executive director and non-executive director (excluding
Independent Non-Executive Directors) and any person
approved by the Board to subscribe for shares in the
Company, subject to a maximum of 30% of the nominal
value of the issued share capital of the Company from
time to time excluding for this purpose any shares issued
on the exercise of options. The exercise price will be
determined by the Company’s board of directors and
shall be the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Company’s shares on the date of grant of the options; or
(ii) an average closing price of the Company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the options. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligation to repurchase or settle the options

in cash.

No share option was granted during the years ended
31st March, 2024 and 2023. No share options were
outstanding as at 31st March, 2024 and 2023.

e I RR AR

26

EEBRE
RZZEZ=—FN\A+N B AARKMN—E
EREREHE (S —FEERESE]) I
BAR-ZZ——FNA+THARAKZEBR
HstE - BB T - —FBEREFIARRF
AAAARKETAMBERAGZ2HES
THATESRIERITESE (RBRIEBILIEH
TEF)RAMNESSHENAST BHER
BURBEBARGRG MABET2BRMNE R
ZAERNRBTEEEITRMG Z30% @ 8 F&
BRTEEREMBET RN -REEBALE
RAZEERET HFRABKRUTESSE
WRELBHARARG Z WM E: i)h
AFBRMHREEFH OB AALERA 2R
MEHRTE AEBMY BELATRETEMT
BIEURE I SERE -
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27 Reserves

As at 31st March, 2022 and
Tst April, 2022

Comprehensive income/(loss)

Profit/(loss) for the year

Other comprehensive loss

Decrease in fair value of financial
assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year

Transactions with the owners in
their capacity as owners

Transfer to statutory reserve

Dividends paid

Share repurchases

Contributions from non-controlling

interests

As at 31st March, 2023

W-B--%4=R
=+-BR
“Z--EMA-A

2ENE/ (B8
REEH/ (BR)
At2EEE
BOABEARR
EERENEE
BEZAREERS
EAZR

rERANE/ (BB
E3:]

BEBRRAAL
BEARS

BREETRA

ERRE

BiEm

FERERNERRA

R-Z2-=f£=§
=t-8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRRME

27 %

Financial assets
at fair value
through other

comprehensive

income Non-
Share Capital  Statutory revaluation Translation  Retained controlling
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
BOAEE
AR
2ENED
ERAEY FER
RihaE AXEE ATRE BfEEE ENRE REEA Nt 553 BE
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
TAL  TRT  TER TEL TRz  TET  TEL  TER  TER
126,344 1,792 18,933 699 69,169 401,844 618,781 — 0618781
— — — - - 6,478 6,478 (1,198) 5280
- - - (256) - - (256) - (256)
— — — —  (25278) —  (25278) —  (25278)
— — - (256)  (25,278) 6,478 (19,056) (1,198)  (20,254)
— — 3,668 - — (3,668) - - -
- - - - - (5,096) (5,096) — (5,09)
- - - - — (1,919) (1,919) - (1,919)
— — — — — — — 1,960 1,960
— — 3,668 (256)  (25,278) (4,205)  (26,071) 762 (25,309)
126,344 1792 22,601 43 43891 397,639 592,710 760 593,472




27 Reserves (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A M BRRME

27 f#fE (&)

Financial assets

the Company’s subsidiaries established and operated in the PRC, the
subsidiaries are required to make appropriation from profit after tax
(after offsetting prior years’ losses) to statutory reserve. The PRC
entities are required to transfer at least 10% of its net profit as
determined under the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to their
statutory reserve. The appropriations to the statutory reserve are
required until the balance reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’ registered
capital. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior year
losses or be utilised for issuance of bonus shares. The Company’s
PRC subsidiaries are restricted in their ability to transfer a portion of

their reserve either in the form of dividends, loans or advances.

at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income Non-
Share  Capital  Statutory revaluation Translation ~ Retained controlling
premium  reserve  reserve reserve  reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests Total
BRAREE
AR
2EUNEN
SREEL FER
RHEE EARE LERE EfRRE EARE REEN P i ag
HK§000  HKS'000 HKS'000  HK$000  HKS'000 HK$000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TEn  TERT TExn TEn TR TEx TEx  TER  TER
As at 31st March, 2023 and WZZ-=%4=R
Tst April, 2023 =t-BR
ZEZ=%¥NmA-A 126,344 1,792 22,601 443 43,891 397,639 592,710 762 593,472
Comprehensive income/(loss) 2ENE/ (BB)
Profit/(loss) for the year REEH/ (B8) - - - — — 174 17422 @300 16,992
Other comprehensive loss Hit2EER
Decrease in fair value of financial 271 EE AL
assets at fair value through FENENERAE
other comprehensive income ZRABERD - - - (89) - - (89) - (89)
Currency translation differences EAEZR - - - — (29712 — (29712 — (29712
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ &F2EWE / (§1#8)
for the year FE - - - ) Q9712 1742 (12379) @30 (12,809)
Transactions with the ownersin ~ BERAEEEAZ
their capacity as owners BEARS
Transfer to statutory reserve BREEERERE — — 2,926 — — (2,926) — — —
Dividends paid BRERE - - - - - (5,006) (5,006) - (5,006)
Share repurchases R EE - — - — — (635) (635) — (635)
- - 2,926 89) (29,712 8,855 (18,020) 430) (18,450
As at 31st March, 2024 WZZ-ME=A
=+-7 12638 1792 25527 354 14179 406494 574,690 3/ 575,02
Note:  As stipulated by the relevant PRC laws and regulations applicable to MiEE: REHERADARRERLREEHONERREHR

BUEBIROERMRE - MAKBARBARBERHN (B
EHEUMFENBER DREEXERE - LEHEL
EFRTENSEARAAREAREREE L FNBEZ
1W0%ELEFBE BENDREEZERFREENEAF
B 5 M & AR #950% © 1L % OK TE B 48 AT LA 9K 85 DA B 4
EBBLA R ETAR - AR R R B KL E
RAABE - EERERT D IKEDHEEDZRE)
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28 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 28 HMEBRESHREXRKE

flows

(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash @) KBERaMEEEERELSR S Z2YE:

generated from operations:

Profit before income tax B B¢ A g A
Adjustments for: IR

— Interest income — FEHA

— Interest expense — MEXH

— Depreciation of property, plant and — ¥ % BE REE2ITE
equipment (Note 14) (B 5E14)

— Depreciation of investment properties — &Y 2 &
(Note 15) (Ff=E15)

— Depreciation of right-of-use assets — EREEEZIE
(Note 16) (P E16)

— (Gains)/losses on disposals of — LEYE BELEEXEZ
property, plant and equipment (W) /B
(Notes 6 and 28(b)) (P 7E6R28(b))

— (Reversal of)/provision for impairment — % gb& E 5B & B
losses on financial assets (BfsmE) B #E

— (Reversal of)/provision for inventories — [RE7F & FE
obsolescence (Note 7) (BEmE) BE

(B 5E7)

— Net fair value gains on financial — RARBEFABERD
assets at fair value through profit CRMEEZLAAEE
or loss (Notes 6 and 18(b)) W %5

(B FE6 K 18(b) )
— Gains on early termination of lease  — IRFRIEFE 2 W
— Equity settled share-based payments — — AR5 /3 Z 58 1) 2 15

Changes in working capital (excluding &E&ESEH(TEEERL

effects of translation adjustments) HENTE)

— Inventories — FE

— Trade and bill receivables — BHRWERRRR
— Prepayments and deposits — BfRERERS

— Trade and bill payables — BHSRNEREER
— Other payables and accruals — EmENRRETEE

Cash generated from operations REXBEEZRS

7

N\
NN

2024 2023
—E-E T =4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
25,071 9,623
(3,196) (1,278)
4,434 5,673
37,230 38,880
597 597
4,694 6,292
(1,914) 357
(4,288) 2,878
(7,627) 2,479
(109) (169)
(7) —
— 1,960
54,885 67,292
11,265 19,169
(125) (5,626)
(5,947) 5,138
17) (255)
(13,290) 4,552
46,771 90,270
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28 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 28 HMEBRESHREXRKETE)
flows (Continued)

(b) In the statement of cash flows, proceeds from b)) RELREXRAN LEYWE BELRK
disposal of property, plant and equipment B2 PSR A BIE
comprise:
2024 2023
—E-MF —TE-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHER FET
Net book value R FE 550 2,267
Gains/(Losses) on disposals of property, HEWE - BEMEEZZ
plant and equipment (Note 6) Wz (E518) (K sFe6) 1,914 (357)

Proceeds from disposals of property, LEWE BEREHEZ

plant and equipment Frig A 2,464 1,910
(c) Non-cash transactions () kBEXZ
Non-cash investing activities disclosed in other REMHERENFERSRETIRA
notes are the acquisition of right-of-use assets (Note EFRAEEE(MzTe6) -

16).
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28 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 28 HMEBRESHREXRKETE)
flows (Continued)

(d) Net cash reconciliation d) FERLYEER
This section sets out an analysis of net cash and REHIFRED T REARFEENF
the movements in net cash for each of the years Re@H o
presented.
2024 2023
—E-_MmEF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTERT FET
Net cash FRE
Cash and cash equivalents RekBeFE 217,432 243,019
Borrowings A& (61,959) (84,130)
Bill payable ANEE (292) —
Lease liabilities ME&HE (6,505) (8,985)
148,676 149,904
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReHE 217,432 243,019
Gross debt — variable interest rates WIET — ZEF R (61,959) (84,130)
Bill payable NES (292) —
Lease liabilities HEAE (6,505) (8,985)

Net cash FHRE 148,676 149,904
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28 Notes to the consolidated statement of cash 28 HMEBRESHREXRKETE)
flows (Continued)
(d) Net cash reconciliation (Continued) d) FBEESYHKRGE)

Other Liabilities from

assets financing activities
HiEE MERHELZAER

Borrowings Bill Lease
Cash and loans payable liabilities Total
BE M

RBE EX BARE HE&E e

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
THET THT THET THT THET

Net cash as at RZZTZ=FMA

1st April, 2022 —RZERS 285,422 (141,357) (802) (6,031) 137,232
Acquisition — Lease Weg — HE — — — (8,808) (8,808)
Termination — Lease S — — — 329 329
Cash flows RenE (37,901) 52,753 802 5,847 21,501
Foreign exchange B 3 o &

adjustments (4,502) 4,474 — (38) (66)
Interest — Lease ME —MHE — — — (284) (284)
Net cash as at RZEZ=F=A

31st March, 2023 =+—HBZF®HE+ 243,019 (84,130) — (8,985) 149,904
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28

29

Notes to the consolidated statement of cash

flows (Continued)

(d) Net cash reconciliation (Continued)

Net cash as at
1st April, 2023
Acquisition — Lease
Termination — Lease
Cash flows
Foreign exchange
adjustments

Interest — Lease

Net cash as at
31st March, 2024

Commitment

Capital commitments

R-ZZE-_=FNA
—RAZERE
g — ME
®ir — 8
HemnE

[E 538 &

ME —HE

RZZTEZWFE=H
=t+—HBZFH&

Capital expenditure of the Group at the end of reporting

period contracted but not yet incurred is as follows:

Authorised and contracted for:
Machinery

Motor vehicles

Others

BEHEREZTER :

Hes
E
HAit

28 HEREREBRME ()
d) FREHKGE)
Other Liabilities from
assets financing activities
HthEE MEFBHELEZEE
Borrowings Bill Lease
Cash and loans payable liabilities Total
BMER
BE EXR ENREE HEAE B
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR FERT TR FERT TR
243,019 (84,130) — (8,985) 149,904
— — — (1,702) (1,702)
— — —_ 22 22
(21,213) 20,231 (292) 4,215 2,941
(4,374) 1,940 — 214 (2,220)
— — — (269) (269)
217,432 (61,959) (292) (6,505) 148,676
29 A
BEAREE
FEBERBESERAETHENRIAZE
ENGES U
2024 2023
ek g S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHERx TR
766 7,651
— 337
674 13
1,440 8,001
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30

Banking facilities and pledge of assets

As at 31st March, 2024, the Group had aggregate banking
facilities of approximately HK$257,213,000 (2023:
HK$224,468,000) for overdrafts, loans, trade financing
and bank guarantees. Unused facilities as at the same
date amounted to approximately HK$121,797,000 (2023:
HK$140,337,000). These facilities were secured by:

(i) mortgages over the Group’s buildings with net
book value of approximately HK$1,099,000 (2023:
HK$1,175,000) (Note 14(c));

(i) mortgages over the Group’s investment properties
with net book value of approximately
HK$2,040,000 (2023: HK$2,116,000) (Note 15);

(iii)  mortgages over the Group’s leasehold land with a
net book value of approximately HK$1,248,000
(2023: HK$1,309,000) (Note 16(iii));

(iv)  guarantees provided by the Company and certain

of its subsidiaries; and

(v) charges over the Group’s FVPL with fair value of
approximately HK$3,964,000 (2023: HK$3,916,000)
(Note 18(b)).

A M BRRME

30

ROTFEEREERR
R-ZZE-NF=ZA=1+—H KAEBEEREH
2EX BER BHBRERRITERFRITE

B & % #9257,213,0008 T(= T = = F:
224,468,000/ 7C) c REIB MW ARKB A 2 R1T1E
B ¥ #121,797,0008 (= T = =

140,337,000/ 7T) W ERITEEE 2 BN
T

(i) A& EIR@FELD,099,0008 T (=
— =4 :1,175,000% 7t) 2 B F 1218 (M
E14(c))

(i) 7% 9 B B % f 492,040,00078 T (= F
=% :2,116,0008 7T) 2 AW ¥ %
B (BIFE15)

(i) AN £ B Bk E0F E 491,248,00008 T (=&
— =4 :1,309,0008 ) 2 F & + %
8 (Mt 5 16(i00) ) ;

el

LEETHEBERBMEBMHZE

NG

Z
&

x

(v) I AR EE 43,964,000 T (= =
Z = 13,916,000 ) Z AEE IR A
AEBEEFABEZ 2@ E EWF
18(b)) °
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31

ma

Bt % R MY AL

Related party transactions 31 BEALZXRS
As at 31st March, 2024, Mr. Lam Kwong Yu beneficially RZE-_WNF=ZA=+—H M wmixE#H
owned approximately 40.54% (2023: 40.06%) of the B AR R AIH40.54% (ZF = =4 : 40.06% ) #J
Company’s ordinary shares. Ms. Yeung Chui beneficially TmRRGD - BRLTFEERRAL6.17%
owned approximately 16.17% (2023: 15.97%) of the (ZZEZ=ZF:15.97% ) EBBRKR M - Mk
Company’s ordinary shares. Both Mr. Lam and Ms. Yeung ERBRETZAARKRRAES -
are directors of the Company.
(@) In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the @Q KBEEAGAMBEHREEM ‘E? ZE N
consolidated financial statements, the following I REEEANTETZIRS
transaction was carried out with related parties:
2024 2023
—E-MOF —T-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Transactions related to lease with: EHEENRS
— Ms. Yeung Chui (Note 1) — HER ()
e Payment of lease liabilities c HEBEMK 72 77
* Interest element of lease liabilities s HEBEMNE 5 4
— Mr. Lam Kwong Yu (Note 2) — MRS A& (M EE2)
e Rental income o HBWA 88 312
Notes: M 5E
1. The Group entered into an operating lease agreement with 1. AEBMABGRZ T ELERERH Lt
Ms. Yeung Chui. The transaction was carried out in the THHB-—MEBER  REANEEER S
usual course of business, and in accordance with the terms ATEFTARZIGTESTT - REF B BER
of the contract entered into by the Group and the related HEAFI6H — HE KEHEERE i
party. Under HKFRS 16 — Lease, the operating lease has AREERMEENEEEE BEZ-2 -0
been recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding FZAZT-RLFEHBRZINRER
lease liability. Cash outflow to Ms. Yeung Chui during the HAEEHERERFEXE -
year ended 31st March, 2024 represented the repayment of
lease liabilities and interest expenses.
2. The Group entered into an operating lease agreement with 2. AEBMEAMEMEETELEHE R EZ

Mr. Lam Kwong Yu. The transaction was in accordance
with the terms of the contract entered into by the Group
and the related party. Cash inflow from Mr. Lam Kwong Yu
during the year ended 31st March, 2024 represented the
lease rental income. The operating lease agreement was
terminated on 11th July, 2023.

x%?‘iKE@ﬁEﬁﬁ)\iu laR %S
T HEZF-MNF=A=1— Eliif‘ﬁa

Wﬁitﬁﬂﬁimfﬁﬁiﬁ?\%ﬁ‘éﬁﬁl&fw B4
KREHERACR T _=FELtA+—BK
1F e
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31 Related party transactions (Continued) 31

(b) Key management compensation

Basic salaries, allowances and others
Discretionary bonus
Pension costs — defined contribution

plans

32 Financial instruments by category

Financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost:

Trade and bill receivables
(Note 20)

Deposits

Bank deposits with maturity over 3 months
from date of deposits (Note 21)

Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21)

Financial assets at fair value:

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (Note 18)

Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income (Note 18)

e I RR AR

BEALTZXRES (E)
by FTEEBAEMHMESEFN
2024 2023
—EC_E —E =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FAIT
EAF  FZREM 11,385 10,932
B HREZIELL 862 807
RIRERA — R e G E
212 206
12,459 11,945
32 EWMIERERESD
2024 2023
—E_NE —E =4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FATT
SRMEE
LA SR AT BR B & R A E
EoRKERRER
(Fff 5£20) 172,336 172,865
b acia 9,316 8,256
HERERAEBB=MEA
B E 2 R1TF AR (B 5E21) 202 8,764
RBekB2EE(HE21) 217,432 243,019
399,286 432,904
EARBEINENSREE
BERAABEGABENSRE
&= (MT5E18) 12,186 12,077
BRAREES AREMEE
e & E (FisE18) 1,090 1,179
13,276 13,256
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32 Financial instruments by category (Continued) 32 £®@ T ERER &5 (&)

2024 2023
—E-MFE —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FAET
Financial liabilities 2REE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: AR AT R e B AaE
Trade and bill payables BEHRNERRER
(Note 23) (Pt 5£23) 90,424 93,712
Other payables and accruals Hi et R R E B E 22,984 30,705
Borrowings (Note 22) B & (M 7E22) 61,959 84,130
Lease liabilities (Note 16) HEs & E6) 6,505 8,985

181,872 217,532
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Statement of financial position and movement 33

of reserve of the Company

(@)

ARARZHBRARKREERD

Statement of financial position of the (@ AXABZHBMRRER
Company
2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in and amounts due RTB AR ZRE R EIK
from subsidiaries KIA 198,506 203,515
Current assets REEE
Prepayments and deposits AR I RES 907 907
Cash and cash equivalents RekBHeFE 1,082 2,181
1,989 3,088
Total assets EERH 200,495 206,603
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to the owners of AT EE AELER
the Company
Share capital B& 7 50,063 50,664
Reserves (Note 33(b)) (M 7E33()) 143,704 149,394
Total equity ERAHE 193,767 200,058
LIABILITIES =N
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accruals HpENRALETEE 2,365 2,164
Amounts due to subsidiaries B R RRIE 4,363 4,381
Total liabilities EE8HE 6,728 6,545
Total equity and liabilities BEREEARE 200,495 206,603
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33 Statement of financial position and movement

of reserve of the Company (Continued)

(b)

Movement of reserve of the Company
The changes in the reserves of the Company during
the years ended 31st March, 2024 and 2023 are as

follows:

As at 1st April, 2022

Loss for the year
Share repurchases
Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2023

As at 1st April, 2023
Loss for the year
Share repurchases

Dividends paid

As at 31st March, 2024

prA ==t
mA—A
KEEIE
% 17 B Bl
AR E

B B8 1)
ERTAE

RZZT W

e I RR A

33 AAFZHMBRRARRFEREEE (F)

by FARZREEEEH

ARAIRZF_OFER_FZ=F=H

=t—RZREBEHOT

Share Capital Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
BRpEE BEXRRFRE KREEFAN B
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TR THET TET TR
126,344 520 29,618 156,482
— — (73) (73)
— — (1,919) (1,919)
— — (5,096) (5,096)
126,344 520 22,530 149,394
126,344 520 22,530 149,394
— — (49) (49)
— — (635) (635)
— — (5,006) (5,006)
126,344 520 16,840 143,704
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34

SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of other potentially material
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented,

unless otherwise stated.

34.1 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power to direct
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated

from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations by the Group
(see Note 34.2).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity
of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated income statement, consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated

statement of financial position respectively.

i

e I RR AR

34

HttBEERSHREMRE

PHERHEERESGEAVBRRERKMAD
HiBEERNGTHERE RS BHERAN
HERRECRENZABEFREERER -

341 B AT
MEBAR AREEIESIZMEERE(E
RHEEZTR) BEASEE2EETEYE
W EeRmAERRKRSZAEFUR
EBETREEBNEI B ITEZS
B Rb - BNERSIEHE -MBAREE
HESBREAEE ARE AR M B
NETEE IR IEZ AR E EERA AR ©

REBRBUBEIAEBAHAKR
MfE34.2) ©

EEAAZEHRS  HEHRKERY
BT AL REREENT AL
BREZXDREENBEBBEEN
E-MERE WEARZBHBES
& 5 B LA TR R 5K 5 IR D 2 @ 3 UK
Ha—H

oIS 2N S A O M35 o SRR IR MBS
BATER BARAKER BAMW
BEBHEREAFHRREFHRIIF -
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34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

34.2 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to
account for all business combinations, regardless of
whether equity instruments or other assets are
acquired. The consideration transferred for the

acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

o fair values of the assets transferred,

o liabilities incurred to the former owners of

the acquired business,

J equity interests issued by the Group,

o fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement,

and

o fair value of any pre-existing equity interest

in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured

initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in
the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquired entity’s

net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

7

e I RR A

3 HMBEEXRSTREEE (H)

342 £¥K 66
HKBWBEAMEXEREHMHAR M1
wWEEABRATARKEMEESTWERR
B-WEHBARMEZEREHRANTS
TE4A K

. EREENIAEE

. PR TS AT E A APTE AW
aE-

. REBRBTORANES

. KAREBLHFELENEIMEER
BEMAREE &K

)

. TR B & R BRI BE A B A &
EfE -

SNV

=

EEBAHBREDAKBOABINEE
NEMARENEBERIAEBE BER
ZPIOMER ARKBERRERAE
BEENTTE-

AEERERNKRBEEREAABER
FEBRERER KRB ERT B EEF
BENZLPIEESRRAN KB EELR
B (A FE PR R 2 -

WHREMRRARARELR| R -
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34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

34.2 Business combinations (Continued)
The excess of the

° consideration transferred,

. amount of any non-controlling interest in the

acquired entity, and

o acquisition-date fair value of any previous

equity interest in the acquired entity.

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable
assets of the business acquired, the difference is
recognised directly in the consolidated income
statement as a bargain purchase. Contingent
consideration is classified either as equity or a
financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value
with changes in fair value recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date.
Any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in the consolidated

income statement.

,;
g
;

e I RR AR

3 HMBEEXRSTREEE (H)

34.2 ¥ &6t (E)

IATIEA BB

. PR (&

. W TR EMEEARER S
B R

BX

. ERERT Y E Z 2 IR AN
KU R Bz DA (EME -

B HANEEFEZARNEBEZ
ZRARIMEEE - AR BIERA
WEEBZAH#BNEEFBEZAAE
B AZEZRSEERNGEANBERER
—HERBUBER -AAREBIER/E
DRERABR - NERERAGENEE
HERWAREBEENTE 2AABEE
PREAFIBRER

WEFEHOBBET WETBER
WS A 2 AR REERD
WHERAMZARBEENE LS
M BEL 2 RANBIBRGRES FE
RWER -
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34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

34.3 Change in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A
change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the
controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve
within equity attributable to owners of the

Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity
account for an investment because of a loss of
control, joint control or significant influence, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes
the initial carrying amount for the purposes of
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as
an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
the consolidated income statement or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs.

e I RR A

3 HMBEEXRSTREEE (H)

343 FrEkEZEE

REBEF TSGR LT IEEH
MESZXFIEAELAEEEREETAN
R -FBHEESEESEHIEH HEEIE
THIMEERABE MOAE  URB
BERWEB R EBEEZ - JERHIME
BEARSERATMNENSIERREZ
MR EREZERARARES ARG ERS
FHRBILEERNER-

il phy 70 7S R B Ok 25 o o R - k(R 4% I
FERTENERIBHEAARLRE
@mEEARKE  BEARNZERNE
MREEESREANBEENE
MEMEZHNERPER - HERA
RINVEBERA RERANEREE
MRBERAMS  Z2RAEBERTIER
M B = Uk Ah - SR AT H At 2 T S R
HZEERAENETHN BB AEE
CEHEREAHEEXAEBENTAA
R EMEBRELMARLMEE KRS
ERANSBRCERB B BREERM
B A TEMDBEEHFRATBE
PR E S AR
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34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

34.4

34.5

Separate financial statements

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment. Cost also includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on

the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividends
from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in
the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount
in the consolidated financial statements of the

investee’s net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief
operating decision-maker, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of
the operating segments, has been identified as the
Chairman/Chief Executive Officer who makes

strategic decisions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

34.6 Foreign currency translation

@)

b

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HKS,
which is the Company’s functional and the

Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at
year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are generally recognised in the

consolidated income statement.

All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the consolidated income
statement within “other income and gains —

net”.

Translation differences on non-monetary
financial assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial assets,
such as equities classified as financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive
income, are included in other comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

34.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the
group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated

into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement
of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the
date of that statement of financial

position;

(ii) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are
translated at the rate on the dates of

the transactions); and

(iii)  all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences
arising from the translation of any net
investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings and other financial instruments
designated as hedges of such investments,
are recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is sold or
any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated
exchange differences are reclassified to profit

or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sales.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

34.6 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising
on the acquisition of a foreign entity are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
entity and translated at the closing rate.
Currency translation differences arising are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial
disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that
is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest
in a foreign operation), or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation, all of the
currency translation differences accumulated
in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to consolidated income

statement.

In the case of a partial disposal that does
not result in the Group losing control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
the proportionate share of accumulated
currency translation differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in consolidated income

statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

34.7

34.8

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed
for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows
(“cash-generating units”). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at

each reporting date.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must
not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and
in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of

the Company or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

34.9 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result
of past events; it is probable that an outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation;
and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating

losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class
of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of

obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risk specific to the obligation. The increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is

recognised as interest expense.

34.10 Dividend distributions
Dividend distributions to the Company’s
shareholders are recognised as a liability in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements and the
Company’s financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the

Company’s shareholders.
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